Novel Sustainable In-Situ Geotextile Filtration Method for Eco-remediation of Eutrophic Lake

Waters

Antônio Cavalcante Pereira

A Thesis

in

the Department

of

Building, Civil and Environmental Engineering

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of Master of Applied Science (Civil Engineering)

at Concordia University

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

August 2021 ©Antônio Cavalcante Pereira

# **CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY**

# **School of Graduate Studies**

This is to certify that the thesis prepared

By: Antônio Cavalcante Pereira

Entitled: Novel Sustainable In-Situ Geotextile Filtration Method for Eco-remediation of Eutrophic Lake Waters

And submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

# Master of Applied Science (Civil Engineering)

Complies with the regulations of the University and meets the accepted standards with respect to originality and quality.

Signed by the final Examining Committee:

Chair

Dr. S. Samuel Li

Examiner

Dr. Chunjiang An

Supervisor

Dr. Catherine Mulligan

Approved by:

Dr. Mazdak Nik-Bakht, Graduate Program Director

September 2, 2021

Dr. Mourad Debbabi, Dean, Gina Cody School of Engineering and Computer Science

#### ABSTRACT

# Novel Sustainable In-Situ Geotextile Filtration Method for Eco-remediation of Eutrophic Lake Waters

#### Antônio Cavalcante Pereira

Climate change and human-made actions are synergically increasing eutrophication cases on inland waters. These augmentation circumstances are not only in places where contamination is higher (i.e., with increased nutrient input) but worldwide due to climate change disruptions. Those excessive nutrients scenarios are augmenting faster trophic status changes to inland waters. Diverse invasive, drastic, intricate, and expensive technologies are applied currently worldwide for eutrophic water remediation, adversely affecting the aquatic biota and reducing its water volume. In order to counterpart this issue, a novel approach method is under study and application, an effective, environmentally safe, and economic eco-remediation technique using a floating filtration system, a silt curtain, and geotextiles (woven and non-woven) as filter media. An in-situ water remediation methodology for the minimally invasive removal of suspended solids and particulate nutrients. A sustainable remediation method supporting the own waterbody's restoration and directly following three of the 17 Sustainable Developments Goals (SDGs), proposed by United Nations (UN) to be reached before 2030: SDG 6 clean water and sanitation, SDG 12 responsible consumption, and production, and SDG 14 life below water. This pilot in-situ experiment was deployed at Lake Caron, a shallow eutrophic lake located in the Sainte-Anne-des-Lacs municipality in Quebec from summer until mid-fall for two consecutive years (i.e., 2019 and 2020). Lake water quality monitoring were performed using the following parameters: particle size analysis (PSA), total suspended solids (TSS), total phosphorus (TP), total nitrogen (TN), nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>), chemical oxygen demand (COD), pH, dissolved oxygen (DO), temperature (Temp.), oxidation-reduction potential (ORP), conductivity, turbidity, total dissolved solids (TDS), chlorophyll a (Chl. a) and blue-green algae-phycocyanin (BGA-PC). Turbidity, total suspended solids (TSS), total phosphorus (TP), blue-green-algae-phycocyanin (BGA-PC), and chlorophyll-a statistically significant average removal efficiencies were 49%, 53%, 22%, 56%, and 57%, respectively in the first-year study and 17%, 36%, 18%, 34% and 32%, respectively in the second

year study. Those removal trends prevented primary productivity, in both years. This has demonstrated the hypothesis of sustainable lake water remediation by the method presented. A strong statistically positive correlation was also found, in the second year study, between TSS and turbidity, and with TSS and variables that could represent particles (i.e., total phosphorus, turbidity, chlorophyll-a) same behavior were found with turbidity. Additionally, to comply and strengthen sustainability principles within the project, waste management practices were investigated, based on potential reuse strategies (i.e., for used geotextiles and captured suspended solids) following circular economy principles. After proper washing, the geotextiles exhibited hydraulic proprieties close to a value of the unused ones (related to the flow rate and permittivity) characterizing its possible reuse. Also, liquid waste produced with the captured suspended solids may be classified for future reuse with the high phosphorus content where additional investigation is required. Using this surface water management technique in combination with the proper waste management route as presented, could present this remediation as a promising technique not only for shallow lakes but also for ponds, river sections, coastal regions, bays, and other water types, to ensure proper cleaner water for future generations.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I thank God. Representation of love, kindness and empathy which I bring with me. A force of the universe presents in my life not making up any specific religion.

My family, especially my mother, Noilma Cavalcante Pereira and my father, Antônio Carlos Pereira, for all their teachings, support, patience and perseverance, who, despite all the difficulties, have always supported me throughout my academic life. Also, who have always shown me that no matter where I come from, the world belongs to me. This thesis is for you. I also extend this thanks to my sister Ângela Carla Cavalcante Pereira and my brother Anderson Carlos Cavalcante Pereira as well as my niece Maria Vitória Cavalcante Queiroz.

Second of all, again, I would like to thank my boyfriend, Alisson Clebson Nogueira Siquera, for all his patience, affection, support, and care throughout my master's period, especially in times of COVID-19 pandemic. Which taught me that *Cara Feia para Mim é Proteção* (directly translated: ugly face for me is protection). For all the waiting thank you, you deserve the world too.

I would also like to deeply thank my supervisor, Professor, Ph.D. Catherine N. Mulligan, for all her ethics, attention, support, assistance, empathy, guidance, and feedback. For always offering me opportunities to become a great professional and, above all, treating me as a researcher. And extend these thanks for the committee members, responsible for evaluating this thesis.

My gratitude also goes to Dileep Palakkeel Veetil, who always helped me in the field research, sampling, analysis, suggestions and support during this project. I am very grateful to have the opportunity to work with him in this project. Thanks also to my supervisor's research group for all the feedback received. I would also like to directly thank Anderson Cristiano Nogueira Siqueira for all the graphic imagery support, as well as José Ricardo Revorêdo da Silva for all his help in the application of statistical tests and correlation in this research data.

In addition, I want to thank all the members of *Sainte-Anne-Des-Lacs* and especially Mr. Sandy Clidaras for his help providing electricity and collecting samples, which helped me while conducting my research. A special thanks to Mr. Sam Bhat from Titan Environmental Containment for providing advice and geotextiles for my research.

Finally, I am grateful to everyone who directly or indirectly contributed to the completion of this work.

[...] Ah! don't give me sympathetic intentions!
Don't asks me for definitions!
Don't tells me: "come this way"!
My life is a whirlwind that broke loose,
It's a wave that rose.
It's one more atom that ignited...
I don't know which way I'll go,
I don't know where I'm going to,
I know I'm not going that way!

Black Rhythm (José Régio, in 'Poemas de Deus e do Diabo') [...] Ah, que ninguém me dê piedosas intenções, Ninguém me peça definições! Ninguém me diga: "vem por aqui"! A minha vida é um vendaval que se soltou, É uma onda que se alevantou, É um átomo a mais que se animou... Não sei por onde vou, Não sei para onde vou Sei que não vou por aí!

Cântico Negro (José Régio, no 'Poemas de Deus e do Diabo')

#### **CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS**

**CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION** – Antonio Cavalcante Pereira: Conceptualization, Investigation, writing and original draft, Catherine Mulligan: Supervision, Reviewing and Editing.

**CHAPTER 2. COMPREHENSIVE LITERATURE REVIEW** – Antonio Cavalcante Pereira: Conceptualization, Investigation, Writing and original draft. Catherine Mulligan: Supervision, Reviewing and Editing.

**CHAPTER 3. FIRST ARTICLE** – Antonio Cavalcante Pereira: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Dileep Palakkeel Veetil: Methodology, Investigation, Catherine Mulligan: Supervision, Methodology, Writing - Reviewing and Editing, Funding acquisition, Sam Bhat: Provision, Methodology.

**CHAPTER 4. SECOND ARTICLE** – Antonio Cavalcante Pereira: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, and Writing – original draft, Dileep Palakkeel Veetil: Investigation, Catherine Mulligan: Supervision, Methodology, Writing - Reviewing and Editing, Funding acquisition, Sam Bhat: Provision.

**CHAPTER 5. THIRD ARTICLE** – Antonio Cavalcante Pereira: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Dileep Palakkeel Veetil: Investigation, Catherine Mulligan: Supervision, Writing - Reviewing and Editing, Funding acquisition, Sam Bhat: Provision.

**CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSIONS** – Antonio Cavalcante Pereira: Conceptualization, Investigation, writing and original draft. Catherine Mulligan: Supervision, Reviewing and Editing.

LIST OF FIGURES xiii
LIST OF TABLES xvi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS xvii
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION 1
CHAPTER 2. COMPREHENSIVE LITERATURE REVIEW 4
2.1 CLIMATE CHANGE AFFECTING WATER RESOURCES 4
2.1.1 Inland Water Resources
2.1.2 Lake Aging, Increased Nutrient Input and Eutrophication6
2.1.3 Trophic Classification and Trophic Levels Changes
2.1.4 Cultural Eutrophication Exacerbation
2.1.5 Harmful Algae Blooms
2.2 CONTROL AND REMEDIATION METHODS FOR EUTROPHIC LAKES 10
2.3 INVASIVE REMEDIATION TECHNIQUES
2.3.1 Chemical Addition
2.3.2 Inert Elements Addition
2.3.3 Contaminated Sediment Dredging13
2.3.4 Water Aeration
2.4 SUSTAINABILITY, SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS AND SDG 6 14
2.5 SUSTAINABLE WATER REMEDIATION TECHNIQUES
2.6 FILTRATION PROCESS
2.7 FILTRATION MECHANISMS 17
2.8 TEXTILES AS FILTER MEDIA 18
2.9 GEOTEXTILES AS FILTER MEDIA 19
2.10 PARAMETERS INFLUENCING LAKE WATER QUALITY
2.10.1 Phosphorus
2.10.2 Nitrogen
2.10.3 Nitrate
2.10.4 Turbidity
2.10.5 Particle sizes

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

2.10.6 Total Suspended Solids	23
2.10.7 Water Temperature	23
2.10.8 Dissolved Oxygen	24
2.10.9 Fluorescence Dissolved Organic Matter (FDOM)	24
2.10.10 Chemical Oxygen Demand	25
2.10.11 Oxidation-Reduction Potential (ORP)	25
2.10.13 Chlorophyll-a	26
2.10.14 Cyanobacteria or Blue-Green Algae (BGA)	27
2.11 CRITERIA FOR SURFACE WATER QUALITY FOR AQUATIC LIFE	27
2.12 WASTE MANAGEMENT FOR PLASTIC MATERIAL	28
2.12.1 Circular Economy for Plastic Material	29
2.12.2 Possible Waste Routes for Plastic Material	30
2.13 OVERALL SUMMARY	32
CHAPTER 3. NOVEL SUSTAINABLE IN-SITU PILOT POLYPROPYLENE GEOTEXTILE FILTRATION METHOD FOR ECO-REMEDIATION OF EUTROPHIC LAKE WATER	33
3.1 INTRODUCTION	34
3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	36
3.2.1 Study Area	36
3.2.2 Pilot In-situ Geotextile Filtration Setup	37
3.2.3 Filter Media	38
3.2.4 Field Sampling and Experiment Sampling	40
3.2.5 Water Quality Analysis	40
3.2.6 Data Analysis	41
3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	42
3.3.1 Lake Water Quality	42
3.3.2 Filtration In situ Experiment	43
3.3.3 Particle Removal and Size Reduction	45
3.3.4 Nutrient and Organic Matter Removal	47
3.3.5 Algae/Cyanobacteria Removal	52
3.3.6 Spearman Correlations on the Experiment	53
3.3.7 Possibly Applications and Challenges	55

3.4 CONCLUSIONS	56
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	57
CHAPTER 4. IN-SITU WOVEN POLYPROPYLENE GEOTEXTILE FILTRATION FOR ECO- REMEDIATION OF EUTROPHIC LAKE WATER: FOLLOW UP STUDY AT LAKE CARON, QUEBEC 58	
4.1 INTRODUCTION	59
4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	61
4.2.1 Project Study Area for Follow-up Study	61
4.2.2 In situ floating Geotextile Filtration Setup	62
4.2.3 Filter Media	64
4.2.4 Field Sampling and Experiment Sampling	65
4.2.5 Water Quality Analysis	65
4.2.6 Data Analysis	66
4.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	67
4.3.1 Lake Water Quality Second Year	67
4.3.2 Second Year Filtration In Situ Experiment	68
4.3.3 Total Suspended Solids and Turbidity Removal	70
4.3.4 Nutrient and Algae/Cyanobacteria Removal	72
4.3.5 Organic Matter Removal	75
4.3.6 Experiment Correlations	78
4.3.7 Future Applications	80
4.4 CONCLUSIONS	80
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	81
CHAPTER 5. EXPERIMENTAL INVESTIGATION TOWARDS A CIRCULAR ECONOMY APPROACH FOR WASTES PRODUCED BY EUTROPHIC/MESOTROPHIC LAKE WATER	0.0
GEOTEXTILE FILTRATION	
5.1 INTRODUCTION.	
5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
5.2.1 Study Materials	
5.2.2 Geotextile Washing Proposed Method	
5.2.3 Suspended Solid Dewatering	
5.2.4 Geotextile Assessment after Washing	87

5.2.5 Leachate and Solids Analysis	
5.2.6 Data Analysis	88
5.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	88
5.3.1 Proposed Washing and Drying Solids Method	88
5.3.2 Washed Geotextile Assessment	89
5.3.3 Hydraulic Testing	89
5.3.4 SEM Surface Pictures	
5.3.5 Liquid Waste Assessment	
5.3.6 Solid Waste Assessment	
5.3.7 Possibly Waste Routes and Challenges	
5.4 CONCLUSIONS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSIONS	
REFERENCES	100

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2-1: Scenarios exacerbating aging of lakes (MDDEP, 2012)
Figure 2-2: Diagram of the trophic level of lakes (MDDEP, 2012)
Figure 2-3: Sustainable Development Goals defined by UN (UN, 2021) 15
Figure 2-4: Filtration mechanisms: (a) surface filtration versus (b) depth filtration (adapted from
Donaldson Corp, 2015)
Figure 3-1: Lake Caron with sampling stations and households
Figure 3-2: (a) In-situ filtration setup (b) Schematic of floating filtration unit (c) Actual in-situ
deployment
Figure 3-3: Geotextiles and mesh used in the experiment: (a) woven geotextile TE-GMW35 -
AOS: 425µm (b) CM and (c) non-woven geotextile TE-GTT170 - AOS: 350 µm before the
filtration process
Figure 3-4: Reported visible cyanobacteria colony accumulation in the control enclosed area 44
Figure 3-5:Woven geotextile after one week of filtration process for AOS order: (a) CM layer (b)
TE-GMW35 first layer (c) TE-GMW35 second layer (d) TE-GMW35 third layer 45
Figure 3-6: Turbidity (FNU) and suspended solids concentrations (mg/L) for the in-situ experiment
Figure 3-7: D50 ( $\mu$ m) and D90 ( $\mu$ m) for the in-situ experiment
Figure 3-8: TP concentrations ( $\mu$ g/L) and TN concentrations (mg/L) for the in-situ experiment 48
Figure 3-9: Conductivity concentrations ( $\mu$ S/cm) and water temperature (°C) for the in-situ
experiment
Figure 3-10: pH and dissolved oxygen concentrations (mg/L) for the in-situ experiment 50
Figure 3-11: COD concentrations (mg/L) and FDOM concentrations (QSU) for the in-situ
experiment
Figure 3-12: Chlorophyll-a ( $\mu$ g/L) and BGA-PC concentrations ( $\mu$ g/L) for the in-situ experiment
Figure 3-13: Heat map representation of the Spearman correlation matrix on all variables, not
statically significantly correlation ( $p > 0.01$ ) is crossed out
Figure 4-1: Lake Caron map with sampling stations
Figure 4-2: Floating filtration unit with specifications

Figure 4-3: Schematic 3D view of the experiment enclosed areas
Figure 4-4: Larger deployment in-situ for the follow-up studies showing the control enclosed area
Figure 4-5: Woven geotextiles used in the deployment: (a) TE-GMW70 – AOS: 700 µm and (b)
TE-GMW35 – AOS: 425μm before the filtration process
Figure 4-6: Woven geotextiles after the filtration process: (a) TE-GMW70 - AOS: 700 $\mu$ m, (b)
TE-GMW35 second layer – AOS: 425µm, (c) TE-GMW35 third layer – AOS: 425µm and (d) TE-
GMW35 fourth layer – AOS: 425µm 69
Figure 4-7: Bouncy regulated cyanobacteria that Lake Caron presented in the second year study
Figure 4-8: Turbidity (FNU) and total suspended solids concentrations (mg/L) for the second year
in situ experiment
Figure 4-9: D50 (μm) and D90 (μm) for the second year in situ experiment
Figure 4-10: TP concentrations ( $\mu$ g/L) and TN concentrations (mg/L) for the second year in situ
experiment
Figure 4-11: Chlorophyll-a ( $\mu$ g/L) and BGA-PC concentrations ( $\mu$ g/L) for the second year in situ
experiment
Figure 4-12: Conductivity concentrations ( $\mu$ S/cm) and water temperature (°C) for the second year
in situ experiment
Figure 4-13: pH and dissolved oxygen concentrations (mg/L) for the second year in situ
experiment
Figure 4-14: COD concentrations (mg/L) and FDOM concentrations (QSU) for the second year in
situ experiment
Figure 4-15: Heat map representation of the Spearman correlation matrix on all variables for the
second year in situ experiment
Figure 5-1: Non-woven geotextile before washing process for AOS order: (a) 110 $\mu$ m (b) 100 $\mu$ m
(c) 90 μm (d) 70 μm and 65 μm
Figure 5-2: Proposed washing method on non-woven and woven geotextiles
Figure 5-3: Unused, used and washed geotextiles layers (top – bottom) in the following AOS order
from left to right (110 µm, 100 µm, 90 µm, 70 µm, and 65 µm)

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Water quality guidelines for surface water used in Quebec	. 28
Table 3.1: Woven and non-woven geotextile characteristics used in this study	. 39
Table 3.2: Lake Caron water quality during July-Sep., 2019	. 42
Table 4.1: Woven geotextile characteristics used in this study	. 64
Table 4.2: Lake Caron water quality during July-Sep, 2019 and July-Sep 2020	. 67
Table 5.1: Non-woven and woven geotextiles characteristics used in this study	. 85
Table 5.2: Non-woven and woven geotextiles unused and washed characteristics used in this st	udy
	. 89
Table 5.3: Liquid waste characterization	. 93
Table 5.4: Reclaimed solid characterization after dewatering	. 94

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

AOS: Apparent Opening Size (µm)

ASTM: American Society for Testing Materials

BGA-PC: Blue-Green Algae-Phycocyanin (µg/L)

CCME: Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment

COD: Chemical Oxygen Demand (mg/L)

Chl. a: Chlorophyll a ( $\mu$ g/L)

CDOM: Chromophoric Dissolved Organic Matter

**CE: Circular Economy** 

CM: Commercial Mesh

DOM: Dissolved Organic Matter

DO: Dissolved Oxygen (mg/L)

FDOM: Fluorescence Dissolved Organic Matter (QSU)

FNU: Formazin Nephelometric Units

GIS: Geography Information Systems

HDPE: High-Density Polyethylene

ICP-MS: Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry

IWRM: Integrated Water Resource Management

MELCC: Ministère de l'Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques

MDGs: Millennium Development Goals

NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>: Nitrate (mg/L)

N: Nitrogen

P: Phosphorus

ORP: Oxidation-Reduction Potential (mV)

PSA: Particle Size Analysis

PET: Polyethylene Terephthalate

PP: Polypropylene

PTFE: Polytetrafluoroethylene

QSU: Quinine Sulphate Units

RSVL: Réseau de surveillance volontaire des lacs

SEM: Scanning Electron Microscope

SD: Secchi Depth

SWI: Sediment-Water Interface

SS: Suspended Solids(mg/L)

SDGs: Sustainable Developments Goals

Temp.: Temperature (°C)

TN: Total Nitrogen (mg/L)

TP: Total Phosphorus (µg/L)

TSS: Total Suspended Solids (mg/L)

TSI: Trophic State Index

UN: United Nations

# **CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION**

A world in which poverty and inequity are endemic will always be prone to ecological and other catastrophes. Catastrophes, are not only caused by regional difficulties as an example a contaminant release in a river or lake but in worldwide matters, like climate change. In other words, not always the one who is suffering the problem will be the one who is causing it. Climate change scenarios are increasing the world temperature and climate extremes, augmenting issues not only on organisms and ecosystems but also human systems and well-being. When associated with contemporary anthropic disruptions (i.e., natural resources overuse, production model, population growth, inequality between nations) this is probably triggering disturbances in the biosphere more than its capacity to resist, showing that the human species is the higher threat to the earth's environment.

Water contained in this extremely disrupted biosphere is suffering as well. Constantly polluted when it is present, as well as having its availability highly affected by issues of having too much water in some places (i.e., extreme precipitation events) and scarcity in others (i.e., extreme drought events). In this view, inland waters, aquatic environments located within land boundaries (i.e., lakes, rivers, and their connected wetlands), are the ones that have been increasingly affected by this synergic action of human-made activities and climate change. More precisely lakes, which are considered the climate change sentinels, responding rapidly to any change in the watershed.

One contemporary issue, which has been reaching lakes, and is due to increase of the two variables described (i.e., human-made actions and climate change scenarios) is eutrophication. Eutrophication can be defined as a natural ecological response to excessive nutrient enrichment and is mainly caused by phosphorous and nitrogen augmented by internal and external loads from point and diffuse releases. As a way to attenuate this issue, in-lake nutrient abstraction techniques need to be proposed, focusing on the phosphorus input, the limiting nutrient. Unlike the current remediation techniques which are invasive, drastic, intricate, and expensive, requiring a highly trained person, sustainable remediations methods are techniques that support restoration and are being further investigated.

Measures which are taken in the environment, to follow sustainable thinking, need to be guided by the 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) objectives to be reached before 2030 as

proposed by the United Nations (UN). Based on the eutrophication issue the most relatable SGD is the SDG 6 (i.e., clean water and sanitation goal) and is expanded on the targets 6.6 (i.e., restore ecosystems), 6.a and 6.b (both related to an enabling environment). In other words, a remediation technique for eutrophication inhibition should not only be providing cleaner water but should also restore a diverse ecosystem within it, for the present and future generations. Also, if any material is used on these remediations projects, sustainable consumption and production (SDG 12) and the conservation and sustainable use of the oceans, seas, and marine resources (SDG 14) need to be considered by using circular economy (i.e., sustainable production model) and waste management.

In order to answer the raised concern, towards sustainable remediation methods, a novel approach is under investigation and application. A reactive, ecologically safe, and economic method employs a silt curtain, a floating filtration unit, and geotextiles (non-woven and woven) as filter media. An in-situ minimally invasive remediation methodology for possible removal of suspended solids and particulate nutrients. This method has been used in a pilot in-situ experiment, which was deployed out at Lake Caron, a shallow eutrophic lake located in the *Sainte-Anne-des-Lacs* municipality in Quebec, from summer until mid-fall for two consecutive years (i.e., 2019 the first year and 2020 the second year). Additionally, to strengthen the sustainability outcome of this method, proper ways of waste management for the used filter layers and captured suspended solids are under investigation as well.

Therefore, the aim of this thesis is to develop the methodology proposed for eutrophic lake water sustainable remediation using geotextile filtration. To achieve this aim, this thesis is divided into chapters based on manuscripts, which are planned for future publication. There are five objectives on this thesis, one for each chapter proposed as follows:

- To conduct a comprehensive literature review for in-depth study of remediation techniques and sustainable methods for lake water remediation (CHAPTER 2);
- To evaluate the daily water quality monitoring of the eutrophic study lake, over the 69-day experiment deployment of the remediation proposed (CHAPTER 3);
- To assesses the second-year, follow-up experiment, daily water quality monitoring of the eutrophic study lake, over the 76-day experiment deployment remediation proposed (CHAPTER 4);
- To investigate the potential reuse strategies for waste generated after lake water geotextile filtration considering circular economy (CHAPTER 5); and

• To summarize the information of the previous chapters to draw possible future directions, applications, and investigations to this method (CHAPTER 6).

# **CHAPTER 2. COMPREHENSIVE LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 CLIMATE CHANGE AFFECTING WATER RESOURCES

Climate change is defined as the shift in climate patterns mainly caused by greenhouse gas emissions (i.e., from natural systems and human activities) (Fawzy et al., 2020), which has been causing several effects worldwide. The effects are triggering temperature increases, changes in irradiance and UV-B levels, changes in the amount of precipitation and humidity patterns, and also alterations in the incidence of abiotic and natural disturbances (Netherer & Schopf, 2010; Cavicchioli et al., 2019). In this way, the modification of these parameters is favoring an increased likeability of extreme events (Moore & Allard, 2011), (i.e., storms, record-breaking rainfall events, heat waves prolonged droughts, and tropical cyclones) in the world. They are affecting, even more, the already anthropized environment that we live in and causing disruptions which the environment is not able to support.

It is well understood that human activities have caused about 1.0°C of global warming, temperature increase, above the pre-industrial levels, which is likely to reach 1.5°C between 2030 and 2052 if this continues to increase at the current rate (IPCC, 2018). These warming scenarios presented are affecting not only organisms and ecosystems but also human systems and well-being (Hoegh-Guldberg et al., 2018). Thus, when these scenarios are associated with contemporary issues of natural resources overuses, the production model (i.e., take-make-consume-dispose), and population growth, the answer is the biosphere disruption more than its capacity to resist. Contained in the biosphere, the hydrosphere is one of the most vulnerable living spheres in it, due to its quantity, unequally divided around the globe.

However, how will climate change scenarios disturb the hydrosphere, more precisely water resources systems. Climate change is going to affect water probably related to the following parameters: runoff water quality and quantity, evaporation, precipitation, wind stress, sea level fluctuations and other ocean properties (Najjar et al., 2010). Changes brought by these circumstances will probably add excess sediments and nutrients, will cause natural sediment resuspension (i.e., sediments will be more presented in the water column), and other pollution types to the water. In addition, an increased air temperature could result in higher water temperature, and consequently stimulate the algal blooms growth and dissolved oxygen decrease, thus deteriorate the ecological environment (Luo et al., 2020).

#### 2.1.1 Inland Water Resources

Inland waters are defined as surface waters that are non-coastal above-ground open fresh or brackish waterbodies (Davies & Moss, 1999). In other words, they are aquatic-influenced environments located within land boundaries (CBD, 2008). Being considered the most vulnerable and important water sources on the planet, these inland waters are composed of lakes, rivers, and their connected wetlands (Devlin & Manjur, 2021).

Recipients of matter and energy from the watershed and the atmosphere (Tranvik et al., 2018), inland waters in the modern circumstances are introduced and directly affected by climate change. Those warming scenarios are affecting inland waters parameters, as mentioned, causing e.g., warming of waters, oxygen reduction, biological rates acceleration, substantial restructuring of aquatic communities, increasing evapotranspiration due to climate extremes (i.e., droughts), increased emissions of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, and N<sub>2</sub>O to the atmosphere, and nutrients release (Rinke et al.,2019).

It is worth commenting, that inland waters are affected not only by climate change but also by human-made interactions, which have been higher than before, thus causing water resources deterioration and putting organisms under stress. Those issues which inland waters are suffering are, the accelerated release of dissolved organic matter (DOM) to inland and coastal waters through increases in precipitation, thawing of permafrost, and changes in vegetation (Williamson et al., 2017), increasing in water browning (Kritzberg et al., 2019), and higher internal nutrient releases (Yidong et al., 2021) from past human activities causing irreversible conditions.

Inside the inland water resources named, lakes have their spotlight. Being peculiar water types, which show unusual behavior for the issues presented, they are being strongly affected by the mentioned issues. As they are sensitive to the climate and respond rapidly to any change (i.e., a wide range of physical, chemical, and biological responses to climate variance), and incorporate changes in the catchment (Adrian et al., 2009) lakes are effective sentinels for climate change (Woolway & Merchant, 2019).

# 2.1.2 Lake Aging, Increased Nutrient Input and Eutrophication

Lakes (also known as lentic systems) are a diverse set of inland freshwater habitats that exist across the globe and provide essential resources and habitats for both terrestrial and aquatic organisms. (Hoverman & Johnson, 2012). Like any living organism, they age naturally, but the timeframe for this is about hundreds to thousands of years (Zhang et al., 2020). However, human interaction within the land synergistically associated with climate change scenarios and population growth is accelerating this process. This acceleration is transforming low nutrient lakes (i.e., oligotrophic lakes) to high nutrient lakes (i.e., eutrophic lakes) faster than before (Pereira et al., 2020).

As presented in Figure 2-1, being drinkable and/or navigable and/or recreational, lakes are suffering increasing stresses which have been degrading them, probably causing loss of their uses. Anthropogenic actions such as urban runoff, point and diffuse pollution, industrial discharges as well as lake water warming, and increased internal nutrient releases (due to climate change circumstances) are increasing lakes' primary productivity, turbidity, and reducing their volume favoring harmful phytoplankton development over other species within this environment.



Figure 2-1: Scenarios exacerbating aging of lakes (MDDEP, 2012)

External and internal loads of nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) from point and diffuse sources are the ones responsible for this possible aging. When those nutrients are present in high concentrations in the water, eutrophication occurs, a water pollution issue. As N and P are the key nutrients essential for the growth and sustainability of different microorganisms and aquatic lives that constitute the surface water ecosystem (Bhagowati et al., 2019; Nazari-Sharabian et al., 2018), they are considered key substances in the water column to be present when there is an increasing primary productivity (Guinard et al., 2017).

Eutrophication can be understood as the process of water enrichment by excess plant nutrients, leading to enhanced growth of algae/cyanobacteria, periphyton, or macrophytes (Istvánovics, 2009) in the natural system. By nature, this is an ecological response to excessive nutrient enrichment. Undesirable symptoms of this ecological response primarily occur during the plant growing season (spring and summer), when low flow, high water residence times, sufficient light levels and high-water temperature promote rapid algae growth (Nazari-Sharabian et al., 2018).

Eutrophication symptoms are responsible for probable recreational and drinking water advisories in lakes caused by high cyanobacteria productivity, along with harmful toxins development (Freeman et al. 2020; Yindong et al. 2021 and Burford et al. 2020). Additionally, in some eutrophication cases, volume reduction (Braga & Becker 2020), browning (Hayden et al., 2019 and Kritzberg et al., 2020) and anoxia can occur in these systems. Also, it is worth commenting that when external sources of nutrients are reduced, the release of historically accumulated (legacy) phosphorous (P) from lake sediment can maintain excess nutrient levels and high primary productivity in lakes (Schütz et al., 2017).

#### 2.1.3 Trophic Classification and Trophic Levels Changes

Lakes are often classified by their "trophic status" which can be determined via measures of productivity or nutrient load (Schlesinger & Bernhardt, 2020). In the most used classifications, water quality parameters are used to roughly assess waterbody trophic status. For example, with information about the concentration of the limiting nutrient (phosphorus), chlorophyll-a (an indicator of phytoplankton biomass), and transparency (dependent on both algal biomass and sediment resuspension, expressed as Secchi depth) (Istvánovics, 2009) diverse indices are proposed. For classification criterion, waters with low productivity are termed oligotrophic and waters with high productivity eutrophic (Beiras, 2018). If only the main ones are considered, the trophic categories are four, namely, oligotrophic, mesotrophic, eutrophic, and hypertrophic (Concepcion et al., 2020).

An interpretation of this classification method is used by the MELCC (*Ministère de l'Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques*) of Quebec, which is the one used in this project to classify the studied lake. In this classification, each parameter is treated as a unique variable with proper subdivisions for the different trophic classification stated, as presented in Figure 2-2. As there is no proper correlation in the parameters evaluated, misinformation could be given. For example, shallow lakes (i.e., < 2.0m) can be located in the eutrophic state when related to transparency (m) but could be in the oligotrophic state when related to total phosphorus (TP) concentration at the same time. In this case, the results from this classification method need to be inferred with precaution and require additional analysis.



Figure 2-2: Diagram of the trophic level of lakes (MDDEP, 2012)

Several other trophic state classifications can be used; indices based on several biological, chemical, and physical indicators are the most recommended. One of them is the Carlson-type TSI (trophic state index), which is one of the most used in the trophic studies. This index offers a suitable and acceptable method for trophic classifications of lakes (Xu, 2008). The Carlson-type TSI index assumes algal biomass to be the basis for trophic state classification and is calculated by three hydroecological characteristics: the chlorophyll-a (Chl.a) concentrations, TP in water and the Secchi depth (SD) (Adamovich et al., 2016; Carlson, 1977) in specific equations.

One of the method limits is that the TP-based index variable would not correlate well with the Chl.a in situations where phosphorus was not limiting algal/cyanobacteria growth, nor would

Secchi depth correlate well with Chl.a if the major light scattering in the water were clay particles or dissolved humic color (Carlson & Havens, 2005). Other alternatives for lake trophic state classification are based on tree-artificial neural network (Concepcion et al., 2020), statistical analysis (Köklü & Alkış, 2021), and Geography Information Systems (GIS) data analysis (Gidudu et al., 2021; Rivani & Wicaksono, 2018; Kumar et al., 2019).

#### 2.1.4 Cultural Eutrophication Exacerbation

Being the unpleasant recipe for the eutrophic lakes' numbers magnification around the globe (Beiras, 2018), cultural eutrophication takes place when the nutrient supply is anthropogenic (agriculture fertilizers, detergents from domestic effluents, among others) or the nutrient being internally released is from a former human action. The overall effect with cultural eutrophication is anthropogenic activities on watersheds, causing water bodies to fill in faster with sediment and nutrients supply for abundant aquatic plant growth (Kang & Chung, 2017). With warmer waters, caused by climate change, more nutrient availability scenarios in the water column in those systems increases the eutrophication likelihood.

In this way, cultural eutrophication has been creating dense phytoplankton blooms that are reducing water quality, light penetration, and causing die-offs of various life types (Chislock et al., 2013) in water resources. Induced by climate change, massive algal blooms are prompting bacterial respiration, consuming  $O_2$  and generating high turbidity water (Wurtsbaugh et al., 2019), and possibly in some cases releasing toxins. This relationship is evidenced in several studies (i.e., between temperature and cyanobacterial dominance) from laboratory and field observations for individual lakes or lakes in a confined region (Kosten et al., 2011).

#### 2.1.5 Harmful Algae Blooms

As a consequence of increased nutrient input linked with warmer waters, triggered by climate change scenarios, augmented water mixing scenarios on aquatic systems will be favored, producing higher nutrient availability in the water column. In those situations, some species decrease in diversity and some usually fewer desirable species increase in biomass. These changes will lead to a decrease in biological diversity with the exclusion of many ecologically sensitive species (Boyd, 2019) causing the prevalence of the most resistant species to the modifications presented, the cyanobacteria.

Cyanobacteria are photoautotrophic aerobic bacteria belonging to the Bacteria domain, according to the classification of Woose et al. (1990). Species of these genera are particularly harmful, often surface scums former, obnoxious odors producer, and causers of taste problems, being sometimes toxic to living organisms (Boyd, 2019). Some possible toxins produced by them cited in the literature, intra- and extracellular by toxic cyanobacteria strains are anatoxin-a (neurotoxin), cylindrospermopsin (neurotoxin), and microcystin (hepatotoxin). As a rising concern, several studies have shown that harmer climates associated with human impacts are going to cause a higher production of cyanotoxin-producing cyanobacteria strains (Kosten et al., 2011; Yan et al., 2017; Paerl, 2018; Burford et al., 2020; Weber et al., 2020) triggering in this way further toxic contamination around the world.

## 2.2 CONTROL AND REMEDIATION METHODS FOR EUTROPHIC LAKES

The eutrophication management of lakes has undertaken a change from simply algal killing and reduction of the endogenous nutrient concentration to multiple technologies of lake ecosystems restoration (Zhang et al., 2020). These several methods have guaranteed robust literature on this process when applied to laboratory experiments. In contrast, few techniques are being applied in-situ with follow-up studies.

As stated, the most important nutrients for eutrophication are N and P. Those two chemical elements present distinct behaviors in the water column of lake systems. Nitrogen may be retained or lost to the atmosphere in gaseous forms by the denitrification process (e.g., N<sub>2</sub>, NH<sub>3</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O), due to higher sediment area to water volume ratio in shallow lake systems (Chen et al., 2012; Paerl et al. 2020). Phosphorus (P), in contrast, is often called the limiting nutrient and a primary controller of eutrophication in freshwater systems (Pant, 2020) and can be found in the water column, suspended solids, sediment and external releases. Furthermore, the phosphorus form found within lake water is of critical importance.

External loads of phosphorus, that come from watersheds, which enter water systems are partly in the particulate form, which will be possibly settling in the water column and remain within the sediment used only by phytoplankton if released for biological and/or chemical reactions (Sandström et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2018). Internal loads, on another hand, predominantly occur in the dissolved form directly bioavailable for algal/cyanobacteria growth (Bormans et al., 2015).

As a result, it is compulsory to propose removal methods for external and internal phosphorus loads exacerbated into lakes due to synergistic climate change and human actions. As this thesis is presenting an in-situ remediation project, perceived in its objective and methodology given, preference will be for remediation technologies that can be applied in-situ or on-site.

### 2.3 INVASIVE REMEDIATION TECHNIQUES

At present, there is no international agreement for classifying in-situ techniques for lake water remediation. However, to the best of our knowledge, they include physical, biological, and chemical immobilization techniques (Wang & Jiang, 2016). Based on the previous classification, the more popular engineering methods for lake water remediation includes one or the combination of the following: hypolimnetic withdrawal, bottom sediment removal, sediment capping, phosphorus inactivation to the water and bottom sediments, and artificial aeration (Dunalska, 2021). Being invasive, drastic, intricate, and expensive, those methods require highly trained personal and specific materials as a proposed remediation project. Also, it is worth mentioning that these techniques' application has been heavily affecting lake water uses and their natural biota.

#### 2.3.1 Chemical Addition

In this treatment category, several metals are used to inactivate sediment P, including flocculation agents like aluminum (Al), iron (Fe), and calcium (Ca) (Jilbert et al., 2020) as well as to capture phosphorus on the water column and bind them to sediment. The mechanism for this removal is similar to the addition of a flocculant agent in water treatment to aggregate suspended particles, creating larger flocs, which settle more easily. It is worth commenting that large treatment chemicals doses may cause a sharp decline in biodiversity in a lake due to coagulation or lethal effects (Gołdyn et al., 2014).

Aluminum (Al) salt application has been used to reduce phosphorus (P) concentrations in lakes since the 1960s (Huser et al., 2016). Aluminum-based compounds, such as aluminum sulphate (Al<sub>2</sub>(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>), aluminum chloride (AlCl<sub>3</sub>), polyaluminum chloride, and sodium metaphosphate (NaAlO<sub>2</sub>), have all been tried or tested for lake internal P loading control (Wang & Jiang, 2016). Al is typically applied to the water column in the Al-hydroxides form, which settles to the sediment surface and binds P in the sediment (Schütz et al., 2017). In other words, aluminum compounds (mainly referred to as Al<sub>2</sub>(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>) when added to water undergo rapid hydrolysis reactions. Initially, a moderate reactivity polymeric Al species with ferron is formed, which is transformed to a colloidal form rapidly (Wang & Jiang, 2016). Technical constraints of this method are related to dose determination, management challenges in external load control, and regulatory limitations related to potential Al toxicity (Wagner et al., 2017).

Iron-based compounds, such as ferric chloride (FeCl<sub>3</sub>), ferric sulphate (Fe<sub>2</sub>(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>3</sub>), solid ferric hydroxide (Fe (OH)<sub>3</sub>), ferric chloride sulphate (FeClSO<sub>4</sub>), ferrous chloride (FeCl<sub>2</sub>), ferrous sulphate (FeSO<sub>4</sub>), and ferric oxide (Fe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>), have all been tried or tested for lake internal P loading (Wang & Jiang, 2016) as well. Upon dissolution into the aqueous phase,  $Fe^{3+}/Fe^{2+}$  precipitates with phosphate directly, the  $Fe^{3+}/Fe^{2+}$  hydrolyzes to become an iron hydroxide gel and iron oxide are removed by chemical precipitation and adsorption (Wang et al., 2021). When added in excess, iron could also negatively affect organisms as iron in high doses can be toxic (Bakker et al., 2015)

Calcium-based compounds, such as calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>), calcium hydroxide (Ca (OH)<sub>2</sub>, including slaked lime), gypsum (Ca<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>•2H<sub>2</sub>O), calcium oxide (CaO, including lime), calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>, mainly referring to calcite), and limestone, have all been tried or tested for lake internal P loading control (Wang & Jiang, 2016). Calcium cations and hydrogen carbonate anions which at elevated concentrations, form carbon dioxide and CaCO<sub>3</sub> precipitate and coprecipitate P to the sediment in the process (Zamparas et al., 2014) retrieving some phosphorus from water column and locking in the sediment. These calcium compounds have low solubility in fresh water; and therefore, these compounds are not suitable for effective phosphate ion removal when dissolved in fresh water.

#### 2.3.2 Inert Elements Addition

Some recently developed solutions are currently being tested as alternative binding methods. Many of these solutions involve the addition of P-binding metals to clay material that is then added to lake water and allowed to precipitate and mix with the sediment. These are called capping methods. The first one, being extensively studied is Phoslock® a lanthanum (La) modified bentonite clay that is being increasingly used as a geo-engineering tool for the control of legacy phosphorus (P) release from lakebed sediments to overlying waters (Spears et al., 2013). The Phoslock® has been applied in around 200 environments worldwide and has undergone extensive testing at laboratory, mesocosm, and whole lake scales (Copetti et al., 2016).

Related to other inert element addition material, there is zeolite application. Two zeolite types have been used for lake internal P loading control, namely raw zeolites (nature or artificial) and modified zeolites (Jilbert et al., 2020). While unmodified zeolite phosphate anions are not removed because of its negative surface charge; modified zeolites properties can be tuned by incorporating different metals into the matrices which serve as the primary binding sites for phosphate ions (Saifuddin et al., 2019). The removal is achieved due to adsorption of phosphate on the zeolite surface or phosphate precipitation (Naghash & Nezamzadeh-Ejhieh, 2015).

### 2.3.3 Contaminated Sediment Dredging

As an extremely costly recovery method, this technique has been applied on shallow lakes where internal loads should be the principal contributor to lake water eutrophication. As sediments act as sinks and sources of pollutants in aquatic environments, the P accumulated in the sediments can be released into the overlying water easily (Chen et al., 2018). By this premise, the contaminated sediment can be removed from the system to prevent further contamination. However, projects with dredging to restore eutrophic lakes have shown mixed results (Kiani et al., 2020) when related to their actual application.

Theoretically, the dynamic phosphorus (P) release from sediments to the overlying water is subjected to two basic processes: 1) the diffusion process of pore water P, which depends on the concentration gradients between the sediment-water interface (SWI); and 2) the resupply process of solid P to the pore water by the release of P from the binding sites of the sediment solids (Ding et al., 2015). A hypothesis indicated that after dredging, with the significant decline in organic matter in the post-dredged sediments, the internal P release is reduced because of the lower rates for the decomposition of organic matter (Oldenborg et al., 2019).

This can significantly decrease the capacity of the non-dredged sediments to retain P, resulting from the reduction and/or dissolution of iron oxides in a more anoxic condition (Yu et al., 2017). Sediment dredging can produce a large quantity of waste, which will require dewatering and land disposal. In many cases, the dredged sediments may be reactive once dried requiring further management (Yin et al., 2021). Additionally, the sediment disturbance may cause the co-contaminants to be released such as heavy metals and therefore induce secondary pollution (Yu et al., 2019).

#### 2.3.4 Water Aeration

Increased phosphorus and nitrogen concentrations can stimulate algal/cyanobacteria growth, which then leads to additional oxygen demand due to the mineralization of dead algal biomass (Bierlein et al., 2017). Hypolimnetic aeration (i.e., pumping of epilimnion water into the hypolimnion) involves the addition of oxygen to bottom waters to promote binding of sediment P with oxides of redox-sensitive metals such as Fe and manganese (Mn). These systems inject air or oxygen either into the hypolimnion or into water withdrawn from it (Wagner, 2019; Jilbert et al., 2020; Niemistö et al., 2019). Well-oxidized sediment surface can be a sink of P via sorbing settling P and thus prevents P of deeper sediments from escaping (Tammeorg et al., 2020). Hypolimnetic withdrawal has been rarely applied, likely due to the major drawback that the method in its traditional form only moves the nutrient problem downstream (Jilbert et al., 2020).

### 2.4 SUSTAINABILITY, SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS AND SDG 6

In the report, Our Common Future published in 1967 by Brundtland Commission, it is stated that in a world in which poverty and inequity are endemic, it will always be prone to ecological and other catastrophes. As we are evolving as nations, measures must be taken to prevent or in some cases at least attenuate those possible crises. In order to answer the possible concerns presented, sustainable development is a raising suggestion. This sustainable development can be defined as the development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. In other words, by meeting the basic needs of all and extending to all the opportunity to satisfy their aspirations for a better life (Brundtland & Khalid, 1987), only by this path sustainability is achieved.

To be able to fully access this idea, nations have shaped specific objectives in order to transmute concepts into actions and called the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Created by the United Nations (UN) General Assembly in 2015, they are the successor of the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), which were considered ambiguous. This agenda document consists of 17 SDGs, as presented in Figure 2-3, which among the many other tasks, are intended to eradicate poverty and create better health conditions in countries that do not have full access to education and improved living conditions in countries that have (Leal Filho et al., 2018). As this project is presenting a lake remediation method, SDGs related to water will be focused on, more

precisely SGD 6 that presents clean water and sanitation as the objective to be reached by nations in 2030.



Figure 2-3: Sustainable Development Goals defined by UN (UN, 2021)

The sustainable future of water resources, lakes and reservoir is being endangered by emerging global threats, such as biological invasions, climate change, land-use intensification, and water depletion (Ho & Goethals, 2019). When the SDG 6 is looked at in depth, it is well understood that there is coverage of all possible contemporary issues of water resources. The SDG 6 adopts a broader set of water-related targets extending well beyond just improving access to it (Sadoff et al., 2020).

Beyond targets related to drinking water supply and sanitation (targets 6.1. and 6.2), it includes aspects of water quality and wastewater (target 6.3), water use and efficiency (target 6.4), integrated water resources management (IWRM) (target 6.5), restoring ecosystems (target 6.6) and an enabling environment (targets 6.a and 6.b). Presenting reliable answers to all those water-related difficulties, the objectives of this target create a future not only with cleaner water but also with a restored and diverse ecosystem. When associated to the presented thesis, which proposes a methodology of lake water sustainable remediation, the SDG 6 can be expanded on the targets 6.6, 6.a and 6.b and used as investigation justification.

# 2.5 SUSTAINABLE WATER REMEDIATION TECHNIQUES

Sustainable remediation techniques are methods supporting the own waterbodies' restoration (Dunalska et al., 2021). In other words, they are methods, which take advantage of a lake ecosystem's natural response to changes made within it (Gołdyn et al., 2014; Rosińska et al.,

2018). By using minimally invasive measures for lake restoration, a gradual reconstruction of the aquatic communities' composition, from phytoplankton and zooplankton to benthic macroinvertebrates and macrophytes, is enabled (Gołdyn et al., 2014). Examples of these methods are ecological engineering techniques involving the primary productivity control (i.e., by minimally invasive nutrient abstraction), biocides application, macrophyte harvesting, macrophyte re-establishment, and the use of floating wetlands, and artificial substrates (Dunalska, 2021; Gołdyn et al., 2014).

When technical contemporary solutions have been applied for lake water remediation currently, they are chosen haphazardly and implemented by companies focusing on making profits (Dunalska, 2021) In contrast, sustainable methods are considered less invasive, easily deployed and cheaper when compared with actual technologies. Additionally, when sustainable methods are applied in-situ, this methodology should be effective, in reducing nutrients for the entire recreational season, environmentally safe, and relatively easy to apply (Lürling & Mucci, 2020). Lastly, as water sustainable remediation is a recent topic in the literature, knowledge on its application is still being formed, and modern sustainable in-lake restoration methods are yet under investigation to fulfill this gap.

It is well understood that several years of sustainable restoration application at the beginning of lake water deterioration can easily reduce ecosystem degradation due to eutrophication and maintain good lake water quality (Dondajewska et al., 2019). In this case, acting in advance, treating symptoms, not the disease (i.e., disease metaphorically related to eutrophication with harmful algae/cyanobacteria bloom) water quality status can be maintained. By guaranteeing the water quality status, the most important change when using sustainable methods is applied is to reduce harmful plankton organisms (i.e., cyanobacteria) attributable to a significant reduction on phosphorus concentration in the water column (Gołdyn et al., 2014). This allows other water uses even if other groups of phytoplankton organisms are still frequent.

#### 2.6 FILTRATION PROCESS

Originated by the Latin word *filtrum*, which means a piece of felt (i.e., a type of textile) this process occurs when a liquid is strained for particle removal and this method have been used for centuries. Following the word etymology stated, when scientifically defined, filtration is the

mechanical or physical process used for the separation of one substance from another, such as solids, liquids, and gases, with the aid of an interposing medium (filter) (Shah & Rawal, 2016). In other words, filtration is any process for the removal of solid particles from a suspension (a two-phase system containing particles in a fluid) by the passage of the suspension through a porous medium (Crittenden et al., 2012). The fluid that passes through is called the 'filtrate' and the retained solid is collected as a 'cake'.

As explained by word etymology and definitions, filtration when related to liquid filtration (i.e., water filtration), the main outcome to be achieved is particle removal. This process when applied in water can not only remove or reduce the particulate matter concentration including suspended particles, parasites, bacteria, algae, viruses, and fungi but can also remove other undesirable chemical and biological contaminants from contaminated water to produce safe and clean water for specific purposes (Mao, 2016). Removing particles in the influent suspension has the objective of producing a filtrate with high clarity (Amirtharajah, 1988) clean of undesirable components to be used in diverse ways. Media types commonly used for producing high clean filtrate are charcoal, carbon, sands, gravels, zeolites, or clean, insoluble, and mechanically resistant material such as any textiles, geotextile, polymers, and others.

## 2.7 FILTRATION MECHANISMS

When particles are larger than the void spaces in the filter, they are removed by straining. When particles are smaller than the voids, they can be removed only if they contact and stick to the grains of the media (Crittenden et al., 2012) previously accumulated on the media surface which reduces media opening sizes. The main mechanisms where particles are removed are, surface filtration or straining and depth filtration or cake filtration (Brandt et al., 2017; Eyvaz et al., 2017). Transport to the media surface occurs by interception, sedimentation, and diffusion, and attachment occurs by attractive close-range molecular forces such as van der Waals forces (Howe, et al., 2012).

In the surface straining filtration mechanism, any particle that is larger than the pores of the medium deposits on the surface and stays there until it is removed. Particles that are smaller than the pores pass quickly through the medium (Sutherland, 2008; Ebnesajjad et al., 2017). As presented in Figure 2-4 a) in surface filtration, particles are collected on the surface of the

membrane. Additionally, the solid particles penetrating the surface of the media close off the open pores, thus forming a filter cake on the media surface called depth filtration, reducing its opening size and increasing the water head pressure on the media. In-depth filtration mechanics shown in Figure 2-4 b), particles penetrate the structure of the media and form a filter cake layer on the surface (Crittenden et al., 2012). Particles are removed continuously throughout the filter through a process of transport and attachment to the filter grains. (Howe, et al., 2012), or in other words, a combination of those two mechanisms.



Figure 2-4: Filtration mechanisms: (a) surface filtration versus (b) depth filtration (adapted from Donaldson Corp, 2015)

## 2.8 TEXTILES AS FILTER MEDIA

Textile fibers are obtained from many synthetic and natural sources being extensively used as filter media. Various fiber types could be used in the making of the filter media including glass fibers, synthetic fibers, cellulosic fibers, wool fibers, metal fibers, ceramic fibers, highperformance polymer fibers, microfibers, and nanofibers (Mao, 2016). Those varied textiles are used in several ways, for separating, and purifying liquids and solids, cleaning gases and effluents, absorbing dirt, fumes, and oil (Zerin, & Datta, 2018). Also, textile filtration has been used for particle and bacterial removal in drinking water treatment (Siwila & Brink, 2018).

Fabric filters' advantages include high collection efficiency over a broad range of particles sizes and flexibility in design provided by the availability of various cleaning methods and filter media (Miller, 2011). With smaller opening sizes, textile elements are the most commonly used filter material for fine-size filtration and can be easily compared with modern paper filters in terms of performance. The fabrics may contain a range of materials, in a woven and nonwoven
presentation, and may be modified by impregnation with synthetic resins or the like (Eyvaz et al., 2017).

Related to the fibers, woven fabrics can be understood as a material made from either the interlacement by two or more yarn sets. In contrast, nonwoven textiles are produced from short-staple fibers, invariably possess surfaces with protruding fiber ends (Shah & Rawal, 2016). When both are compared, nonwoven fabric filters offer many unique technical characteristics over woven ones, including greater permeability, greater specific surface area, and controllable pore size distribution, as well as smaller pore sizes (Mao, 2016).

## 2.9 GEOTEXTILES AS FILTER MEDIA

Geotextiles are textile fabrics, which are permeable to fluids such as water and gases (Ingold, 2013). Polymeric fabrics that are extensively used as filters in geotechnical and geoenvironmental works (Palmeira et al., 2019). Application examples of this material could be in road construction, drains, harbor-works, breakwaters, land reclamation, and many other civil engineering purposes (Spencer, 2001). The main reasons for this large utilization are due to the easiness of transport and installation in the field, besides being manufactured products, which guarantees uniformity and reproducible properties (Palmeira et al., 2019).

About 98% of the currently used geotextiles are made of non-degradable polymers from the polyolefin, polyester, or polyamide family (Wu et al.2020). Being textiles, they can be woven (i.e., the interlacement of yarn) and nonwoven (i.e., composed of staple fibers). In their functions, geotextiles are employed for at least one of the following: separation, reinforcement, filtration, drainage, stabilization, barrier, and erosion protection (Wu et al.2020). It is worth mentioning that only filtration uses will be focused on this topic as it is the objective of this thesis presented. In this process, water passes through the geotextile blocking any sediment/suspended particles larger than the pore size from passing through (Paul & Tota-Maharaj, 2015).

By using the principle explained for employing geotextiles as a filter media, has brought attention to the feasibility of this application in real scenarios and some studies have been developed to address this literature gap. Some studies on this topic have been focusing on remediating lake water by removing suspended solids and their associated contaminant. In this thinking, further investigations have been done on applying this media (i.e., different opening sizes geotextiles) to filter lake water using a floating filtration unit for addressing and removing suspended solids and their associated particulate nutrients (Palakkeel et al., 2021; Pereira et al., 2020; Ghasri, 2019; Sarma, 2016; Mulligan et al., 2009) showing high potential as flexible, effective and economic filtration each study has its unique methodology and results. Different from previous work procedures, this thesis will cover the application of in-situ long term geotextile filtration for eutrophic lake water sustainable rehabilitation.

# 2.10 PARAMETERS INFLUENCING LAKE WATER QUALITY

In this topic, a brief explanation of the chemical, physical, and biological parameters which influence lake water quality is given. Details on what the parameter is and where it can be derived from will be presented, followed by how its absence or presence in large amounts can affect lake waters. Those expanded explanations presented will be employed as a reference for results and discussion in this thesis.

# 2.10.1 Phosphorus

Phosphorus (P) is an essential element for life and is often considered either the primary limiting or collimating nutrient in water ecosystems (Steinman et al., 2017). This element can be found in the aquatic environment in several forms including organic phosphorus, water-soluble inorganic, and insoluble inorganic forms of phosphorus. Of these different forms, the water-soluble inorganic form is the most important because it can be consumed by phytoplankton directly and contributes to surface water productivity (Sengupta, 2014).

The main sources of P to aquatic systems are surface runoff from varying land uses (e.g., arable land, native grassland, forested, urban), septic tanks, groundwater seepage, atmospheric deposition (dust fall and precipitation), internal sediment release, waterfowl and other wildlife, and the decomposition of organic matter (Riemersma et al., 2006). If the P presence in natural water is too great, eutrophication occurs (Boyd, 2015; Pal, 2017; Senthil Kumar & Yaashikaa, 2019). Normally this scenario will stimulate aquatic plant growth and especially phytoplankton growth. In other words, high nutrient concentrations can cause harmful algal/cyanobacteria blooms this will leads to a lake environment prone to hypoxia, fish kills, and the production of toxins (Wilkinson, 2017).

As mentioned, in lake water, P exists as total dissolved, represented by inorganic water soluble, and particulate forms by inorganic insoluble phosphorus and organic, where the total of those forms represents the total phosphorus concentration. In a real lake scenario, phosphorus from catchments (external sources) is partly in the particulate form that possible settles in the water column and is only used by phytoplankton if released (Sandström et al. 2020). Internal loads in lakes are predominantly in the dissolved form directly bioavailable for algal/cyanobacteria growth (Bormans et al., 2015. Fractions are operationally defined and determined by filtration through 0.2 or 0.45 µm filters (Paytan & McLaughlin, 2007). The dissolved fraction (which passes through the filter) and particulate P (retained on the filter).

#### 2.10.2 Nitrogen

Nitrogen is an essential element for life and is the fourth most abundant element in the living biomass (by moles) after hydrogen, carbon, and oxygen (Howarth, 2009; Hanrahan & Chan, 2005). This element enters aquatic ecosystems via surface and groundwater runoff, atmospheric deposition, nitrogen fixation by prokaryotes (cyanobacteria), dissolution of nitrogen-rich material, and decomposition (van den Berg & Ashmore, 2008). In aquatic ecosystems, nitrogen compounds are naturally present at low concentrations usually as NH<sub>3</sub>-N, NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (Ryskie et al., 2021). An increase in nitrogen availability in water can stimulate or enhance the growth and proliferation of primary producers (phytoplankton, benthic algae, and macrophytes) in combination with phosphorus. The eutrophication of aquatic environments can result in the huge expansive growth of primary producers (van den Berg & Ashmore, 2008).

## 2.10.3 Nitrate

The nitrate ion (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>), the oxidized form of dissolved nitrogen, is the most common contaminant worldwide, high soluble (Keeton, 2017) found in the natural waters at moderate concentrations (Shrimali & Singh, 2001). Contaminant sources of this include nitrogen fertilizers, manure from animal feeding operations, septic systems, plant nitrification of and other organic matter, and atmospheric deposition. (Ward & Brender, 2019; Pärn et al., 2012). Elevated nitrate concentrations in conjunction with P increases can also result in natural water bodies' eutrophication affecting the aquatic environment and reducing water quality. Additionally, high nitrate concentrations in the case of drinking water supplies can cause acute toxic effects in human

beings, notably methemoglobinemia in infants (also known as "blue baby syndrome") (Cashman et al., 2017).

### 2.10.4 Turbidity

Turbidity, a measure of water cloudiness, is caused predominantly by suspended material such as clay, silt, organic and inorganic matter, plankton, and other microscopic organisms, which scatter and/or absorb light (Scholz, 2016). The solid particles of the micron or submicron size order, which are miscible in water, are responsible for the water to appear turbid (Nvs & Saranya, 2020). For measurements, the nephelometric method is used and represented in nephelometric turbidity units (NTUs). A nephelometer measures the intensity of light scattered by a sample and compares it to the intensity of light scattered by a reference standard. Sample turbidity is proportional to the intensity of the scattered light (Popek, 2018).

Turbidity can be caused by soil erosion, waste discharge, urban runoff, bottom feeders like carp that stir up sediments, household pets playing in the water, and algal growth (Patel & Vashi, 2015). Any modification of water turbidity will cause modifications of dissolved oxygen concentration in the water column through affecting living organisms. More precisely changes in water turbidity can cause modifications of photosynthesis rates (Gómez et al., 2017). Turbid waters also become warmer as suspended particles absorb more heat, causing oxygen levels to fall (warm water holds less oxygen than cool water) (Patel & Vashi, 2015). High turbidity can also mean higher concentrations of bacteria, nutrients, pesticides, or metals. Therefore, a sudden change in turbidity, by the information mentioned, may indicate the presence of a new pollution source (biological, organic or inorganic) in natural waters (Sadar, 2017). Turbidity is also often assumed as a surrogate for total suspended solids (TSS). It is generally true that the higher the TSS then the more particles are expected in suspension, and the higher the turbidity (Bratby, 2015).

## 2.10.5 Particle sizes

Particles are ubiquitous in natural waters and in water and wastewater treatment streams. Through particle counting and size distribution analysis it is possible to determine the makeup of natural waters when related to suspended particles (SMWW, 2020). In other words, it is possible to define which particle sizes are causing cloudiness and/or contamination on it. Depending on its size, particles can hide harmful organisms like plankton, virus and bacteria as well as substances or nutrients that can cause problems to this environment. In addition, the size and distribution of these particles are important to the structure and functioning of aquatic ecosystems, as it influences trophic interactions within the planktonic community (Reynolds et al., 2010).

Total suspended particles sizes are one of the most important parameters for removal efficiency of basic water treatment/remediation processes (Zielina et al., 2007). In this understanding, particle size analysis characterizes the quality of treated water more precisely than turbidity, TSS, or any other parameters. For doing its measurements, particle-counting instruments are employed. Those equipment types allow particles to pass through a sensing zone where they are measured individually. By the instrument's measurement of an electronic pulse (voltage, current, or resistance) particle size is characterized (SMWW, 2020).

# 2.10.6 Total Suspended Solids

Suspended particles, particularly in natural waters are composed of a large variety of materials that could include clays, silts, inorganic matter, organic matter, vegetation, and living organisms with various particle sizes and optical characteristics (Bratby, 2015). With this understanding, total suspended solids (TSS) are defined as solids in water that can be trapped by a filter. Solids that will not pass through a specific size filter (i.e., 0.45µm filter) are referred as the portion called total suspended solids (Woodard & Curran, Inc., 2006). To measure TSS, the water sample is filtered through a pre-weighed filter. The residue retained on the filter is then dried in an oven at 103–105°C until the weight of the filter no longer changes (Ismail et al., 2019).

Higher concentrations of suspended solids serve as carriers of toxics, which readily sorb to suspended particles, which reduces the treatment efficiency and operation of industrial processes. (Spellman, 2003). The excess of this parameter also decreases the light through the waters slowing photosynthesis by aquatic plants. Additionally, water will heat up more rapidly and hold more heat when higher TSS concentration is present, which in turn, might adversely affect aquatic life that has adapted to a lower temperature regime (EPA, 2012).

## 2.10.7 Water Temperature

Water temperature is a measure of the water molecule kinetic energy and is expressed in degrees Fahrenheit (°F) or Celsius (°C). Temperature is considered a critical water quality and environmental parameter as it governs all types of aquatic life, regulates the maximum dissolved

oxygen concentration of the water, and influences the rate of chemical and biological reactions (Oram, 2012). Elevated temperatures resulting from discharges of heated water may have a significant ecological impact (SMWW,2020a).

## 2.10.8 Dissolved Oxygen

Dissolved oxygen (DO) is the amount of elemental oxygen (chemical symbol O<sub>2</sub>, molecular wt. 31.99 g/mol) dissolved in the water (Deacutis, 2015). In freshwater this parameter reaches 14.6 mg/L at 0 °C and approximately 9.1, 8.3, and 7.0 mg/L at 20, 25, and 35 °C, respectively, and 1 atm pressure (Patel & Vashi, 2015). When DO levels in water drop below 5.0 mg/L, aquatic life is put under stress. The lower the concentration, the greater the stress. For living organisms, a minimum of about 4 mg/L of DO should be in water (Patel & Vashi, 2015). As temperature and salinity increase, dissolved oxygen saturation decreases. Increases in atmospheric pressure increase saturation concentration of DO.

Dissolved oxygen concentration is not conservative and is strongly affected by biological processes such as photosynthesis and respiration (Deacutis, 2015). When water is eutrophic, a known consequence of it could be hypoxia (i.e., reduced dissolved oxygen concentration in water which stresses organisms), caused by blooms of blue-green algae (i.e., algae and/or cyanobacteria). In other words, this is caused when dense algae bloom eventually dies and microbial decomposition starts to occur, severely depleting dissolved oxygen in the water column, creating a hypoxic or anoxic 'dead zone' lacking sufficient oxygen to support most organisms (Chislock et al., 2013).

#### 2.10.9 Fluorescence Dissolved Organic Matter (FDOM)

Dissolved organic matter (DOM) is a heterogeneous class of water-soluble compounds that contain reduced (organic) carbon from a variety of biological and geological sources with a wide range of chemical reactivity (Hartnett, 2017). This organic matter consists of the elements C, H, O, N, P, and S configured into millions of different organic molecules and occurs in every compartment of the hydrologic cycle from oceans and rain to surface water and groundwater. Researchers commonly refer to the major DOM components in stream water as "humic" and "fulvic" materials (Lamberti, & Hauer, 2017). This DOM and its constituents' fractions can be

derived both from terrestrial sources external to the aquatic system (allochthonous) and from sources within the aquatic system (autochthonous) (Hood et al., 2005).

Between the DOM portions, some of those substances are called colored/chromophoric dissolved organic matter. Chromophoric dissolved organic matter (CDOM) is an important optically active substance in aquatic environments and plays a key role in light attenuation and the carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus biogeochemical cycles (Zhang et al., 2018). In other words, organic matter in water absorbs strongly in the ultraviolet (UV) spectrum, which is important in the nutrient cycle. Those substances cause color in the water and indicate that the environment has organic matter degradation. In addition, the fluorescent fraction of CDOM referred to as CDOM fluorescence or fluorescence dissolved organic matter (FDOM), has been widely used to trace CDOM distributions, sources, compositions, and cycles (Zhang et al., 2021) and has been used as a surrogate for dissolved organic carbon.

#### 2.10.10 Chemical Oxygen Demand

Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) is defined as the amount of oxygen equivalents consumed in the chemical oxidation of organic matter (organic and inorganic) by a strong oxidant (e.g., potassium dichromate) (Hu & Grasso, 2005). It is generally used to indirectly determine the number of organic compounds in aquatic systems (Islam et al., 2019). High COD indicates the presence of all forms of organic matter, both biodegradable and non-biodegradable and hence the degree of pollution in waters. The COD concentrations observed in surface water resources typically range from 20 mg/L or less in unpolluted waters to greater than 200 mg/L in waters receiving effluents. Industrial wastewaters may have COD values ranging from 100 mg/L to 60,000 mg/L (Chapman, 1996).

#### 2.10.11 Oxidation-Reduction Potential (ORP)

The oxidation-reduction potential (ORP) (abbreviated as redox potential) is the tendency measurement of an environment to oxidize or reduce substrates. ORP provides a snapshot of redox potential by applying a low voltage current to the sample (Pepper & Gentry, 2015). This is a measure of the ease with which a molecule will accept electrons, which means that the more positive the redox potential, the more readily a molecule is reduced (Doble & Kumar, 2005). Positive values for ORP indicate oxidizing conditions, whereas negative values indicate reducing

conditions (Myers, 2019). Redox potentials of less than -100 mV indicate anaerobic environments, while values greater than +100 mV indicate aerobic environments (Suthersan, 2001; Scholz, 2019). The inorganic oxidants include oxygen, nitrate, nitrite, manganese, iron, sulphate, and CO2, while the reductants include various organic substrates and reduced inorganic compounds (DeLaune & Reddy, 2005).

# 2.10.12 pH

The pH of a solution equals the negative of the logarithm to the base 10 of its hydrogen ion concentration,  $pH= -log_{10}[H+]$  (Blackstock, 1989). Being a measurement of the acid-base equilibrium and, in most natural waters. This parameter is controlled by the carbon dioxide–bicarbonate–carbonate system. An increased carbon dioxide concentration will therefore lower pH, whereas a decrease will cause it to rise (WHO, 2007). pH influences the position of the chemical equilibrium of the majority of chemical reactions in aqueous solutions (Głąb & Hulanicki, 2005). Also, the water pH determines the solubility (the amount that can be dissolved in the water) and biological availability (the amount that can be utilized by aquatic life) of chemical constituents such as nutrients (phosphorus, nitrogen, and carbon) and heavy metals (lead, copper, cadmium, etc.) (USGS, 2019).

## 2.10.13 Chlorophyll-a

Chlorophyll-a absorbs light in the violet to red spectrum (approximately 400-700 nm wavelength range) and reflects green light (500-570 nm wavelength), which imparts the characteristic green color to land plants. Being an essential component for oxygenic photosynthesis (NCBI, 2021) all land plants, green algae, and prochlorophytes possess chlorophyll-a (Tanaka et al., 1998). Chlorophyll-a (Chl.a) serves a dual role in oxygenic photosynthesis: in light harvesting as well as in converting energy of absorbed photons to chemical energy. No other chlorophyll pigment is as omnipresent in oxygenic photosynthesis as Chl.a (Björn et al., 2009). In water, Chl.a concentration is considered a proxy for phytoplankton biomass, in other words, a rapid increase of this concentration indicates an increase in photosynthetic organisms in the water column. This increase, in the majority of cases is caused by increased nutrient concentration and leads to issues such as hypoxia, high turbidity levels, and high dissolved organic matter.

## 2.10.14 Cyanobacteria or Blue-Green Algae (BGA)

Cyanobacteria or previously called blue-green algae constitute a phylogenetically coherent group of evolutionarily ancient, morphologically diverse, and ecologically important phototrophic bacteria. They are defined by their ability to carry out oxygenic photosynthesis (water-oxidizing, oxygen-evolving, plant-like photosynthesis) (Garcia-Pichel, 2009). Cyanobacteria are present in a wide range of habitats viz. marine, freshwater, soil, biological soil crusts, snow, cryoconites, etc. Further, they are found in symbiotic association with different hosts and also occur in extremely stressed conditions like volcanic ash, salted soils, and anthropogenically disturbed areas (Gaysina et al., 2019). In aquatic environments, cyanobacteria are important primary producers and form a part of the phytoplankton and they may also form biofilms and mats (benthic cyanobacteria) (Sivonen, 2009).

Wherever conditions of temperature, light and nutrient status are conducive, surface waters (both freshwater and marine) may host an increased growth of algae or cyanobacteria. Where such proliferation is dominated by a single (or a few) species, the phenomenon is referred to as an algal or cyanobacterial bloom (Chorus & Welker, 2021). Mass occurrences of cyanobacteria can be toxic as they can release toxins as byproducts (external toxins) or when there is cellular lysis as they die off (internal toxins). The mainly cyanobacterial toxins which have been present in the specialized literature studies are of three main types: hepatotoxins, neurotoxins and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) endotoxins. It has been reported that several animal poisonings have occurred and there is also a threat to human health (Sivonen, 2009).

## 2.11 CRITERIA FOR SURFACE WATER QUALITY FOR AQUATIC LIFE

Surface waters are extremely affected by the nutrient pollution and warming scenarios presented. In order to follow their status, federal, provincial and territorial authorities, in the case of Canada, must properly monitor them for protecting water quality and aquatic life. This monitoring is based on chemical, biological and physical parameters, where guidelines values are presented, and used to provide information about how the surface water quality change through time, and how to support water resource management.

In Canada, even though there is a federal guideline, every province has its own guidelines, based on the federal one or with other references. As the study lake is located in Quebec, the *Critères de la qualité de l'eau de surface* guideline from *Ministère du Développement durable, Environnement et Lutte contre les changements climatiques* (MDDELCC), have been followed, when possible. For the parameters not presented in the guideline federal guidelines such as Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME), the guideline of the Government of Canada (2008) was employed. For specific parameters not covered by both of them specialized literature was used. Guideline values are presented in Table 2.1.

Parameter	Form	Guideline	Source
Nitrogen	total	1 mg N/L	Government of Canada (2008)
Nitrate and nitrite	total	2.93 mg N/L	CCME (2018); Government of
	dissolved		Canada (2008)
pН	n/a	between 6.5 and 9 1	MDDELCC, 2017
Phosphorus	total	0.03 mg P/L	MDDELCC, 2017
Turbidity	n/a	10 NTU	Government of Canada (2008)
Chlorophyll a	n/a	8 mg/L	Government of Canada (2008)
Oxygen	dissolved	5 mg/L	Government of Canada (2008)
Suspended sediments	total	Maximum increase of 25 mg/L for high flow and turbid waters above background levels 4	Government of Canada (2008)
COD	total	20 mg/L	(Chapman & Kimstach, 1996)

Table 2.1: Water quality guidelines for surface water used in Quebec

# 2.12 WASTE MANAGEMENT FOR PLASTIC MATERIAL

Waste management is a conduit at the crossroads of inputs from producers, users, and outputs to environmental compartments, with the overall goal to clear the residues and reutilize cleared materials when possible (Rajendran et al., 2019). In other words, waste management is the step that should be taken when any residue is produced for proper handling and if necessary final disposal of it. For this matter, several waste management routes could be proposed and the chosen one will depend on the residue type, amount, and current legislation.

Waste hierarchy management set by the European Union Waste Framework Directive (European Parliament Directive, 2008) is also followed by the Québec Residual Materials Management Policy. The 4R-D says that on residual materials management priority should be given to source reduction, reuse, recycling (including by biological treatment or land spreading), other forms of material reclamation, energy production, and disposal, in that order. This means that any waste should primarily be minimized or prevented to exist and when this is not possible products should be reused as they are, or their materials should be recycled. If this step is not possible as well, waste should be recovered for energy, a good alternative to using fossil fuels or harvesting biological materials. The least favorable option for waste is to dump it in a landfill. As this is an important step on any project that is been applied in the environment, this topic will be briefly explained in the understanding of the possible waste routes on the highest quantity waste produced on this thesis, plastic waste.

Proper management of solid waste lessens or fully abolishes various adverse impacts on the environment and human health and supports economic development along with the life quality improvement (Hannan et al., 2020). In order to environmentally answer to this issue, sustainable waste management practices have been used, even though it is challenging due to our consumption behavior and changing socioeconomic conditions (Rajendran et al., 2019). This is a possible road being offered. As waste is composed of diverse materials, with different degrading times and behaviors, different routes need to be used for each component present. As the global political agenda now views plastic waste as a serious solid waste management problem (Hahladakis et al., 2020) ways of attenuating this issue need to be planned. With this understanding, the proposed method in this thesis, as sustainable tracks are going to be suggested, management of the residues produced, plastic waste, by this filtration process will be addressed.

#### 2.12.1 Circular Economy for Plastic Material

The current linear economy is based on converting natural resources into waste via production. This traditional model, in which goods are manufactured and then discarded as waste is according to the pattern of "take–make–consume and dispose of" (Landaburu-Aguirre et al., 2016). This is deteriorating the environment (Garcés-Ayerbe et al., 2019) due to the assumption that resources are abundant. In this view, an alternative model to the linear economy, which is considered sustainable, surges as a model to denominate the circular economy. A circular

economy (CE) is explained as an economic model of keeping resources in a closed loop by maximizing their consumption and minimizing waste (Yusuf et al., 2020). CE suggests an economic model regulated according to the laws of nature, interacting components networks, exchange of material and energy flows, recycling patterns, and environmental mimicry (Ghisellini et al., 2016). It is a perspective for how industries could deal with a lack of resources today and in the future (de Jong & Mellquist, 2021).

Focusing on the plastic industry that has been producing a prosperous durable material, it has in some way provided an evolution to diverse food packages, containers and textiles. In some way, the plastic that has been produced fifty years ago is still degrading onto the environment currently. In this view, a plastics circular economy needs to be proposed, being a prosperous economy that recirculates materials, keeping plastics out of the environment and in the economy. Using as an example the material used on the proposed remediation method as a filtration geomembrane (i.e., plastic) there is a need to change from our current linear plastic use model to a plastic circular economy model.

Using old materials or products as material or shared products is an excellent instrument that supports sustainability goals by improving raw material availability, decreasing environmental impacts, and also increases economic advances (Kalmykova et al., 2018). Particularly, out of the 17 goals mentioned earlier, sustainable consumption, production (SDG 12) and the conservation and sustainable use of the oceans, seas, and marine resources (SDG 14) are most relevant to plastic and plastic waste. Therefore, a greater focus is needed not only on reducing overreliance on plastics but also on finding ways to promote their circularity potential in the system, given that this is the best way of minimizing the environmental, economic, technical, and social impacts associated with plastic waste. In this view, the possible routes to be applied to plastics material produced in this thesis is going to be reuse. This waste management route prevents waste to be produced by extending the lifetime of the layers used.

## 2.12.2 Possible Waste Routes for Plastic Material

Plastic waste management faces severe challenges and opportunities worldwide, with regard sustainability awareness and technological advances (Kaur & Misra, 2014). Recent methodologies for this material are reuse, mechanical recycling, feedstock (chemical) recycling,

incineration, and lastly landfilling. In order to better understand the full subject, each route will be presented with possible details to guarantee that the choice made in the management of the possible residues generated for the lake water remediation technique proposed is the most applicable.

By contributing with the first R, reduction, could be explained as prevent waste to be generated, when this is possible. The second R is related to the reuse route meaning using a product again for the originally intended purpose or other purpose which this material can be applied with no or minimal modification. These options are only a form of lifecycle extension, rather than a true end-of-life scenario.

Recycling, on the other hand, is another method in which the plastic waste is converted into other usable plastic forms. However, in this method, energy will be consumed, and the plastic will remain as it is or it is converted into other forms (Shahnawaz et al., 2019). Plastic solid waste treatment and recycling can be separated into four major categories, primary (re-extrusion), secondary (mechanical), tertiary (chemical) and quaternary (energy recovery). Mechanical recycling is currently the most common method used to recycle plastic waste (Ragaert et al., 2017). The mechanical recycling of plastic waste consists of remelting the material, either alone or in admixture with raw material, to produce granules or finished marketable products, such as bottles (Payne et al., 2019). Chemical recycling is used to describe chemical processes which depolymerase and degrade plastic waste into monomeric units or directly into other useful materials (Lamberti et al., 2020).

Energy recovery involves complete or partial oxidation of the material (Troitsch, 1990), producing heat, power and/or gaseous fuels, oils and chars besides by-products that must be disposed of, such as ash. Plastic waste is considered a good fuel source because they have a heating value almost equivalent to that of the coal (Lawler et al., 2015). In the application of incineration, plastic solid waste can be reduced in volume by 90–99%, greatly reducing the strain on landfill (Lawler et al., 2012). If in plastic incineration the temperature is lower than 800 °C, the value required to completely burn off these wastes, this burning can produce a great number of dioxins. (Kamaruddin et al., 2017).

Lastly, the landfill disposal is seen as the last option for managing both hazardous and nonhazardous solid waste (Horodytska et al., 2019; Butti et al., 2018). Landfilling of plastic waste is considered the least preferable method because it requires a large space, reducing the landfill lifespan and causes persistent pollution complications. (Kamaruddin et al., 2017). As the

putrescible organics decay with time, the proportion of plastic waste increases since plastics do not decompose and thus their proportion of the total waste increases with time. After complete decomposition the waste body will be mainly plastics and inert materials which has implications for landfill mining (Owusu-Nimo et al., 2019).

#### 2.13 OVERALL SUMMARY

Presented in this comprehensive literature review, lake water quality has been increasingly deteriorating by human-made actions and/or climate change scenarios which subsequently cause eutrophication cases to intensify worldwide. Several methods are being suggested for the possible attenuation or remediation of this issue. However, most of these intricate techniques are chosen haphazardly and implemented by companies focusing on making profits affecting, even more, the environment, in which they are applied. Following sustainable thinking, more precisely the 3 SDGs deeply related to water remediation (i.e., SDG 6 clean water and sanitation, SDG 12 responsible consumption, and production, and SDG 14 life below water), a minimally invasive suspended solids removal technique, should guarantee the gradual reconstruction of the aquatic system in a sustainable way. Therefore, using the method presented in this thesis, geotextile filtration, it is hypothesized that by removing suspended solids, water deterioration will be reduced (i.e., most of the pollutants in the water are adsorbed onto the surface of suspended solids) and water quality parameters will be improved. Lastly, after remediation of lake water, wastes produced by this treatment need to be dealt with in a proper way. Possible routes were presented with a focus on strengthening the sustainability of the process and will be further highlighted, based on the circular economy.

# CHAPTER 3. NOVEL SUSTAINABLE IN-SITU PILOT POLYPROPYLENE GEOTEXTILE FILTRATION METHOD FOR ECO-REMEDIATION OF EUTROPHIC LAKE WATER

Pereira, Antonio C.<sup>1</sup>, Palakkeel Veetil, Dileep <sup>2</sup>, Mulligan, Catherine N.<sup>3, 5</sup>, and Bhat, Sam<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Concordia University, Canada

<sup>2</sup> Concordia University, Canada

<sup>3</sup> Concordia University, Canada

<sup>4</sup> Titan Environmental Containment Ltd., Canada

#### Abstract:

Climate change and human-made actions will exacerbate in the near future eutrophication cases on inland waters. By external or internal inputs, there will be an increase in nutrient concentration in those systems worldwide due to climate change extremes linked directly with environmental anthropogenic modifications. When excessive, those nutrients will bring faster trophic status changes to inland waters as lakes and possible cyanobacteria/cyanotoxin development followed by health, and recreational advisories. At this moment, diverse invasive technologies are applied worldwide for eutrophic lake water remediation, adversely affecting the lake biota in the water column and reducing its volume. A novel approach method for an effective, environmentally safe and economic eco-remediation technique using a floating filtration system, a silt curtain and geotextiles (woven and non-woven) as filter media. An in-situ water treatment methodology for the particulate nutrients and suspended solids removal is under study. This pilot in-situ experiment was deployed at Lake Caron, a shallow eutrophic lake located in the Sainte-Anne-des-Lacs municipality in Quebec. Turbidity, total suspended solids (TSS), total phosphorus (TP), bluegreen-algae-phycocyanin (BGA-PC) and chlorophyll-a statistically significant average removal efficiencies were of 53%, 22%, 49%, 57% and 56%, respectively. Those removal trends prevented primary productivity, even considering the nutrients replenishment due to concentration gradient in natural systems. A strong statistically positive correlation was found with TSS and turbidity with variables that could represent particles (total phosphorus (TP), turbidity, chlorophyll-a). Using the management of surface water quality, in situ suspended particles and particulate phosphorus removal by geotextiles could be promising remediation for not only shallow lakes (average depth < 2m) but also for ponds, rivers, coastal regions, bays and other water types, to enable cleaner water for future generations.

Keywords: Eutrophication; Total Phosphorus Algae; Cyanobacteria; Suspended solids; Woven geotextile; Lake Water; Remediation; Surface Water

# 3.1 INTRODUCTION

Pressure on inland waters, more precisely on lakes, is expected to be increasing soon due to human-made actions and new climate change scenarios (LeMoal et al., 2019; Yindong et al., 2021 and Woolway & Merchant, 2019). Issues triggered by those new variables or mechanisms will age lakes more quickly and will bring potential recreational and drinking advisories due to high cyanobacteria productivity along with harmful toxin production (Freeman et al., 2020; Yindong et al., 2021 and Burford et al., 2020). Also, in some cases lake anoxia, lake volume reduction (Braga & Becker 2020) and lake browning (Hayden et al., 2019; Meyer-Jacob et al., 2019 and Kritzberg et al., 2020) will result.

Actual driving forces for this succession and eutrophication are expected to be exacerbated by extreme weather events (Paerl et al., 2019; Jeppesen et al., 2021) and actual consuming behaviours (Eimers et al., 2020). In other words, not only events like storms, recordbreaking rainfall events, heat waves, prolonged droughts tropical cyclones and hydrological manipulation of waterbodies but also land-use changes, deforestation and fertilizer (over)use will probably produce more eutrophic waters than before.

Those processes will increase organic matter input from point and non-point sources within inland waters by catchment (e.g., watershed runoff after increased precipitation) (Sinha et al., 2017; Huo et al., 2019; Stockwell et al., 2020) and increase internal nutrient lake release due to lake warming (Yindong et al., 2020; Woolway & Merchant, 2019) bringing physical mixing of the water column and sediment resuspension. Higher organic matter presence due to degradation should be observed as well (Zhang et al., 2019b; Senar et al., 2021), and increased input by human activities (e.g., sewage discharge and fertilizer/detergent use) (Le Moal et al., 2019).

In the rising nutrient pool mentioned, within lake ecosystems, phosphorus is often the limiting nutrient related to trophic level changes and a determinant factor for eutrophication (Knoll et al., 2016; Kong et al., 2019). While nitrogen may be retained or lost to the atmosphere in gaseous forms by denitrification (e.g., N<sub>2</sub>, NH<sub>3</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O) in shallow lake systems, due to higher sediment area to water volume ratios (Paerl et al., 2020; Maberly et al., 2020).

Furthermore, within the lake water column, the phosphorus form found is of crucial importance. While phosphorus from catchments is partly in the particulate form that possibly settle in the water column and are only used by phytoplankton if released (Sandström et al., 2020; Zhang

et al.,2019b), internal loads in lakes are predominantly in the dissolved form directly and bioavailable for algal/cyanobacteria growth (Bormans et al., 2015). As a result, it is compulsory to propose removal methods for external and internal phosphorus loads exacerbated in lakes due to climate change and human actions, a challenge to be achieved by nations by 2030 as described in SDG (Sustainable Development Goals) number 6 (i.e., clean water and sanitation) on of the UN (United Nations) agenda.

Numerous intrusive remediation methodologies are used for this removal such as hypolimnetic aeration (Niemistö et al., 2020; Ruuhijärvi et al., 2020), sediment dredging (Jing et al., 2019), lanthanum-modified bentonite addition (Spears et al., 2015; Waajen et al., 2017), cement addition (Liu et al., 2020), and aluminum addition (Huser et al., 2016; Agstam-Norlin et al., 2020). These remediation approaches can adversely affect the lake biota in the water column, and in some cases are very costly (Lürling et al., 2016) and also can reduce the lake volume, in the case of additives or sorbents and should not be used as in situ remedial options.

Consequently, in-lake non-invasive and sustainable remediation techniques need to be proposed. These in-situ methods should be effective, in reducing those nutrients, if possible, for the entire recreational season, environmentally safe, relatively easy to apply, and should not be too expensive (Lürling & Mucci, 2020). With this understanding, geotextiles have been employed as membranes for inland water remediation for particulate nutrient and suspended solids removal by filtration (Palakkeel et al., 2021; Pereira et al., 2020; Mulligan et al., 2009), indicating their strong potential as a flexible, potentially economically efficient and reactive environmental remediation that can be implanted at shallow lakes and other surface water types.

To this date there is no similar in-situ treatment being proposed for remediation of lake water. This in-situ pilot experiment can potentially be used for remediating the surface water quality of a shallow eutrophic lake, Lake Caron, study lake on this project. It uses custom-made woven and non-woven geotextiles as a filter media in an active floating filtration unit straightforwardly deployed inside a turbidity curtain enclosed area. By removing suspended solids, it is hypothesized an indirect reduction in nutrient availability. This will decrease in the lake system the eutrophication likelihood and will suppress algal/cyanobacteria blooms in an environmentally safe way. Thus, the main objectives of this study are to present the daily monitoring of lake water quality, over the 69-day experiment deployment, evaluate the effectiveness of geotextiles in-situ floating filtration unit, correlate variables for better remediation understand and to present the potential applicability and challenges for inland water Eco remediation.

# 3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 3.2.1 Study Area

The present study focused on improving the Lake Caron water quality (45°50'28"N; 74°08'50"W), a shallow eutrophic lake located in the *Sainte-Anne des-Lacs* municipality in Québec situated around 75 km north from downtown Montréal in the *Laurentian* Mountains. The lake is located in the *Lac Ouimet* watershed mainly occupied with wild trees and a few residents (Coutore et al., 2013), represented in a graphic map on Figure 3-1 with sampling stations and households.

Lake Caron has maximum, minimum and average depths of 2.6, 0.5 and 1.4 m, respectively and approximate surface area and water volume of 35,300 m<sup>2</sup> and 48,400 m<sup>3</sup> (ABVLacs Org. 2018). The average annual temperature of *Sainte-Anne des-Lacs* is 2.6 °C (-20 - 24 °C), and the average annual precipitation is 1039.2 mm.



Figure 3-1: Lake Caron with sampling stations and households

This lake is an artificial and closed water body where the main sources of water renewal are precipitation, surface runoff and snow. Its renewal time is 0.86 years and flows to a large lake, *Lac Ouimet*. Lake Caron has exhibited floating algal/cyanobacteria biomass every summer since 2008, and it is currently with a swimming advisory. The Quebec *Réseau de surveillance volontaire des lacs* (RSVL) report (MELCC 2018) recommends adoption of measures to limit nutrient inputs for avoiding further degradation of and loss of uses.

Regarding phosphorus input in this lake, while external phosphorus loading on the lake is linked to possible septic tank discharges and decomposition of vegetation in the water. Internal loading is associated with past lake enlarging with incomplete tree cutting (i.e., stumps and roots remaining within the lake), and phosphorus sediment release. In some parts of the lake, sediment phosphorus concentrations varied between 908-1310 mg/kg (Palakkeel et. al. 2018).

# 3.2.2 Pilot In-situ Geotextile Filtration Setup

The pilot in-situ filtration deployment was based on two enclosed circular areas inside the lake, delimited with floating turbidity curtains (14.6 m x 1.2 m) (L x W), approximately with same diameter of 1.54 m (Figure 3-2 (a)). One of the enclosed areas was used for the experiment control and the other one was where the floating filtration unit was deployed. The location chosen near station 4, represented by St. D in Figure 3-1 due to the accumulation of cyanobacteria colonies in this area and easy access for sampling and maintenance.

Turbidity curtains were provided by Titan Environmental Containment Inc., to contain and control suspended solids including the algae/cyanobacteria and fine sediment particles within the enclosures. By employing enclosing areas, the project wanted to investigate how the presence of continuous geotextile filtration will modify the water quality parameters in this natural system.

The filtration unit was made of Plexiglas, Figure 3-2 (b) with possible details, an open square vessel, with a galvanized copper grid at the base to support the filters with dimensions of  $30.5 \times 30.5 \times 20$  cm (W x L x H). Additionally, a Plexiglas frame wall of 20 cm height which were fixed individually by clamps for preventing the filter membrane from moving while deployed. The material type and open unit style was chosen to provide easy filter media access as well as to follow the geotextile clogging status.

The whole unit was tied up and floated with the aid of an inflated synthetic rubber tube, Figure 3-2 (c) represents the in-situ deployment. Also, for water recirculation on the filters two submersible water pumps (DC 12V, 4.8 W) having flow rates of 240 L/h were used for pumping. The nearest outlet present provided electrical supply. Additionally, a plastic prefilter was used to guarantee that the pumped water was uniformly distributed in the geotextile. All treated water was returned to the enclosed area and the filtration unit was able to move freely inside the contained water.



Figure 3-2: (a) In-situ filtration setup (b) Schematic of floating filtration unit (c) Actual in-situ deployment.

# 3.2.3 Filter Media

(c)

One non-woven (TE-GTT170) and one woven (TE-GMW35) custom-made geotextile filters were developed and received from Titan Environmental Containment Ltd., MB to be employed as a filtration media in this in-situ lake remediation project, for suspended particle and nutrient removal. In addition, those geotextiles were combined with a commercial mesh (CM) used as prefiltration layer. In Table 3-1, geotextile physical characteristics (based on the datasheets obtained from Titan Environmental Containment Ltd.) and CM are detailed.

Filters	Material	Apparent Opening Size (AOS) (µm)	Flow rate (L/m <sup>2</sup> /min)	Permittivity (sec <sup>-1</sup> )	Mass per unit area $(g/m^2)$
Commercial	-	900-450 μm	-	1.62	180
Mesh					
TE-GMW35	aPP	425 μm	2039	0.70	
TE-GTT170	<sup>a</sup> PP	350 µm	4800	-	350

Table 3.1: Woven and non-woven geotextile characteristics used in this study

<sup>a</sup>PP: Polypropylene

TE-GTT170 is a nonwoven black geotextile filter made in 100% virgin staple, UV resistance, and thermally bonded polypropylene (PP) fibers with 350  $\mu$ m apparent opening size (AOS). The TE-GMW35 (AOS: 425  $\mu$ m) is a multifilament woven geotextile gray/black colour, made in 100% virgin high tenacity polypropylene fibers with UV resistance and resistant to biological degradation. Those geotextiles were dimensionally stable fabric highly flexible and outstanding material for use a filtration membrane. Lastly, the CM is composed of PP was only employed as a layer for removing large material present in the water that is not suspended solids and can affect the geotextile filtration performance.

For filtration experiment, geotextiles and CM was cut to a 30 cm square and arranged in descending order of their AOS with combinations, when necessary, Figure 3-3 presents the woven and nonwoven geotextiles before the filtration process. Filter selection and combination were based on the previous on-site experiment during 2017-2018 and the particle size distribution in the contained filter area. The combination proposed were 1 layer of the CM, 4-5 layers of TE-GMW35 with the addition of one TE-GTT170 when found needed. The set of filter layers was entirely changed every week or when clogged, whichever occurred first. Also, these filter combinations mentioned, from 5 to 7 layers, were used throughout the entire experiment.



Figure 3-3: Geotextiles and mesh used in the experiment: (a) woven geotextile TE-GMW35 – AOS: 425μm (b) CM and (c) non-woven geotextile TE-GTT170 – AOS: 350 μm before the filtration process

# 3.2.4 Field Sampling and Experiment Sampling

Field sampling was performed throughout the entire lake at selected stations (St. S, St. 1, St. 4, St.7, St.8 and St.9) over the 2019 summer/fall to access the water quality of this shallow eutrophic lake water. In addition, during the filtration experiment deployment, water samples were collected from each contained area, each 2-3 days, for capturing the variations in the water quality. Water samples in this project were collected in 50 ml sterilized polypropylene test tubes (chemical analysis) and previously cleaned 1L high-density polyethylene (HDPE) amber bottles (physical analysis). Both of them were stored at 4°C in the dark before any physical-chemical analysis and they were performed within 48h.

# 3.2.5 Water Quality Analysis

Water samples were analyzed for the following parameters: particle size analysis (PSA), total suspended solids (TSS), total phosphorus (TP), total nitrogen (TN), nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>), chemical oxygen demand (COD), pH, dissolved oxygen (DO), temperature (Temp.), oxidation-reduction potential (ORP), conductivity, turbidity, total dissolved solids (TDS), chlorophyll a (Chl.a) and blue-green algae-phycocyanin (BGA-PC).

Test kits from Hach Chemicals were used for accessing TP (Method 10209 - SM 4500-PE - Ascorbic Acid Method), TN (TNT 826, Method 10208, persulfate digestion), NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (TNT 835, Method 10206, dimethyl phenol method) and COD (TNT 820, Method 10221, reactor digestion method). In triplicate with a blank and two standards (within the lake water concentration) for each chemical analysis run to maintain results reproducibly. For those parameters analyses except for nitrate, which did not require heat digestion, water samples were first acid digested with its proper

detailed method on a Hach DRB 200 heating block and after cooling down measured in a Hach DR 2800 UV–Vis spectrophotometer.

For measurements of pH, dissolved oxygen (DO), temperature (Temp.), oxidationreduction potential (ORP), conductivity, turbidity, total dissolved solids (TDS), chlorophyll-a (Chl.a) and blue-green algae-phycocyanin (BGA-PC) during the whole experiment two YSI-EXO<sub>2</sub><sup>™</sup> multiparameter probes were deployed in each contained area for hourly measurements. Probes were checked every week for data backup, battery life, and sensors performance and calibration. Equipment long-term monitoring ensured by automatic antifouling wiper activation 10 min before each hourly sampling.

To evaluate the concentration of the suspended particles in the lake water APHA 2540 D method was used. Additionally, the particle size analysis (PSA) was measured using a laser diffraction particle analyzer (LA-960 Horiba laser particle size analyzer) on lake water samples.

#### 3.2.6 Data Analysis

All study variables were analyzed for descriptive statistics including means, medians, variances, maxima, minima, standard deviations, standard errors, and confidence intervals. After, to verify the existence of any outliers each variable was subsequently assessed. Data are represented as the means  $\pm$  confidence interval in the text.

To corroborate if there were statistically significant differences between water quality variables with filter presence and absence in the lake enclosed areas, the parametric test Student's mean t-test (p < 0.05) was used for normally distributed variables and the equivalent paired nonparametric test: Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-ranks test (p < 0.05) for not normally distributed variables. While the Student's t-test has the null hypothesis: water quality variable means with the presence and absence of the filter are statistically equal to the Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-ranks test (p < 0.05). It has a null hypothesis if the water quality variables medians with the presence and absence of the filter are equal.

As requirements for the T-student parametric test were violated (normality by the Shapiro-Wilk test (P <0.05) and homoscedasticity by Levene's test (P <0.05)), for the following water quality variables PSA (i.e., D10, D50, D90), TP, TN, TSS, pH, DO, Temp., ORP, Conductivity, Turbidity, Chl. A, BGA-PC from day 0 until day 69 in the enclosure experiment, on those the equivalent paired nonparametric test, Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-ranks test, were employed. In contrast, the T-student parametric test was applied for the variables nitrate and COD, which had normality and homoscedasticity.

Lastly, for the relationship verification between study variables, a correlation analysis was performed using Spearman's non-parametric test (p < 0.05). For this specific data representation, a heat map was used.

## **3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### 3.3.1 Lake Water Quality

Lake Caron is a mesoeutrophic lake in the middle range (20-30  $\mu$ g/L) in accordance with MELCC (2018) going towards the high range (i.e., eutrophic classification) in a possible near future. The phosphorus concentration in this lake is around  $26 \pm 1.6 \mu$ g/L with a maximum peak of 33  $\mu$ g/L presented in the summer. Overall results are presented in Table 3-2.

With a light brownish colour and mud odour, the amount of dissolved carbon substances fluorescent organic matter (FDOM) and total dissolved solids (TDS) within this lake is an indication that some biological degradation is still occurring. It is possible that the tree roots remaining there as well as dead algae/cyanobacteria from past blooms are further contributing to its ageing. This is also significant for Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) as is assumed to be mainly due to the dissolved organics present in this lake. In contrast, this water is well oxygenated throughout the summer-mid fall with a pH within the range for protecting aquatic life (USEPA, 2006) and positive ORP indicating an oxidizing environment.

Parameters <sup>a</sup>	2019
TP (µg/L)	$26.0\pm1.6$
COD (mg/L)	$23.6\pm0.2$
$NO_3^-$ (mg/L)	$0.20\pm0.02$
TN (mg/L)	$0.81\pm0.09$
TSS (mg/L)	$3.5\pm0.5$
D50 (µm)	$63.74\pm6.92$
D90 (µm)	$154.16\pm12.45$

Table 3.2: Lake Caron water quality during July-Sep., 2019

$\pm 0.42$
$\pm 0.67$
$\pm 0.43$
$\pm 0.04$
= 0.02
$\pm 3.37$
$8.89 \pm 13.17$
$3 \pm 1.35$
$\pm 0.56$
$\pm 0.05$

<sup>a</sup> Average of 7 samplings of 5 lake stations

<sup>b</sup> Average of 3 samplings of 5 lake stations

The turbidity presented in this lake, which is around  $5.82 \pm 3.37$  FNU is composed of particles with sizes of 50% (D50) and 90% (D90) suspended solids (SS) under <  $63.74 \pm 6.92 \mu m \pm and < 154.16 \pm 12.45 \mu m$ . This TSS concentration is increasingly affecting the transparency of this lake and is composed mainly of very fine sediments with particulate nutrients, and some disperse algae/cyanobacteria in the water column, two contributions to phosphorus internal load. When related to algae/cyanobacteria they are dispersed and tend occasionally to concentrate in large colonies near the lakeshore due to wind action.

TN concentrations and nitrate are under Quebec guidelines (i.e., MDDEP, 2012) for protecting aquatic life, which are 1.0 mg/L and 2.9 mg/L, respectively. Concentrations of heavy metals in the lake water (dissolved) and surface sediments are below the norm set for the protection of freshwater aquatic organisms in Quebec and Canada.

## 3.3.2 Filtration In situ Experiment

The in-situ experiment in this project filtered lake water, approximately 2.61 m<sup>3</sup>, continuously within the enclosed area for 69 days from August 14 to October 22 of 2019 shortly after the start of summer until the mid-fall season. The system ran smoothly without any

interruption during the proposed timeframe even though the project is located inside a natural system.

The experimental system checks of this proposed method (i.e., on daily basis) show the adaptability and reactivity of the filtration process and geotextile membranes to filter lake water in long-term projects. This was achieved by acclimating to quick water quality changes preventing increase in primary productivity. In lakes, nutrients can be constantly replenished into the overlying water from bottom sediments by the concentration gradient and sediment resuspension (Palakkeel et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2018a). Even with those mechanisms, the system was able to maintain its removal rate throughout the whole deployment. In the control-enclosed area, reported visible cyanobacteria colonies accumulation of possible *Woronichinia naegeliana sp.* occurred as can be seen in Figure 3-4, which was suppressed in the filtration area. Those are the cyanobacteria predominant species existing in this lake (Palakkeel et al., 2021).





Figure 3-4: Reported visible cyanobacteria colony accumulation in the control enclosed area

With approximately 7-8 days of filtering before changing the layers, the previously mentioned combination of 1-2 layers of the CM, 4-5 layers of TE-GMW35 with the addition of one TE-GTT170 when necessary were used. The entire deployment used 67 filter layers of TE-GMW35, 8 layers of TE- GTT 170 and 14 CM, totalling approximately 6.03 m<sup>2</sup>, 0.72 m<sup>2</sup> and 1.26 m<sup>2</sup> for each AOS, respectively. The in-situ experimental cost related to only geotextile membranes (i.e., not including the CM) was \$5.05 for treating 2.61 m<sup>3</sup> of lake water. Figure 3-5 presents one set of used geotextile filters after 1 week of lake water filtration throughout the experiments. Cake

layer formation was observed on the geotextile top layer due to initial ripening that happened approximately 2 hours after changing the filters. The layer formed by particle accumulation decreases the AOS on those geotextiles, permitting the filtration mechanism to be employed not only by the straining filtration but also depth filtration.



Figure 3-5:Woven geotextile after one week of filtration process for AOS order: (a) CM layer (b) TE-GMW35 first layer (c) TE-GMW35 second layer (d) TE-GMW35 third layer

# 3.3.3 Particle Removal and Size Reduction

By using this in-situ filtration experiment, it was hypothesized that the removal of suspended particles should be the first and most important, as it is the main application of any filtration system. This hypothesis was shown, by the efficiency and ability of this eco-remediation method for long-term project applications. In the deployment, there was a constant and representative removal of total suspended solids (SS) as the filter unit quickly adapted to changes in this natural system.

Statistically significant SS removal (p < 0.01) was observed in this project with an average value of 53%. After the fourth day of filtration, the removal trend was maintained in the experiment keeping the filter always below the control system as shown in Figure 3-6. By the end of the experiment, the control enclosed area has an average SS concentration of  $3.7 \pm 0.45$  mg/L and the filter enclosed area had  $1.7 \pm 0.51$  mg/L.

Even though the project only interrupts the SS content in the water column (i.e., using the silt curtain), within the natural system possible interaction of water and sediment as well as the curtain with the sediments have occurred, replenishing the SS into the overlying water from bottom sediments. In contrast, the floating filtration unit was able to quickly respond and maintain cleaning of the lake water. Additionally, by removing those SS particles present in the lake due to external or internal loads, there was the prevention of a possible future settling which can directly affect the nutrient and contaminates within the lake sediment.



Figure 3-6: Turbidity (FNU) and suspended solids concentrations (mg/L) for the in-situ experiment

Following the SS removal in the filtration enclosed area; there was also turbidity reduction as presented in Figure 3-6. The floating filtration unit was able to maintain an average removal of 49%, statistically positive significant (p< 0.01) decreasing, even more, the low turbidity of the lake. There was also a strong correlation between those two variables ( $R^2 = 0.833$ , p-value < 0.01). Instead, in the control area, a tendency of constant increases in the SS concentration and turbidity was captured. This was possibly caused by the reported visible algae/cyanobacteria colony accumulation in this area, to which decrease when the water temperature starts to drop due to degradation and settling. However, in the filtration-enclosed area, values went below 1 FNU shortly after the middle of the experiment was reached. This has shown the geotextile membrane filtration effectiveness at this lake water. The average values present in each enclosed area were  $2.02 \pm 0.05$  FNU in the control area and  $1.04 \pm 0.03$  FNU in the filter area.

With the SS and turbidity removal, a reduction in the particle size was also assessed in the filtration enclosed area as statistically significant (Figure 3-7). While in the filter enclosed area average values showed 50% (D50) and 90% (D90) of SS were  $< 28.40 \pm 4.87 \mu m$  and  $< 77.94 \pm 10.12 \mu m$ , the control area values were  $< 36.45 \pm 4.71 \mu m$  and  $< 154.07 \pm 9.33 \mu m$  respectively.

There was also a statistically significant positive correlation between D90 size reduction and turbidity on the filtration enclosed area ( $R^2 = 0.8543$ , p-value < 0.01). The reduction showed that particles between these D90 (i.e., 77.94 ± 10.12 µm > D90 >154.07 ± 9.33 µm) were the ones addressed by the geomembranes and possibly the ones with particulate contaminants and nutrients associated with them, as further evaluated. Particles below the D90 of the filter enclosed area (D90 < 77.94 ± 10.12 µm) were not removed by the geotextile combination chosen. For future applications of this eco-remediation in other water types, SS sizes and compositions present in the water (i.e., sizes of contaminated SS and sizes harmful algae/cyanobacteria) can be focused onto address custom-made geotextiles (defined by AOS) to use.



Figure 3-7: D50 (µm) and D90 (µm) for the in-situ experiment

# 3.3.4 Nutrient and Organic Matter Removal

The removal and size decrease of suspended particles affected the nutrients and organic matter (OM) concentration on the enclosed filtration area, which was the project hypothesis. Most precisely particulate phosphorus and some particulate COD removal on the system was continually achieved by recirculating water on the floating filtration unit through the summer and mid-fall. A good positive correlation between turbidity and total phosphorus removal was found ( $R^2 = 0.6240$ , p-value < 0.01) in the system as well as COD and turbidity ( $R^2 = 0.6960$ , p-value < 0.01).

The TP removal was statistically representative (p < 0.01) with a 22% average removal shown in Figure 3-8. The water that was near to the limit of being considered eutrophic water (average concentration on the control enclosed area  $29.0 \pm 1.5 \ \mu g/L$ ) was reduced to the limit of mesoeutrophic going towards the mesotrophic (filter enclosed area  $22.7 \pm 1.4 \ \mu g/L$ ). By regulating primary production, the limiting nutrient for this lake was considered phosphorus, which was reduced by this geotextile membrane filtration. The maximum value reported in the control area was  $37.0 \pm 1.5 \ \mu g/L$ .

In contrast, throughout the experiments, no significant statistical change in the concentrations of TN and nitrate was observed, as they were mainly (>80%) in their dissolved forms. Lake water was already within the Quebec regulated guidelines for those parameters and the average value for both enclosed areas was kept below the values presented. For TN concentrations the values were  $1.03 \pm 0.06$  and  $1.08 \pm 0.06$  mg/L, in the control and filter enclosed area, respectively. In relation with nitrate, the average levels were of  $0.236 \pm 0.02$  mg/L in the control area and  $0.234 \pm 0.02$  mg/L in the filter area.



Figure 3-8: TP concentrations (µg/L) and TN concentrations (mg/L) for the in-situ experiment

For the removal of organic matter, it is necessary to explain the trends of other system parameters that can affect the concentration of organic matter being dissolved or particulate. Those variables that will be assessed are pH, conductivity, water temperature and DO.

Strong statistical positive correlated parameters, conductivity and water temperature presented similar behaviour ( $R^2 = 0.997$ , p-value < 0.01) denoted in Figure 3-9. On the whole deployment, there was no significant difference in those parameters between the two enclosed areas. The average values presented was  $16.3 \pm 0.27$  °C and  $21.24 \pm 0.16 \mu$ S/cm. The maximum water temperature on the experiment was reached on the first days of the experiment when its value has reached 21.8 °C, which has stimulated primary productivity. After the middle of the experiment, the water temperature started to decrease, as the summer season was close to the end, and the trend on conductivity followed the same path, as the quantity of salts dissolved in the water decreased.



Figure 3-9: Conductivity concentrations (µS/cm) and water temperature (°C) for the in-situ experiment

The average pH in the enclosed areas was  $6.73 \pm 0.01$  in the control and  $6.51 \pm 0.01$  in the filter area, which is in recommended range (pH 6.5–9) as shown in Figure 3-10, for protecting aquatic organisms in surface water in Canada by CCME (2008). Slight modifications in the control area pH could be associated with cyanobacteria existence (Lürling et al., 2016) within this area. When related to dissolved oxygen, it was characterized by a short increase, after the water temperature drop, at the middle of the experiment. Temperature is inversely correlate with the dissolved oxygen (DO), in other words, when the temperature is lower a higher amount of oxygen can be dissolved in the water. Those variables were statistically negatively (R2 = -0.9755, p-value < 0.01) correlated. In addition, a trend of higher DO was observed in the enclosed filter area (10.53  $\pm$  0.07 mg/L) compared to the control area (10.08  $\pm$  0.06 mg/L). This was associated the continuous mixing by the pump intake and treated water return to the lake, which can input some oxygen in the water.



Figure 3-10: pH and dissolved oxygen concentrations (mg/L) for the in-situ experiment

Particle removal did not strongly affect the organic matter concentration in the system as previously explained; the majority of them is assumed to be mainly due to the dissolved organics present in this lake. For COD removal, some removal in this experiment could be associated with COD particulate removal by the geotextile membranes or some dissolved COD removal by filter cake layer formed in about 2 hours after layer changes (i.e., filter ripening), and kept for at least 7 days before changes. Those mechanisms preserve the enclosed filter area below the control.

Sufficient oxygen was present in the system due to water mixing in the filter area unit. This has allowed continuous dissolved substance oxidation even though this did not allow any further increase in the lake's entire system as shown in Figure 3-11. Different behaviour was observed in the control unit area, which constantly increased, even after the experiment middle when the temperature dropped and DO increased. At that time cyanobacteria colonies started to perish, settling at the bottom and started decomposing (i.e., releasing dissolved organic matter and algae/cyanobacteria-sourced nutrients) in the water. As there was not any removal, this should explain the increase by the end of the experiment. This trend corroborates the nonexistence of algae/cyanobacteria in the filter-enclosed area. Average values on the experiment for FDOM and COD were  $38.42 \pm 0.09$  QSU (quinine sulphate units) and  $24.24 \pm 0.59$  mg/L for the filter and  $43.93 \pm 0.13$  QSU and  $26.10 \pm 0.63$  mg/L for the control, respectively.



Figure 3-11: COD concentrations (mg/L) and FDOM concentrations (QSU) for the in-situ experiment

# 3.3.5 Algae/Cyanobacteria Removal

By removing particles, decreasing their size, addressing particulate nutrients prevent them to settle and possibly being available in the water column for easy uptake by harmful plankton the geotextiles were effective. The floating filtration in-situ unit was able to maintain a nutrient removal trend, even though it has been constantly replenished within the natural system. It suppressed any algae/cyanobacteria development, as presented in Figure 3-12. Some days after the middle of the experiment when the water temperature started to drop, an insurgence of chlorophyll-a followed by an increase in BGA in the control area could be observed. This could be explained that as the water temperature decreased some algae/cyanobacteria who were not acclimated with this condition have deceased and the ones that remained needed to adapt to the new conditions.

The average values for chlorophyll-a were  $7.30 \pm 0.09 \ \mu\text{g/L}$  for the control enclosed area and  $3.13 \pm 0.08 \ \mu\text{g/L}$  for the filter area, which represents a statistically significant removal of 57% (p < 0.01). As visible algae/cyanobacteria formation was not observed in the filter area, similar removal trends in the deployment for TSS, turbidity and particulate TP. All of them were found to be statistically correlated with chlorophyll-a and explained the absence of primary productivity. For BGA removal, which was 56% (p < 0.01) in the system, explained directly the cyanobacteria development, which was observed on the control but not in the filter area, as shown in Figure 3-12. The average values for BGA were  $0.51 \pm 0.01 \ \mu\text{g/L}$  for the control enclosed area and  $0.23 \pm 0.01 \ \mu\text{g/L}$  for the filter area. This is the final corroboration of this in-situ geotextile filtration as a flexible, potentially economically efficient, reactive and environmentally safe remediation in preventing algae/cyanobacteria formation for an entire season.



Figure 3-12: Chlorophyll-a (µg/L) and BGA-PC concentrations (µg/L) for the in-situ experiment

# 3.3.6 Spearman Correlations on the Experiment

The correlation analysis using Spearman's non-parametric test (p < 0.05) was chosen in a way to represent any monotonic relationship between two variables in the treatment proposed. In other words, the matrix presented variables that change with the same compartment but not necessarily at a constant linear rate. This relationship was used to assess how the filter enclosed area variables affect each other in this work. Spearman variables correlation matrix was represented with a heat map, in Figure 3-13, where not statistically significant correlations (p <0.01) are crossed out.



Figure 3-13: Heat map representation of the Spearman correlation matrix on all variables, not statically significantly correlation (p > 0.01) is crossed out.

Turbidity and TSS present excellent positive correlations with important variables of the filtration process intended to represent particle removal: D90, D50, TP, COD and Chlorophyll-a. In other words, all variables that could characterize particles in some way present a good and excellent correlation between them. This validates the in-situ geotextile process applied in which the removal of particles is responsible for the absence of algae/cyanobacteria, reduction of phosphorus levels and decrease of particle sizes.

Well known correlations in lake water were also presented in this study being conductivity and DO, conductivity and temperature, temperature and DO. Also, the water temperature was
strongly correlated with SS and turbidity behaviour in this process. This could be explained as particles absorb more heat if there is an increase in this variable due to lake mixing or other mechanisms water temperature will rise, which will cause a reduction on the DO concentration.

Negative relations were also presented in the system; one of the most representative was DO and Turbidity and TSS and DO. To better explain, as there are more particles in the water DO has decreased, as the dissolved oxygen was used in others processes in the natural system. The inverse was also true in this process when the removal of these particles, the main objective of the applied process, was to increase the dissolved oxygen content.

#### 3.3.7 Possibly Applications and Challenges

By this effective, environmentally safe and economic in-situ eco-remediation method other water types can be easily remediated with few steps. With the previous assessment of particle size, nutrient spatial distribution and nutrient concentration within them, turbidity curtains can separate highly contaminated areas, most of the cases are located near to shore were due to the wind action. Geotextile filtration as presented that can remove and prevent any health, and recreational advisories for the specific confined areas throughout entire seasons where primary productivity is higher.

Not only shallow lakes (average depth < 2m) can be focused on but also ponds, river sections, coastal regions and bays that have similar issues. As the filtration unit is easy to operate and maintain, the deployed system did not need a highly technician-trained person, which is a plus. Also, possible pre-filtration (with higher pore sizes) for any large debris removal is recommended before application of the water in the geotextiles, to prevent rapid clogging.

Operational costs of this method are associated with electricity for continuous pumping, which is about 68% of the total value. It is recommended for any future applications the use alternative energy sources as renewable ones (i.e., solar or wind energy), depending on the installed location.

Further investigations and development possibly addressed in near future will be the following: increased the enclosed area for the proposed treatment, application of other geotextile AOS sizes, geotextile layers reuse after high-pressure washing and natural drying, and uptake of dissolved organic matter by microorganisms using ceramsite (i.e., porous clay particles produced

with by pelletizing and sintering) as support media combined with filtration. Lastly, related to the captured sediment, in-situ dewatering of the SS captured by evaporation followed by assessment for direct application or final disposal.

## **3.4 CONCLUSIONS**

The in-situ experiment showed that geotextile filtration is an effective, environmentally safe and economic method for which SS and particulate nutrients can be reduced and algae and cyanobacteria development suppressed in an entire recreational season in lake water. The geotextile filter combination used allowed TP, TSS, turbidity and reduced particle sizes directly affecting the chlorophyll-a and BGA concentrations (i.e., primary productivity) on the system. Even though with constant nutrient replenishment into the overlying water, removal trends were maintained showing the adaptability of the applied methodology. Preventing particles from settling which could be possibly include harmful plankton, is strongly statistically positively correlated with TSS and turbidity, variables that represent particles in the system (total phosphorus (TP), turbidity, chlorophyll-a). The lake water was decreased to the limit of mesoeutrophic going towards the mesotrophic state with this filtration process. For future work, attention will be made to the clogged geotextile filter reuse by simple washing, dissolved COD uptake in the lake water and captured sediment dewatering and final disposal. Possible larger in-situ filtration pilot experiments will be assessed in this project.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

Antonio Cavalcante Pereira: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Dileep Palakkeel Veetil: Methodology, Investigation, Catherine Mulligan: Supervision, Methodology, Writing -Reviewing and Editing, Funding acquisition, Sam Bhat: Provision, Methodology

# DECLARATION OF COMPETING INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank NSERC and Concordia University for the financial support of this project. The authors are also grateful to their industrial partner, Titan Environmental Containment Ltd., for supplying geotextiles and providing technical and financial support for this project.

# CHAPTER 4. IN-SITU WOVEN POLYPROPYLENE GEOTEXTILE FILTRATION FOR ECO-REMEDIATION OF EUTROPHIC LAKE WATER: FOLLOW UP STUDY AT LAKE CARON, QUEBEC

Pereira, Antonio C.<sup>1</sup>, Palakkeel Veetil, Dileep <sup>2</sup>, Mulligan, Catherine N.<sup>3, 5</sup>, and Bhat, Sam<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Concordia University, Canada

<sup>2</sup> Concordia University, Canada

<sup>3</sup> Concordia University, Canada

<sup>4</sup> Titan Environmental Containment Ltd., Canada

## Abstract:

Human interactions synergically associated with climate change scenarios within inland waters are dated to augment eutrophication cases worldwide. Eutrophication is going to be amplified not only by warming scenarios but also anthropogenic changes in the environment. Warmer climates will cause water to increase its temperature, affecting stratification and water mixing which will modify biological and chemical process within it. Those circumstances when associated with human-made actions within inland waters will cause irreversible consequences. In order to attenuate this situation, ways to improve water systems need to be proposed. Diverse remediation methods are used for nutrient removal, in most cases, phosphorus input. Common approaches applied currently are highly technical, material and energy demanding, expensive and harmful for lake organisms. In this way, proper environmental remediation methods are being proposed, sustainable methods relaying on minimal invasive techniques helping waterbody own restoration process. With this consideration, the in-situ method established in the previous study with the use of a turbidity curtain, floating filtration unit and geotextiles as filtration layer has been employed in a follow-up application at the same eutrophic study lake (Lake Caron) with few changes on enclosed area and pump intake height. In this second year deployment of 76-days, the in-situ geotextile filtration experiment results were compared with first year study when possible. Turbidity, total suspended solids (TSS), total phosphorus (TP), blue-green-algae-phycocyanin (BGA-PC) and chlorophyll-a statistically significant average removal efficiencies were of 17%, 36%, 18%, 34% and 32% respectively less than the first-year results. Nonetheless need to be considered larger water volume being treated with larger pore sizes geotextiles in the same filtration unit. The experiment has sustained the hypotheses, suspended particle removal reduces particulate nutrients in the water column and suppresses primary productivity, offering the key components for the lake system to initiate its own remediation. Further studies will focus on extending the lake remediation study applying larger filtration unit, flow rate and enclosed area.

Keywords: Eutrophication; Total Phosphorus Algae; Cyanobacteria; Suspended solids; Woven geotextile; Lake Water; Remediation; Surface Water

## 4.1 INTRODUCTION

Due to human interactions within inland waters synergically associated with climate changes scenarios, eutrophication cases are dated to increase, worldwide (Cavicchioli et al., 2019; Glibert, 2020; Zhang et al., 2020). Being a natural response of increased nutrient enrichment, a contemporary water issue, eutrophication is caused where higher nutrient input is found in the water column. Nutrient enrichment those inputted in lakes from point and nonpoint sources of pollution. When increased, this nutrient enrichment will produce physicochemical and biological modifications leading to the proliferation of excessive algal blooms and macrophytes, anoxic conditions as a consequence of bacterial respiration causing breakdown of dead aquatic biota (Dubey & Dutta, 2019). In this way, the raised temperatures presented by climate change circumstances affect the thermal stratification, and as consequence, nutrient fluctuations on the water system, are favoring cyanobacterial taxa to regulate buoyancy in the water column (Bartosiewicz et al., 2019; Monchamp et al., 2017).

The main nutrients present in the water column which can favor those situations are the presence of nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P). Nitrogen is not readily absorbed by soil particles as phosphorous does, it exists in the atmosphere and may be removed through the process of denitrification (Chapra 1997) in the water. Phosphorus and phosphorus-based compounds, on other hand, are usually solids at the typical temperature and pressure range and are usually not soluble in water. This phosphorous strongly absorbs soil particles which makes dry deposition and erosion one of the chief sources of phosphorous in water (Dubey & Dutta, 2019). In other words, phosphorus is being strongly inputted in waters due to watershed interaction, and when present on it can be recycled from the sediment and dead aquatic biota decomposition. Two specific phosphorus forms are presented, dissolved and particulate, being the first one easily available for uptake by plankton.

As phosphorus is considered the limiting nutrient in primary productivity (Correll, 1999; Pant, 2020), diverse remediation technologies applied nowadays focus on its abstraction of the lake system. Being the most used methodologies sediment dredging hypolimnetic withdrawal, sediment capping, phosphorus inactivation in water and bottom sediments, and artificial aeration (Dunalska, 2021). Those remediation techniques are highly technical, material and energy demanding, expensive, and harmful for lake organisms. Additionally, in most cases, only the effects observed in the first few years after the intervention are described, and therefore little is known about the long-term perspective (Søndergaard et al., 2007).

In order to answer the raised issue by common remediation techniques, in-lake methods based on sustainable remediation are proposed. Those methodologies are based on presenting conditions for the waterbody's own restoration due to changes made in itself (Dunalska et al., 2021; Rosińska et al., 2018). By minimal invasive techniques, nutrients are removed, or lake biota is reconstructed in order to provide a healthier lake system. In this way, gradual reconstruction of the aquatic communities' composition, from phytoplankton and zooplankton to benthic macroinvertebrates and macrophytes could be observed after the application of those processes (Gołdyn et al., 2014).

With this understanding, geotextiles have been employed as filter membranes for inland water remediation, more precisely lake water filtration on-site and in-situ. By this process, particulate nutrient and suspended solids removal, by this minimally invasive technique, has been achieved suppressing primary productivity (Palakkeel et al., 2021; Pereira et al., 2020; Mulligan et al., 2009). Demonstrating the geotextile filtration as robust, effective, and reactive methodology which is also environmentally safe and economic remediation that can be deployed on shallow lakes and other water types.

The in-situ method being used in this paper is established on a turbidity curtain, floating filtration unit, and geotextiles as filtration layer, the same method used in the first-year application with few changes (i.e., related to pump water intake weight and enclosed area size). The technique cited and applied in this follow-up study has been proofed as a possible method for suspended solids and particulate phosphorus removal of enclosed areas on the eutrophic study lake, Lake Caron, located in *Sainte-Anne des-Lacs* municipality, Québec. Removal which in conjunction with reduced turbidity and particle sizes could provide suppression of primary productivity in the enclosed area.

As in any project or plan applied directly in the environment, proper follow-up needs to be done. The second-year study, the follow-up of 76 days, had closed a larger lake area and attempt to remediate it using a similar filtration unit and water flow rate in conjunction with only woven geotextiles of larger apparent opening sizes (i.e., 700 and 425 microns). Therefore, the objective of this paper is to assess the experiment deployment of in-situ geotextile filtration, in its second

year of application of 76-days. Presenting variables correlations for the process understanding and providing future insights on this method for inland water sustainable eco-remediation.

# 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 4.2.1 Project Study Area for Follow-up Study

Lake Caron (45°50'28"N; 74°08'50"W), a shallow eutrophic lake, in the *Sainte-Anne des-Lacs* municipality, Québec (75km north from downtown Montreal). An artificial lake and closed water body, shown in Figure 4-1, with the main sources of water replenishment being precipitation, surface runoff and snow.

This study lake has average, maximum, and minimum depths of 1.4 m, 2.6 m, and 0.5 m, respectively and approximate water volume and surface area of 48,400 m<sup>3</sup> and 35,300 m<sup>2</sup> (ABVLacs Org. 2018), represented in Figure 4-1 with sampling stations and households. Located in the *Lac Ouimet* watershed, mainly composed of wild vegetation and a few residents (Coutore et al., 2013. Additionally, its renewal time is 0.86 years and exiting to a large lake, *Lac Ouimet*, which has been possibly degrading by this eutrophic water.



Figure 4-1: Lake Caron map with sampling stations

Phosphorus loadings on the lake is linked to possible septic tank discharges and plants decomposition in the water, when related to external loads. Additionally, past lake enlarging with incomplete tree cutting (i.e., decomposing remains still within), phosphorus sediment release and algal deceasing/decomposition. This is the possible recurring reason causing bouncing algal/cyanobacteria biomass, every summer since 2008, which has placed this lake on a swimming advisory. Together with the MELCC 2019 report, under the Quebec *Réseau de surveillance* 

*volontaire des lacs* (RSVL) recommends adoption of measures to limit nutrient inputs for avoiding further degradation of and loss of uses.

#### 4.2.2 In situ floating Geotextile Filtration Setup

The floating filtration equipment used in this experiment was made of Plexiglas. Material and type of unit has been selected to offer easy follow up of geotextile clogging rate and filter media modifications. The open square filtration unit had the following dimensions of 30.5 x 30.5 x 20 cm (W x L x H) coupled with a base galvanized copper grid to support the filters; Figure 4-2 shows the unit. Additionally, a Plexiglass wall of 20cm height fixed by clamps was introduced for avoiding filters layer movement when the experiment is being deployed.



Figure 4-2: Floating filtration unit with specifications

The whole unit was tied up and floated with the support of an inflated synthetic rubber tube, Figure 4-3 represents the in-situ deployment. Also, for water recirculation on the filters, two submersible water pumps (DC 12V, 4.8 W) with flow rates of 240 L/h were used for pumping. The nearest outlet present provided the electrical supply. Additionally, a plastic prefilter was used to guarantee a prefiltration for removing larger debris, if presented in the water as well as to guarantee that the pumped water was uniformly distributed in the geotextile. All treated water was returned to the enclosed area and the filtration unit was able to move freely inside the contained water.

In-situ pilot filtration was based on the first-year study, with just a few modifications. Two turbidity curtains were used to contain suspended solids including the algae/cyanobacteria and fine sediment particles in a circular enclosed area inside the lake. By using enclosing areas, the secondyear project objective was accessing how the absence/presence of a floating filtration unit modifying water quality parameters in this natural system.



Figure 4-3: Schematic 3D view of the experiment enclosed areas

The two enclosed circular areas inside the lake, contained with floating turbidity curtains (14.6 m x 1.2 m) (L x W), had approximately diameter of 2.60 m each. (Figure 4-3) with 7.43 m<sup>3</sup> approximately of volume, when compared with last year it was more 4.82 m<sup>3</sup>. As in the previous year, one enclosed area was used to deploy the filtration unit and the other function as a control. The location inside the lake was similar, in order to have comparable results (represented by St. D in Figure 4-1). As shown in Figure 4-4, the location was chosen due to bouncing cyanobacteria colonies accumulation possible from *Woronichinia naegeliana sp*. in this area and easy access for sampling and maintenance.



Figure 4-4: Larger deployment in-situ for the follow-up studies showing the control enclosed area

## 4.2.3 Filter Media

In this filtration follow-up experiment, only custom-made woven geotextiles were used instead of the combination of non-woven and woven geotextiles used in the previous year. As the first year, they were developed and received from Titan Environmental Containment Ltd., MB. In Table 4-1 are presented, geotextile physical characteristics (based on the datasheets obtained from the company are presented with details). While the TE-GMW70 is a black woven geotextile, a multifilament, high tenacity polypropylene fabrics with UV resistance and apparent opening size (AOS) 658  $\mu$ m, the TE-GMW35 is a gray woven geotextile from the same material with AOS of 425  $\mu$ m. Geotextiles, highly flexible material were used as a filtration membrane.

Table 4.1: Woven geotextile characteristics used in this study

Filters	Material	Apparent	Flow rate	Permittivity	Mass per
		Opening Si	ze (L/m <sup>2</sup> /min)	$(sec^{-1})$	unit area
		$(AOS) (\mu m)$			(g/m <sup>2</sup> )
TE-GMW70	aPP	658 μm	2973	0.98	180
TE-GMW35	aPP	425 µm	2039	0.70	

# <sup>a</sup>PP: Polypropylene

Precut 30cm square layers were combined for experiments and placed on the floating filtration unit. The defined combination were always 1-3 layers of the TE-GMW70, 5-6 layers of TE-GMW35, and the number of layers was defined based on the first-year study results and following the particle size in the enclosed filtration area. Also, the TE-GMW70 were used in the plastic tray as prefiltration layer. Clogged layers were entirely changed every week or when clogged, whichever occurred first. Also, these filter combinations from 6 to 9 layers were used throughout the entire experiment. Figure 4-5 presents the woven geotextiles before the filtration process.



Figure 4-5: Woven geotextiles used in the deployment: (a) TE-GMW70 – AOS: 700  $\mu$ m and (b) TE-GMW35 – AOS: 425 $\mu$ m before the filtration process

4.2.4 Field Sampling and Experiment Sampling

Water samples were collected using 1L high-density polyethylene (HDPE) amber bottles (physical analysis) and 50 ml sterilized polypropylene test tubes (chemical analysis), stored at 4°C in the dark with analyses completed within 48h. In order to perceive water quality parameters modifications on the in-situ deployment, every 2-3 days, water samples were retrieved from both enclosed areas. Also, to access the general water quality in the entire shallow eutrophic lake, field sampling was done over the 2020 summer/fall seasons at selected stations, presented on Figure 4-1 (i.e., St. S, St. 1, St. 4, St.7, St.8 and St.9).

## 4.2.5 Water Quality Analysis

Samples were assessed for the following water quality parameters: pH, dissolved oxygen (DO), temperature (Temp.), oxidation-reduction potential (ORP), conductivity, turbidity, chlorophyll a (Chl. a) and blue-green algae-phycocyanin (BGA-PC), particle size analysis (PSA), total suspended solids (TSS), total phosphorus (TP), total nitrogen (TN), nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub>-), chemical oxygen demand (COD) and Fluorescent Dissolved Organic Matter (FDOM).

Two YSI-EXO<sub>2</sub><sup>™</sup> multiparameter probes were employed for water quality measurements installed in each enclosed area (filtration and control areas), during the entire test for hourly samples. The water quality parameters measured for its probes were: pH, dissolved oxygen (DO), temperature (Temp.), oxidation-reduction potential (ORP), conductivity, turbidity, total dissolved solids (TDS), chlorophyll-a (Chl. a) and blue-green algae-phycocyanin (BGA-PC). In order to ensure accuracy of the results, every week data backup was performed in combination with sensor performance, sensor fouling cleaning (additionally to automatic wiper) and system battery check.

Lake water suspended particles concentration were measured using APHA 2540 D method and particle sizes analyse (PSA) using laser diffraction particle analyzer in a LA-960 Horiba laser particle size analyzer. Test kits from Hach chemicals were used for evaluating TP (Method 10209 - SM 4500-PE - Ascorbic Acid Method), TN (TNT 826, Method 10208, persulfate digestion), NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (TNT 835, Method 10206, dimethyl phenol method) and COD (TNT 820, Method 10221, reactor digestion method).

For chemical analysis, duplicates with blank and two standards within the lake water concentration were used. Except for nitrate (which did not require digestion), water samples were first acid digested on a Hach DRB 200 heating block and after cooling down were measured in a Hach DR 2800 UV–Vis spectrophotometer follow specific method.

## 4.2.6 Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the dataset analyzed including measures of central tendency (i.e., means, medians, maxima, and minima) and measures of dispersion (i.e., variances, standard deviations, standard errors, and confidence interval) with verification and removal of any outliers (0.05). Data denoted in text as the means  $\pm$  confidence interval.

Statistically significant changes concerning water quality variables with filter presence and absence in the lake enclosed areas were evaluated using a parametric test Student's mean t-test (p <0.05) for normally distributed variables and the paired nonparametric test: Wilcoxon matched-pairs (equivalent T-student) signed-ranks test (p < 0.05) for not normally distributed variables. The Student's t-test has the null hypothesis that water quality variable means of filter presence and absence are statistically equal. Instead, Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-ranks test (p < 0.05), has null hypothesis which water quality variables medians mean with filter presence and absence are equal.

The T-student parametric test requirements were violated (normality by the Shapiro-Wilk test (P <0.05) and homoscedasticity by Levene's test (P <0.05), for all the following water quality variables in the enclosure experiment, expect from .... In the remaining variables, (i.e., D10, D50, D90, TP, TN, TSS, pH, DO, Temp., ORP, conductivity, turbidity, Chl. a, BGA-PC), equivalent paired nonparametric test, Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-ranks test, were employed. Spearman's non-parametric test (p < 0.05) were used to corroborate relationships (i.e., correlation analysis) concerning study water quality variables, a heat map was used for data representation.

#### 4.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

## 4.3.1 Lake Water Quality Second Year

At the study lake, related to nutrients, there was not a significant change on those parameters when comparing the second-year study with previous one, as presented on Table 4-2. Phosphorus concentration on the lake stayed on an average of  $28.8 \pm 2.2 \ \mu g/L$  with a maximum peak of 33  $\mu g/L$  in the summer. In accordance with the Quebec lake classification the lake has remained on the mesoeutrophic range. When associated with nitrogen, it is understood that the parameter is not a limiting at this lake system, as the value remained equal to first year in the range of Quebec guidelines (i.e., MDDEP, 2012) for protecting aquatic life, which are 1.0 mg/L. Nitrate, which is a component represented in the total nitrogen concentration, its value remained lower than the Quebec regulation of 2.9 mg/L.

Parameters	2019 <sup>a</sup>	2020 <sup>b</sup>
TP (µg/L)	$26.0\pm1.6$	$28.8\pm2.2$
COD (mg/L)	$23.6\pm0.2$	$24.0\pm5.5$
$NO_3^-$ (mg/L)	$0.20\pm0.02$	$0.30\pm0.05$
TN (mg/L)	$0.81\pm0.09$	$1.0\pm0.05$
TSS (mg/L)	$3.5\pm0.5$	$3.2\pm1.4$
D50 (µm)	$63.74\pm6.92$	$54.67\pm8.63$
D90 (µm)	$154.16 \pm 12.45$	$160.08 \pm 18.00$
YSI-EXO <sub>2</sub> Probe data	2019 <sup>c</sup>	2020 <sup>d</sup>
Temp (°C)	$19.7\pm0.42$	$18.2\pm0.20$
Conductivity (µS/cm)	$23.0\pm0.67$	$20.3\pm0.11$
TDS (mg/L)	$14.8\pm0.43$	$13.1\pm0.04$
DO (mg/L)	$10.2\pm0.04$	$8.37\pm0.03$
pН	$6.8\pm0.02$	$6.5\pm0.01$
Turbidity (FNU)	$5.82\pm3.37$	$3.24 \pm 1.35$
ORP (mV)	$+113.89 \pm 13.17$	$+498.38 \pm 3.86$
FDOM (QSU or µg/L)	$38.23 \pm 1.35$	$41.12\pm0.79$
Chlorophyll (µg/L)	$7.32\pm0.56$	$5.82\pm0.86$

Table 4.2: Lake Caron water quality during July-Sep, 2019 and July-Sep 2020

BGA – PC (µg/L)	$0.49\pm0.05$	$0.50\pm0.04$	
-----------------	---------------	---------------	--

<sup>a</sup> Average of 7 samplings of 5 lake stations; <sup>b</sup> Average of 3 samplings of 5 lake stations

Related to particles, turbidity decreased when compared with the first year, even though particles sizes remained similar to the ones found previously. Higher variance in the confidence intervals were found for TSS concentration, which can explain the reduced cloudiness in the water. Still related to particles, chlorophyll-a reduced in comparison to the first year. Dissolved oxygen was still available throughout and ORP indicates an aerobic environment. pH remained in the same range as well and thus did not affect any chemical reaction that could occur inside the lake.

Related to organic matter, chemical oxygen demand (COD) of this lake, was mainly assumed to be in its dissolved form, and did not present any significant variation on the lacustrine system in the second year. There is a constant replenishment of organic matter from decomposition processes which occur in the lake, this value has remained without alteration. Regarding the water colour (i.e., which was a light tea-like color) it was noticed in the lake water, as mentioned on the first year remained unchanged, despite previous algae blooms and some plants/trees that was not properly removed when the lake was created/enlarged.

## 4.3.2 Second Year Filtration In Situ Experiment

In-situ experiment was deployed from June 23, 2020 to October 07 of 2020 for a total of 76 days, despite the COVID-19 pandemic. This experiment had one more week than the first-year study, but still was between summer and fall seasons. The system operated without any major concern, continuously removing suspended particles and its associated particulate phosphorus. Deployment followed by daily operation, of the proposed Eco remediation, has shown the system possibility to maintain continuous removal rate for a second-year long-term project, in a larger enclosed area of 2.60 m when compared with the 1.54 m diameter of the first year. A constant removal rate was observed.

Using only woven geotextiles membranes with larger AOS, the filter run has maintained 7 days before requiring geomembranes combination change. The combination of layers sandwiched has consumed approximately 50 square filter layers of TE-GMW70 and 132 filter layers of TE-GMW35. If the 30cm square area is considered as, approximately 3.96 m<sup>2</sup> and 11.88 m<sup>2</sup> for each AO, this results a cost of \$29.70 when related only for TE-GMW35 to remediate approximately

7.4 m<sup>3</sup> of lake water. A floating filtration system was able to support a good particle and its associated parameter removal rate, during the whole experiment in this second-year study. Cake superficial development, on the geotextile, is shown on Figure 4-6, after one-week filtration. This filter ripening ensured AOS reduction by not only filtering the water from particle sizes (i.e., straining) but by forming a filter cake (i.e., depth filtration).



Figure 4-6: Woven geotextiles after the filtration process: (a) TE-GMW70 - AOS: 700 μm, (b) TE-GMW35 second layer – AOS: 425μm, (c) TE-GMW35 third layer – AOS: 425μm and (d) TE-GMW35 fourth layer – AOS: 425μm

Visible bouncy regulated cyanobacteria formation was observed possible cyanotoxin producing strains of *Woronichinia naegeliana sp.*, that accumulated at the shore due to wind action as presented in the Figure 4-7. Those organisms have gas vesicles, providing mechanisms to move up and down in the water column, which increases access to nutrients and other growth factors. No visible cyanobacteria formation was observed in both enclosed areas.



Figure 4-7: Bouncy regulated cyanobacteria that Lake Caron presented in the second year study

## 4.3.3 Total Suspended Solids and Turbidity Removal

Following the first-year testing of this proposed remediation technology for eco long-term project applications; this second-year study maintained the hypothesis for suspended particle removal, which includes the reduction of parameters. A larger enclosed area was used with a similar flow rate, filtration unit and geotextile area. Additionally, larger AOS woven geotextiles membranes were employed. Statistically significant TSS removal, shown in Figure 4-8. An average of 37% (p < 0.01) was obtained which was less than the 53% (p < 0.01) in the previous study. This has enabled water TSS concentration to be below  $3.0 \pm \text{mg/L}$  after the tenth day until the end of the test. In the filtration enclosed area, has the same behaviour as entire lake. By the end of the experiment, the control enclosed area has an TSS concentration average value of 4.23  $\pm 0.32 \text{ mg/L}$  and the filter enclosed area had  $2.67 \pm 0.37 \text{ mg/L}$ .



Figure 4-8: Turbidity (FNU) and total suspended solids concentrations (mg/L) for the second year in situ experiment

Removing particles, reduced the water cloudiness. Average turbidity removal in the filter enclosed area was of 17%, as presented in Figure 4-8, which was statistically significant (p< 0.01). An average of  $2.92 \pm 0.05$  FNU was obtained in the control area and  $2.42 \pm 0.03$  FNU in the

filtration-enclosed area. This removal percentage was lower than in the previous study (34%). However, there was an observed trend, as the control area was always higher than the removal in the filtration enclosed area. Also, this has shown that the floating system used was able to quickly respond and remediate the water despite suspended solids and nutrient replacement from due to sediment resuspension, and watershed runoff.

The control enclosed area particle size average showed 50% (D50) and 90% (D90) of SS as presented in Figure 4-9. They were  $< 52.85 \pm 7.47 \ \mu\text{m}$  and  $< 158.60 \pm 6.64 \ \mu\text{m}$  and  $< 54.57 \pm 6.26 \ \mu\text{m}$  and  $< 142.36 \pm 9.25 \ \mu\text{m}$ , in the control and filter areas, respectively. This can be explained as the SS removal percentage presented being not a representative removal as in the previous study, which removed all particles between  $154.07 \pm 9.33 \ \mu\text{m}$  and  $77.94 \pm 10.12 \ \mu\text{m}$ . Those particles as shown in the results of the first-year project are associated with particulate nutrients. In this year only, particles between  $158.60 \pm 6.64 \ \mu\text{m}$  and  $142.36 \pm 9.25 \ \mu\text{m}$  were addressed, leading to a lower in particulate nutrient. There was a statistically significant positive correlation between D90 size reduction and turbidity on the filtration enclosed area ( $R^2 = 0.56$ , p-value < 0.01) and D90 and BGA ( $R^2 = 0.64$ , p-value < 0.01). Explanation of this correlation can be that those particles were in the majority of cases, photosynthetic organisms like cyanobacteria, which were captured by the filter's layers.



Figure 4-9: D50 (µm) and D90 (µm) for the second year in situ experiment

## 4.3.4 Nutrient and Algae/Cyanobacteria Removal

Removal of suspended particles and associated particulate nutrient, prevents them from settling and enabling growth of harmful plankton. Associated particulate nutrient such as total phosphorus in the filter-enclosed area were reduced. In the previous study, the lake water that was at a eutrophic level (average concentration of  $29.0 \pm 1.5 \mu g/L$ ) but was reduced to the limit of mesoeutrophic going towards the mesotrophic (filter-enclosed area  $22.7 \pm 1.4 \mu g/L$ ) which has been represented a statically representative average removal of 22% presented on Figure 4-10.

In this, follow-up study, lake water TP removal has the same behaviour as the first-year study. Even this parameter presented a higher average amount in the control enclosed area of 34.1  $\pm$  1.2 µg/L, which is at the higher limit of the mesoeutrophic trophic level. However, in the filter area, where particulate nutrient was removed the average was 27.8  $\pm$  0.6 µg/L, as shown on Figure 4-10. The TP removal on this study, was statistically representative (p < 0.01) with a 19% average removal. No correlation between turbidity and TP removal as well as TSS and TP was found. This could be explained as not a significant number of particles were reduced and removed in the system for TP reduction.



Figure 4-10: TP concentrations (µg/L) and TN concentrations (mg/L) for the second year in situ experiment

As TN and nitrate were mainly denoted (> 80%) in their dissolved forms in this lake water previously, this remained unchanged on the second year. The average values of  $1.57 \pm 0.09$  mg/L and  $0.21 \pm 0.01$  mg/L for TN and nitrate in the control area and  $1.54 \pm 0.10$  mg/L and  $0.21 \pm 0.01$ mg/L in the filter area. Both parameters were still under the Quebec regulation guidelines and were not affected by the experiment. The Chlorophyll-a parameter in the filter area was always lower than the control area with average values for Chlorophyll-a of  $5.66 \pm 0.06 \,\mu$ g/L and  $3.85 \pm 0.05 \,\mu$ g/L for the filter area, which represents a statistically significant removal of 32 % (p < 0.01) (Figure 4-11). This was less than the first-year study that showed 57% chlorophyll-a removal. Any organism photosynthetic that grew in the system were constantly dying in the control area throughout the summer/mid-fall (i.e., returning to the bottom surface sediments to decompose) and the filtration system were able to suppress primary productivity at some level in the experiment. Total suspended solids (TSS) (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.61, p-value < 0.01) and turbidity (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.55, p-value < 0.01) were found to be statistically correlated with chlorophyll-a meaning that the suspended solids is mainly photosynthetic matter such as algae, etc.



Figure 4-11: Chlorophyll-a (µg/L) and BGA-PC concentrations (µg/L) for the second year in situ experiment

The BGA parameter in filter area was always below the control area as well. As commented, bouncy regulated cyanobacteria formation was observed in this lake water but at low densities. This has shown as the average values for BGA, which were  $0.45\pm 0.004 \mu g/L$  for the control-enclosed area and  $0.29 \pm 0.004 \mu g/L$  for the filter area, which represents a statistically

significant removal of 35 % (p < 0.01) which was less than the first-year study (57%). This could be considered as an indication of this floating filtration unit as a potentially environmentally harmless, flexible, and efficient remediation in removing algae/cyanobacteria development for an entire season.

## 4.3.5 Organic Matter Removal

Removing suspended solids on lake water, following the first-year study behaviour, the follow-up study results has shown organic matter removal as well (i.e., dissolved and particulate), but in a discreet way. Some parameters (such as DO, pH, conductivity and water temperature) are related to this removal and insights on them will be given first.

Water temperature was the same for both enclosed areas. Average values of water temperature presented was  $19.2 \pm 0.20$  °C for the control area and  $19.5 \pm 0.20$  °C in the filter area, with a maximum water temperature reaching 27 °C in the summer Figure 4-12. Temperature was strongly correlated with DO concentration (R<sup>2</sup> = -0.86, p-value < 0.01), Conductivity (R<sup>2</sup> = -0.98, p-value < 0.01), and pH (R<sup>2</sup> = 0.86, p-value < 0.01), which can indicate that changes in water temperature can affect substances dissolution, in the case of H<sup>+</sup> and salts, or concentration reduction, in the oxygen case. With the trends as water temperature, conductivity has followed a constant decrease throughout the experiment. This can be explained as the temperature decrease the dissolved salts quantity in water is affected. Average conductivity values were  $19.9 \pm 0.11 \mu$ S/cm in the control area and  $20.3 \pm 0.11 \mu$ S/cm in the filter area.



Figure 4-12: Conductivity concentrations (µS/cm) and water temperature (°C) for the second year in situ experiment

On this study, DO concentration in epilimnion water was on average  $8.47 \pm 0.03$  mg/L in the control area and  $8.24 \pm 0.03$  mg/L in the filter area (Figure 4-13). Related to pH, it remained between the recommended guidelines for protecting aquatic organisms in surface water (pH 6.5–9) in Canada by Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME, 2008) with not significant difference between enclosed areas. Average pH values were  $6.61 \pm 0.01$  in the control area and  $6.51 \pm 0.01$  in the filter area.



Figure 4-13: pH and dissolved oxygen concentrations (mg/L) for the second year in situ experiment

Fluorescent dissolved organic (FDOM) components on the water, as previously explained denoted for FDOM presented unusual behaviour, the filter enclosed area was always higher than the control. Average values of FDOM concentrations were  $40.9 \pm 0.09$  QSU (quinine sulphate units) in the filter area and  $36.6 \pm 0.05$  QSU in the control area (Figure 4-14). The behaviour was the opposite in the first-year study. This could be explained as the pump water intake height (i.e., deeper in the lake than first-year study) allowed oxygen introduction near to surface sediments brought dissolved organic matter to release.

By a constant oxygen input in the water due to water mixing and pumping, dissolved substances presented on the enclosed area were constantly released, but not mineralized. FDOM behavior was not entire captured by COD removal, presented in Figure 4-14, average COD concentration values were  $24.7 \pm 0.37$  mg/L and  $23.9 \pm 0.56$  mg/L in the control and filter area, respectively.



Figure 4-14: COD concentrations (mg/L) and FDOM concentrations (QSU) for the second year in situ experiment

Particle removal did not strongly affect the organic matter concentration in the system as previously explained. The highest proportion is assumed to be mainly due to the dissolved organics present in this lake. For COD removal in this experiment is associated with COD particulate removal by the geotextile membranes and/or dissolved COD removal by filter cake uptake (i.e., filter ripening). Those mechanisms allowed the COD in the filter area to be somewhat below the control.

## 4.3.6 Experiment Correlations

Correlation analysis using Spearman's non-parametric test (p < 0.05) was chosen in a way to represent any monotonic relationship between two variables in the treatment proposed. In other words, the analysis results will present variables that show the same behaviour but not necessarily at a constant linear rate. This relationship was used to assess how the filter enclosed area variables affect each other in this work. The Spearman variable correlation matrix was represented with a heat map, in Figure 4-15. Not statistically significant correlations (p < 0.01) are crossed out



Figure 4-15: Heat map representation of the Spearman correlation matrix on all variables for the second year in situ experiment

This follow-up study has the same performance as the previous one, where variables that can characterize particles presented excellent correlation with turbidity and TSS removal, as they have presented with themselves. Variables like D90, BGA, COD and Chlorophyll-a. This validates, even more, this in-situ geotextile process can be applied in a large, enclosed area for a long-time project to Eco-remediate lake water.

Strong negative correlations were found with DO and variables like turbidity, water temperature, COD, TSS and conductivity. This can be explained by the quantity of DO dissolving in the water is affected by the water temperature. Also DO can affect the number of suspended solids in the water changing its cloudiness.

## **4.3.7** Future Applications

By this second year study, it was perceived that even increasing filtration area but using the same flow rate and the same geotextiles membranes floating unit with just woven layers, the project showed good removal. Possibly continuously remediating the lake water in the enclosed filter area, average removal was reduced when compared with the first-year study. As there is less water to be filtered in the first year and the commercial mesh (CM) membrane (i.e., used as prefiltration on this project) presents fibre-like comportment in capturing algae/cyanobacteria, which has improved the filtration removal of suspended solids by employing the depth filtration mechanism.

In this second-year study, some lessons were learned, related to pump intake height, which could affect the release/oxidation of some substances in the lake water. A large, enclosed area will require the scale-up on the filtration unit, which will have a higher contact area for the membranes as well as will support for a higher flow rate pump. This requirement would be used to produce a further methodology for the potential the full-scale implementation of this remediation technique.

For further studies attention still need to be given to an increased enclosed area, application of other geotextile AOS sizes, and dissolved COD removal that should be done by continuing this investigation. Additionally, consideration will be given to the lake water dissolved organic matter characterization, understanding internal release mechanics within the lake water, geotextile layers reuse and solid captured assessment for direct application or final disposal.

#### **4.4 CONCLUSIONS**

In-situ experiment follow-up supported the hypothesis risen for suspended particle removal. Regardless a lower percentage was removed compared with the first-year study parameters by this continuous filtration. The filter combination used on this second-year study has allowed removal of particles, represented by TSS and turbidity that affected the chlorophyll-a and BGA concentrations in the system in addition to some particulate phosphorus. Strong correlation was found with parameters that characterize particles like turbidity and TSS removal and variables like D90, BGA, COD and chlorophyll-a. The lake water in the filter enclosed area was altered from the limit of mesoeutrophic to the limit of mesotrophic state with only this floating filtration methodology. For further studies, attention still needs to be the scale up of experiment as well as; lake water microplastics assessment and waste management routes.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTION

Antonio Cavalcante Pereira: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Writing – original draft, Dileep Palakkeel Veetil: Investigation Catherine Mulligan: Supervision, Methodology, Writing - Reviewing and Editing, Funding acquisition, Sam Bhat: Provision, Methodology

# DECLARATION OF COMPETING INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank NSERC and Concordia University for the financial support of this project. The authors are also grateful to their industrial partner, Titan Environmental Containment Ltd., for supplying geotextiles and providing technical and financial support for this project.

# CHAPTER 5. EXPERIMENTAL INVESTIGATION TOWARDS A CIRCULAR ECONOMY APPROACH FOR WASTES PRODUCED BY EUTROPHIC/MESOTROPHIC LAKE WATER GEOTEXTILE FILTRATION

Pereira, Antonio C.<sup>1</sup>, Palakkeel Veetil, Dileep <sup>2</sup>, Mulligan, Catherine N.<sup>3</sup>, and Bhat, Sam<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Concordia University, Canada

<sup>2</sup> Concordia University, Canada

<sup>3</sup> Concordia University, Canada

<sup>4</sup> Titan Environmental Containment Ltd., Canada

#### Abstract:

Eutrophication on aquatic systems is predicted to increase due to anthropogenic actions and climate change scenarios. These increased nutrients caused by point and diffuse releases will increase the internal and external loads mainly on inland waters. To reduce this natural ecological response to excessive nutrient enrichment, a method for phosphorus removal, the limiting nutrient, by a novel in-lake and on-site non-invasive sustainable remediation methodology is being investigated based on floating filtration using geotextiles as filter media. These processes will generate wastes, being the clogged geotextile membranes with captured suspended solids. In order to bring this treatment towards sustainability, using circular economy principles, waste management routes for those materials, more precisely reuse, are being proposed. This initial study aims to investigate potential reuse strategies for wastes generated by proposing a methodology, by washing clogged membranes in combination with dewatering captured suspended solids. The washing method was pressurized tap water inside with a gardening pump sprayer with no chemical additives. For the dewatering, natural and artificial evaporation were tested. Results have shown efficiency of the washing method, for removing visible membrane (woven or non-woven) clogging, with permeate flow rates reaching a value close to the initial process values. No geotextile fibre disruption was shown, enabling its possible reuse. Related to dilute liquid waste a high concentration of some heavy metals (manganese, zinc) and phosphorus were found. Further studies are going to be done to indicate if reuse is possible. No liquid waste concentration or mixing between the two types generated in this project (i.e., the liquid wastes generated by washing woven and non-woven geotextiles) is recommended as they could increase contamination and decrease possible waste management routes. Captured suspended solids presented a greater concentration than in liquid wastes, as expected. Some heavy metal concentrations (manganese < zinc < copper) and phosphorus, located in the solids were found to be above regulations. At the moment, the possible solid waste generated in this process needs to be further assessed for the inclusion of others waste routes in its lifecycle.

Keywords: Circular Economy; Nonwoven geotextiles; Woven geotextiles; Reuse; Membrane Fouling; Waste Management; Effluent; Suspended Solids

## **5.1 INTRODUCTION**

Eutrophication of inland and marine waters is a rising concern around the world (Le Molal et al., 2019; Jilbert et al., 2020) and will possibly increase in the following years due to climate change and anthropogenic actions (Glibert, 2020). By nature, this is an ecological response to excessive nutrient enrichment (Bonsdorff, 2021; Kadiri et al., 2021), mainly phosphorous and nitrogen for internal and external loads (i.e., point and diffuse releases) that threatens water resources.

Those eutrophication scenarios produce various issues on water, including reduction of transparency, harmful algal/cyanobacteria blooms, hypoxic "dead zones", fish deaths, increased organic matter degradation, water safety issues, aquatic food supplies disruption, cultural and social value degradation (Wurtsbaugh et al., 2019; Bhagowati et al., 2020; Chislock et al., 2013). In many cases, phosphorus the limiting nutrient for primary productivity, is present in those systems, and needs to be reduced. Therefore, its management is a more practical way to respond to this increased concern.

A novel in-lake and on-site non-invasive sustainable remediation methodology is being studied for removal of this increased nutrient in shallow lakes, that uses geotextile floating filtration. This method has been used for removing suspended solids and their associated particulate nutrients (Palakkeel et al., 2021; Pereira et al., 2020; Mulligan et al., 2009). It shows high potential as an economic, efficient, and flexible technique for environmental remediation. However, like any other activities, waste production needs to be dealt with. The main wastes produced from this treatment are clogged geotextile membranes and captured suspended solids. To increase sustainability for this treatment, those wastes should be addressed for further development.

The filter media used in this methodology, geotextiles, are permeable geosynthetics comprised solely of textiles (Wiewel & Lamoree, 2016) composed of thermoplastic polymers, such as polypropylene (PP), polyethylene terephthalate (PET) or polyester (Prambauer et al., 2019). A flat product that is dimensionally stable, and highly flexible which as been presented as an exceptional fabric material for use as a filtration membrane. On the other hand, suspended solids in the lake, are comprised in the majority of times of small particles and organic matter that tend to bind heavy metals (Kamzati et al., 2020), particulate phosphorus, algae and/or cyanobacteria.

Following the current economic linear model, business and industry are after, a linear model that is built on the premise of "take-make-consume and dispose of" (EU, 2014) assuming resources are abundant, available, and cheap to dispose of (Camilleri, 2019). The most convenient way of discarding these wastes would be incineration for volume reduction, with or without energy recovery, followed by final disposal, of used geotextile layers and dried captured solids, to landfills as inert material and hazardous material, respectively. Disposal of, even as an inert material is wasteful, environmentally damaging and costly (Landaburu-Aguirre et al., 2016) with the main impact caused by land occupation and transportation.

In contrast, there is another economic model following sustainability principles, the circular economy, based on minimizing waste and the use of resources. This model keeps these wastes in a closed-loop by maximizing the consumption and minimizing waste production (Moradi et al., 2019; Landaburu-Aguirre et al., 2016; Yusuf et al., 2020). The application of this principle brings different potential routes to these wastes, where the selected one should be the most environmentally safe with less energy and materials use. Potential routes are based on the 4R's-D, which are waste reduction (i.e., prevention), reuse, recycle, recovery and lastly final disposal. As waste generation from this project, will continue as the process is applied for lake water ecoremediation. Alternative ways for waste reuse need to be studied based on the circular economy and thus will be the focus of this study.

To prepare materials for re-use checking, cleaning, repairing or recovery should be employed (European Parliament Directive, 2008). Also, to allow this reuse, proper waste management principles, based on detailed characterization of the material are the initial and critical step to be applied (Lawler et al., 2012). This will determine if the potential waste management strategy proposed can be employed. Based on this premise, the aim of this initial study is therefore to investigate potential reuse strategies for waste generated after lake water geotextile filtration based on a proposing methodology for clogged membrane washing as well as dewatering the captured suspended solids. The main outcome of this will be a viability assessment. It will determine if this route is to be followed, what modifications to this process should be made or if any other route needs to be further assessed.

## **5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

## 5.2.1 Study Materials

Used filter layers were obtained from on-site and in-situ lake water filtration, from mesotrophic lake and eutrophic lake, respectively for two consecutive summers. The layers are composed of woven geotextiles for the in-situ project and nonwoven for the on-site experiment. The clogged geotextile layers were of different apparent opening size (AOS) sizes with captured suspended solids during the approximately 7-day filter run.

The woven membrane combinations used in the experiments were not the same over the two years of the project, the combination for the in-situ project was 1 layer of the commercial mesh (CM) in the first year and 1-2 layers of TE-GMW70 in the second year, 4-5 layers of TE-GMW35 with the addition of one TE-GTT170 was needed. In contrast, the non-woven geotextile filtration was composed of five membranes of different apparent opening size (AOS) (110  $\mu$ m, 100  $\mu$ m, 90  $\mu$ m, 70  $\mu$ m, and 65  $\mu$ m). The combination of 7-5 layers of both projects was washed using the method proposed. After washing, only the top and bottom layers of each combination were further characterized in this project. Figure 5-1 presents the non-woven geotextiles before washing.



Figure 5-1: Non-woven geotextile before washing process for AOS order: (a) 110  $\mu$ m (b) 100  $\mu$ m (c) 90  $\mu$ m (d) 70  $\mu$ m and 65  $\mu$ m

Raw geotextiles' physical and hydraulic characteristics (based on the datasheets obtained from Titan Environmental Containment Ltd.) are defined in detail in Table 5-1.

Table 5.1: Non-woven and woven geotextiles characteristics used in this study
---

Filters	Material	Apparent Opening Size (AOS) (µm)	Flow rate (L/min/m <sup>2</sup> )	Permittivity (sec <sup>-1</sup> )	Mass per unit area $(g/m^2)$
TE-GMW70	РР	700	2730	0.85	-
TE-GMW35	aPP	425	2039	0.70	-

TE- GTX300	<sup>ь</sup> РЕТ	110	3900	1.62	350
TE-GTN350B	PP	65	2700	0.56	350

<sup>a</sup>PP: Polypropylene <sup>b</sup>PET: Polyester

## 5.2.2 Geotextile Washing Proposed Method

The treatment proposed in this work was done with only pressurized tap water inside a gardening pump sprayer. As a quick treatment will be required in-situ when the experiment is deployed, it was by using the described method consider the most coherent, environmentally safe and easily applicable. No cleaning agents were used or planned to be used to remove the fouling on the geotextile, as this could cause further contamination of the liquid waste.

By using a 4L hand pump sprayer, which has a pressure of 45 psi, the tank was filled with 2L of tap water and pressurized by mechanical energy, shown in Figure 5-2. Any electrical energy input for creating a pressurized system not required for this equipment, reducing its environmental footprint. After the necessary pressure was reached, each geomembrane set was washed on both sides following a line pattern. About 200-300 mL were used to wash each geomembrane. The generated leachates were captured completely on a plastic tray. Washed membranes were left to dry at room temperature for 24 hours.



Figure 5-2: Proposed washing method on non-woven and woven geotextiles

# 5.2.3 Suspended Solid Dewatering

To reduce the liquid waste volume generated, the water content was evaporated at room temperature (i.e., 22 °C) in a plastic tray, during 7-10 days from 2 L to approximately about 300-200 mL. This methodology was chosen because it can be easily applied using sunlight evaporation

when the project is being applied on-site/in-situ and does not need any technical training. Concentrated liquid waste was then preserved at 4 °C in a sealed container for further analysis. Water content removal was also evaluated using a drying oven for 48 hours at 60 °C. With this method, it was possible to evaporate 2 L of liquid waste generated to approximately 1.0 g of solid. The temperature was used to avoid losses of components, which are volatile at temperatures above 50 - 60 °C (Förstner, 2004).

### 5.2.4 Geotextile Assessment after Washing

After drying the washed geotextiles, they were separated by AOS size and stored in tight plastic bags to be prepared or sent for further analysis. Hydraulic geotextile assessments were performed at Geotextile Testing Lab SGI Testing Services, LLC. according to procedures prescribed by ASTM: method for determination of geotextiles AOS (ASTM D 4751), method for determination of permittivity and flow rate (ASTM D 4491).

Unused, clogged and washed filter surfaces (top and bottom) images were taken by a scanning electron microscope (SEM) on a Hitachi S-3400 N using variable pressure mode after coating the geotextile surface with a layer of gold by a gold sputter (QuorumQ150 RES).

#### 5.2.5 Leachate and Solids Analysis

Non-concentrated, concentrated liquid waste and reclaimed suspended solids were analyzed for heavy metal and phosphorus concentrations. Also, for the liquid waste, Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) and nitrate concentration were determined. Captured solid waste phosphorus and heavy metals content was determined by elemental analysis done by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) with a quadruple mass analyzer after partial acid-peroxide digestion (HNO<sub>3</sub>-H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) of liquid samples (USEPA 3050B). Liquid wastes were evaluated for dissolved metals and phosphorus content, for this samples were filtered through a 0.45 µm size (Polytetrafluoroethylene) PTFE syringe filter and acidified with 1% HNO<sub>3</sub> and 0.5% HCl before injection on the ICP-MS.

For nitrate (TNT 835, Method 10206, dimethyl phenol method) and COD (TNT 820, Method 10221, reactor digestion method), test kits from Hach Chemicals were used. While the COD parameter requires heat digestion on a Hach DRB 200 heating block and after cooling down, be measured by Hach DR 2800 UV–Vis spectrophotometer, the nitrate was measured in the same spectrophotometer after the required reaction time.

## 5.2.6 Data Analysis

All variables of the study were analyzed for descriptive statistics including means, medians, variances, maxima, minima, standard deviations, standard errors, and confidence interval when possible. Data are represented as the means  $\pm$  confidence intervals in the text.

Metal concentrations in liquid waste were compared according to chapter Q-2, r. 19 of the Environmental Quebec Quality Act (2005), Regulation respecting the landfilling and incineration of residual material guidelines and also with the Canadian Water Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses from 1997 to classify its possible reuse (CCME, 2020). Suspended reclaimed solids were compared with the *Politique de protection des sols et de réhabilitation des terrains contaminés* in MDDEPQ (1999).

## 5.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 5.3.1 Proposed Washing and Drying Solids Method

Using the methodology proposed, a non-conventional washing technique with the use of hand pressurized water without additional chemical and/or additional energy input was used for cake removal. The membranes were washed in packs, with 2L of tap water. More precisely each membrane used 200-300mL of water. The method was efficient for removing visible fouling on the geomembranes, whether woven or non-woven. The process easily detached particles from the membrane surface with the water jet. Used wet geomembranes, the ones removed directly from the filtration unit, presented more efficiency for cleaning other than if they were dried before washing. Figure 5-3 presents one filtration set, before use, after use and washing.



Figure 5-3: Unused, used and washed geotextiles layers (top – bottom) in the following AOS order from left to right (110 μm, 100 μm, 90 μm, 70 μm, and 65 μm)

For the drying method, to reduce waste volume, the applicability of natural evaporation was also proven. Even though there is timeframe constraint, it was observed by letting a low water column (i.e., approximately 8 cm of water column) in a large black plastic container, it has facilitated the reduction. This could be explained as this colour absorbs more heat, evaporation was faster. In future with sunlight use, this method could be further assessed and upgraded. Possible environmental footprint was reduced with this treatment which should lower even more the already minimal cost of the geotextile floating filtration in this project bringing a more sustainable approach. Also, this method could be easily operated by a non-technical person on site.

## 5.3.2 Washed Geotextile Assessment

Following waste management principles, the first and foremost step for reuse of the washed membranes is to demonstrate if they are comparable with the new materials. If comparable this should enable its reuse, instead of using new layers. In other words, a critical step in this reuse process is validation of the cleaned membrane's integrity and permeability before the membranes can be successfully reused (Lawler et al., 2012).

#### 5.3.3 Hydraulic Testing

Hydraulic testing was performed on the washed geotextile for definition if the process alone was satisfactory for removing the existing foulants on the geotextile membranes. The cleaning process will be effective when the membrane flux is recovered, in other words, when the permeate flow rate reaches a value close to the initial (Coutinho de Paula & Amaral, 2017). Nonwoven and woven geotextiles, corresponding to the top and bottom layers of each filter set were analyzed, as shown in Table 5-2. Overall, all geotextiles reached values close to the unused geotextiles, which could enable their reuse.

Table 5.2: Non-woven and	woven geotextiles unused	l and washed	l characteristics used in this
	study		

	Unused			Washed			
	AOS Flow rate		Permitivity AOS		Flow rate	Permitivity	
	mm	l/min/m <sup>2</sup>	(1/s)	mm	l/min/m <sup>2</sup>	(1/s)	
<b>TE GTX300</b>	0.11	3900	1.62	$0.141\pm0.01$	$4208.25 \pm 247.36$	$1.38\pm0.08$	
TE-GTN350B	0.065	2700	0.56	$0.078 \pm 0.01$	$1387.25 \pm 300.48$	$0.455\pm0.10$	

TE-GMW35	0.425	2039	0.7	$0.399\pm0.01$	$1565.33 \pm 157.92$	$0.513\pm0.05$
TE-GMW70	0.658	2973	0.98	$0.657{\pm}0.12$	$3042.00 \pm 497.22$	$0.998 \pm 0.16$

The nonwoven GTX300 presented an increase of 28% of the AOS which could be explained due to the force of the water flow and the energy of the waterhead. This was followed by a slight increase of 8 % of the flow rate that permeates in the membrane, that was within the confidence interval. On the other hand, there was a reduction in the permittivity of 15% of the material. which could be explained as this material was previously used and fully clogged. The reduction of the geotextile's permeability (hydraulic conductivity) is not reversible. The TE-GTN350B has a similar behavior with a slight increase of 20% of the geotextile pore size, followed by a decrease of 51% in the geotextile flow rate which resulted in a permittivity loss of 19%.

For the woven TE-GMW70, the flow rate and permittivity were similar to the unused geotextile, due to that higher pore size which allow easy cleaning by the water jet. On other hand, TE-GMW35 was affected by the filtration order, being after the TE-GMW70, this allowed more solids to pass. This layer was affected by more pressure by the filtration clogging resulting in a reduction in the pore size of 6%, in the water volume filtered by 23% and the permittivity by 27%.

#### 5.3.4 SEM Surface Pictures

To assess the clogged geotextile membrane reuse, the physical status of this generated waste was the second validation of the proposed methodology for cleaning. Also, visual autopsy of the material structure was used to determine if the water jet will affect the filtration media. These results are demonstrated with SEM pictures according to the: non-woven and woven ones.

Non-woven geotextiles presented excellent removal when washed, represented in Figure 5.4. Fibres were about 20 microns in size and were not disrupted by the pressurized jet and its structure remained intact after the process. The first layer (i.e., TE GTX300) of the used combination, showed excellent filtration performance as the fabric had retained high suspended solids loads on the surface as presented in Figure 5.4 (b). In contrast, the TE-GTN350B layer analyzed, which has been protected by the previous layers with larger pore sizes, did not clog on the surface, showed only a small detritus within its depth (Figure 5.4 (h)), which was also removed with the proposed washing. The cleaning method also removed particles that were retained within the geotextile and its bottom side (pictures not presented).


Figure 5-4: Unused, used and washed non-woven geotextiles: (a) Unused TE GTX300 (b) Used TE GTX300 (c) Washed TE GTX300 (d) Unused TE GTX300 (e) Used TE GTX300 (f) Washed TE GTX300 (g) Unused TE-GTN350B (h) Used TE-GTN350B (i) Washed TE-GTN350B

Woven geotextiles which also were used for filtration process presented good recovery after washing. Both woven geotextiles analyzed presented particle accumulation on the top surface, Figure 5-5 (b) and 5-5 (e), possibly reducing AOS and increasing smaller suspended solid capture. As the fibres on those geotextiles are placed like braids, a small relaxing of those was observed after washing. Figure 5-5 (c) and (f), showed the changed structure and increased pore size when compared with 5 (a) and (d), due to particles that were forced throughout it by the water

jet. The bottom layer of the geotextile showed few modifications. The top layer was the most affected side as they were in direct contact with the water pressure.



Figure 5-5: Non-woven geotextiles unused, used and washed: (a) Unused TE-GMW70 (b) Used TE-GMW70 (c) Washed TE-GMW70 (d) Unused TE-GMW35 (e) Used TE-GMW35 (f) Washed TE-GMW35

# 5.3.5 Liquid Waste Assessment

The liquid waste generated in this process was about 2L for each washed set being this woven or non-woven geotextile set. This effluent presented a high concentration of some heavy metals, and in all cases increased concentrations occurred after water evaporation as expected.

As there no specific regulations in Quebec for this waste type and the Q-2, r. 32 -Regulation respecting hazardous materials from the Environment Quality Act of the *Ministère de l'Environnement du Québec*, does not have a complete guideline for leachable materials regarding metal concentrations in this liquid waste. They were compared according to chapter Q-2, r. 19 Regulation respecting the landfilling and incineration of residual materials from the Environment Quality Act (2005) as the quality guidelines for water or leachate released into the environment. Also, for a reuse point of view, the Water Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Agriculture concentrations on Environment were used as a comparison as well (CCME, 2020). For the diluted liquid waste generated, high concentrations of manganese, copper, zinc and phosphorus were observed, as presented in Table 5-3. Even though they were high, for these specific heavy metals, the values were below the guidelines for Protection of Agriculture which can be used to classify its reuse for irrigation. It is worth commenting, that the following parameters should be taken into consideration, including the amounts of COD and nitrate present in the effluent if reuse is going to be proposed.

Contaminants	Woven	Woven	Non-	Non-woven	Règlement sur	Water	
	leachate	Leachate concentrated	woven leachate	leachate	l'enfouissement et	Quality Guidelines for the	
	diluted			concentrated	l'incinération de matières		
			diluted		résiduelles	Protection of	
						Agriculture	
Chromium (µg/L)	0.49	0.53	0.68	1.76	50.00	-	
Manganese (µg/L)	112.72	500.85	0.33	28.76	50.00	200.00	
Cobalt (µg/L)	0.09	6.19	0.10	4.91	-	50.00	
Nickel (µg/L)	1.13	3.05	0.34	7.04	20.00	200	
Copper (µg/L)	16.66	69.68	20.57	18.12	-	Variable <sup>a</sup>	
Zinc (µg/L)	88.12	369.71	29.15	59.28	500	Variable <sup>b</sup>	
Arsenic (µg/L)	1.07	5.13	0.13	3.99	-	100	
Selenium (µg/L)	0.89	1.16	0.95	1.84	-	Variable <sup>c</sup>	
Cadmium (µg/L)	0.03	0.03	0.00	0.01	5.00	5.10	
Antimony (µg/L)	0.13	0.57	0.33	0.497	-	-	
Lead (µg/L)	0.11	0.19	0.04	0.517	10	200	
Phosphorus (µg/L)	120.18	304.74	73.38	139.15	-	-	
Nitrate (mg/L)	5.49	16.5	4.47	11.2	10	-	
COD (mg/L)	669	4363	844	3430	-	-	

Table 5.3: Liquid waste characterization

<sup>a</sup> 200  $\mu$ g/L for cereals = 1000  $\mu$ g/L for tolerant crops: <sup>b</sup> 1000  $\mu$ g/L when soil pH < 6.5 and 5000  $\mu$ g/L when soil pH > 6.5; <sup>c</sup> 20  $\mu$ g/L for continuous use on all soils = 50  $\mu$ g/L for intermittent use on all soils

Concentrated liquid waste showed particularly increase on concentrations for manganese, zinc and phosphorus in the woven leachate, which were higher than guidelines for water reuse and leachate to be released onto the environment. However, this behaviour was not observed on the non-woven leachate, even though concentrations were higher than diluted waste values, they were not higher than both guidelines. This could indicate that the liquid concentrated wastes should not be mixed for disposal as one of the liquid wastes has its quality is better than the other one when regarding to heavy metals as showed in Table 5-3.

## 5.3.6 Solid Waste Assessment

The reclaimed solids, obtained after the proposed washing geotextile and dewatering method using evaporation, presented a higher concentration than the liquid waste, as expected. These captured solids have a higher concentration of some metals, even above the Québec regulatory limits for commercial and industrial site use (criteria C) (MDDEPQ 1999) for manganese < zinc < copper as presented in Table 5.4. In other words, these solids cannot be reused even for application as a soil layer for those sites.

Contaminants	Captured Solid Waste	Lake sediment near the filtration experiment	Lake sediment away from filtration experiment	RL		
				А	В	С
Chromium (mg/kg)	$38.39 \pm 11.39$	$5.85\pm0.78$	$9.77\pm0.25$	100	250	800
Manganese (mg/kg)	$3017.82 \pm 1000.03$	$84.00 \pm 4{,}08$	$208.19\pm1.72$	1000	1000	2200
Cobalt (mg/kg)	$8.09\pm2.95$	$4.55\pm0.23$	$6.04\pm0.23$	25	50	300
Nickel (mg/kg)	$16.31 \pm 1.03$	$5.15\pm1.94$	$6.13\pm0.31$	50	100	500
Copper (mg/kg)	$619.36 \pm 189.16$	$2.81\pm0.42$	$8.59\pm0.28$	50	100	500
Zinc (mg/kg)	$1834.41 \pm 74.60$	$42.24\pm1.45$	$54.93\pm2.65$	140	500	1500
Arsenic (mg/kg)	$13.30\pm5.71$	$0.94\pm0.31$	$1.79\pm0.01$	6	30	50
Selenium (mg/kg)	$2.33\pm0.37$	$2.00 \pm 0.14$	$3.88\pm0.42$	1	3	10
Cadmium (mg/kg)	$0.30\pm\!\!0.02$	$0.07\pm0.04$	$0.25\pm0.01$	1.5	5	20
Lead (mg/kg)	$45.44\pm21.15$	$3.64\pm0.30$	$17.65 \pm 0,\!48$	50	500	1500
Antimony (mg/kg)	$0.82 \pm 1.07$	$0.02\pm0.01$	$0.06\pm0.01$	-	-	-
Phosphorus (mg/kg)	$2123.05 \pm 950.37$	$1240.10 \pm 91.65$	$1826.29 \pm 249.12$	-	-	-

Table 5.4: Reclaimed solid characterization after dewatering

The higher concentration of the cited metals (manganese < zinc < copper) is explained as follows. Zinc in aquatic environments readily sorbs to sediments or suspended solids, including

hydrous iron and manganese oxides, clay minerals, and organic matter (Małecki et al., 2016), resulting in the formation of metallo-organic complexes (Diatta & Kocialkowski, 1998). Copper on the other hand has a strong affinity for particulate matter (Rader et al., 2019) due to sorption to mineral surfaces. Cu<sup>2+</sup> sorbs strongly to mineral surfaces over a wide range of pH values (Weiner, 2008) and also in organic matter. As explained, they were found in the removed suspended solids which were filter from the water column.

Manganese and phosphorus concentrations in the solids are related. Manganese dynamics have been linked to the mobility of sediment P in many eutrophic freshwaters and marine systems (Pearce et al., 2013). Mn oxides are thought to contribute to sediment reactive phosphorus sorption and release where Mn oxide minerals become reduced and dissolved, potentially important in phosphorus cycling (Lovley, 1991). As particulate phosphorus is removed by this project, this nutrient could be associated with the higher manganese as indicated on the suspended solids captured.

When this reclaimed suspended solid is compared with the heavy metal concentration from the study lake, different behavior is noted for sediment samples near the filtration experiment and far away from it. As the process of dewatering can be considered a concentration process (i.e., after 7 days of suspended solids being concentrated on the geomembranes they were washed with water and evaporated until there were just the reclaimed solids remaining), increasing the heavy metal concentration in this waste. As can be perceived in Table 5.4, some heavy metals presented similar concentrations or only a small increase. This behavior was not observed for the heavy metals that are easily sorbed on the surface of suspended sediments and organic matter (i.e., manganese, zinc, and copper as previously mentioned), which are the particles removed by this geotextile filtration.

For those heavy metals, an increase of a magnitude order of the lake sediment 14 times the original value, 72 times the original value, and 33 times the original value, respectively for manganese, zinc, and copper was obtained. It is worth commenting that the phosphorus concentration on the reclaimed sediment is approximately 2 times the one found in the lake sediment. Heavy metal concentrations in the reclaimed suspended solids are higher than found in the lake sediment for the reasons presented (i.e., filtration and dewatering as a concentration process), and they are not comparable. More precisely, this could be explained as follows: the

washing for 1 set of geotextiles, which was used in the experiment for approximately 7 days (i.e., composed of 5-7 geomembranes) with approximately 2 L of water being evaporated naturally or using an external heat source has only generated 1 g of reclaimed sediment to be disposed of.

#### 5.3.7 Possibly Waste Routes and Challenges

As assessed in the methodology proposed, geotextiles can be possibly reused by washing them with pressurized water. This did not affect its physical integrity, permeability and flow rate and possibly indicate that these layers could be successfully reused. The liquid waste generated when diluted can be further reused, only if there is a COD removal technique in place for this effluent. Effluent concentration by evaporation is not recommended as this liquid waste presented a higher heavy metal concentration, which can be difficult to properly treat and dispose of.

Washing liquid waste from woven and nonwoven geotextiles should not be mixed in any way for disposal, and they should be dealt with separately, which was not done in this paper. The concentration of washing liquid waste is only determined for removing the entire water content, for reducing the volume of the reclaimed solids, for final disposal to a specified landfill for hazardous material. Evaporation at room temperature was able to reduce the majority of the water content. It is recommended for applications on site to not use any external heat source and possibly sunlight could be enough for this drying.

#### **5.4 CONCLUSIONS**

Towards a circular economy for minimizing waste and the resource use, the potential routes for geomembrane reuse were demonstrated. Using the proposed washing methodology with only a pressurized water jet, fibres were not disrupted on the woven and non-woven geotextile proven by a visual physical structure autopsy. It was shown that the recovered geotextiles exhibited hydraulic proprieties as the flow rate and permittivity to a value close to the unused membranes. When applied on site, this will increase its life span, delaying final disposal. Related to liquid waste, possible reuse could take place, only if further explored for possible methods for reducing concentrations of metals and organic matter. Reclaimed solids after drying cannot be reused as a soil layer in industrial and commercial sites at this moment. Final disposal at a specified landfill for hazardous material would be the proper method. This could be justified as the amount of solid waste produced is low. For future work, it is necessary to analyze if the washed geotextiles when applied onsite/in-situ will introduce any leaching to the surface water. The number of times that the geotextile can be reused without losing its initial characteristics should be demonstrated. Additional sustainable waste management processes should be further assessed and used to avoid final disposal. Related to the remaining wastes (liquid waste and reclaimed captured solids) further assessment needs to be done to propose possible reuse methods or sustainable treatment methods.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Antonio Cavalcante Pereira: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, and Writing – original draft, Dileep Palakkeel Veetil: Investigation, Catherine Mulligan: Supervision, Writing - Reviewing and Editing, Funding acquisition, Sam Bhat: Provision

### DECLARATION OF COMPETING INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank NSERC and Concordia University for the financial support of this project. The authors are also grateful to their industrial partner, Titan Environmental Containment Ltd., for supplying geotextiles and providing technical and financial support for this project.

# **CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSIONS**

The novel in-situ remediation method based on geotextile filtration proposed by this thesis has demonstrated the hypothesis for lake remediation, that after two consecutive years of removing suspended solids, particulate phosphorus was reduced. The study lake water trophic level, in this study has been decreased to the limit of mesoeutrophic towards the mesotrophic state with just this filtration process without any chemical addition in the first and second year of study. Also, the presented thesis, has proposed a sustainable methodology of lake water remediation. The SDG 6 were as addressed for providing clean water, and possibly restoring the enclosed ecosystem which it was applied (target 6.6) and creating an enabling environment (targets 6.a and 6.b) without signs of eutrophication.

Using this effective economic in-situ eco-remediation method, it is understood that other water types can be remediated with few steps such as: particle size evaluation, nutrient assessment and sediment analysis. Not only shallow lakes (average depth < 2m), as the study lake, can be remediated but also ponds, river sections, coastal regions, and bays that have similar issues. Additionally, as the spatial distribution internal or external loads of nutrients and contaminated sediment, are not homogeneous in the entire water source, the methodology proposed is not intended at the moment for filtering an entire water system. Instead, in the case of this thesis, with a minimally invasive technique for suspended solids removal, highly contaminated areas can be previously assessed and enclosed with turbidity curtains and remediated separately with this filtration technique. By application of this sustainable restoration at the beginning of deterioration can possibly reduce ecosystem degradation and improve the water quality.

Thinking after the eutrophic remediation method, towards a circular economy for minimizing waste and resources, potential routes for membrane reuse as well as for liquid waste were demonstrated. The cleaning process of geomembranes without any chemical additives, using just tap water with a gardener spray, was show sufficient for used geotextile recovery. These ones exhibited hydraulic proprieties values close to the unused membranes (i.e., for the flow rate and permittivity). Liquid waste generated, by the preliminary analysis has shown possible potential for reuse. If the concentration of the liquid waste is required, total dewatering is advised generating a suspended solids waste captured with less volume to be disposed of in a landfill. Out of the 17 goals by the UN, sustainable consumption and production (SDG 12) and the conservation and

sustainable use of the oceans, seas, and marine resources (SDG 14) were the most relevant when applying the circular economy and waste management to this project.

Further investigations and development in this project will be possibly done by addressing the following future studies in this remediation method: an increased enclosed area for in-lake remediation, scale-up of filtration unit, application of other geotextile AOS sizes and types, and removal of dissolved COD. Additionally, consideration will be given to the lake water dissolved organic matter characterization, internal release mechanics for understanding on this lake water, and cyanobacteria/cyanotoxin assessment. Related to geomembranes and waste generated in the process, further studies will be done on leaching tests for used geotextiles, geotextile layers reuse in-situ, possible waste routes for used geotextiles after the end of lifecycle, and washing liquid waste reuse applications. Related to the remaining waste (reclaimed suspended solid), further assessment needs to be done to propose possible reuse methods or sustainable treatment for it. As sustainable tracks were suggested, all future work will be intended to close the sustainability loop and strengthen this idea.

# REFERENCES

- ABVLACS (Agence des Bassin Versants de Sainte-Anne-des-Lacs) 2018. Retrieved from http://abvlacs.org/lac-johanne/.
- Adamovich, B. V., Zhukova, T. V., Mikheeva, T. M., Kovalevskaya, R. Z., & Luk'yanova, E. V. (2016). Long-term variations of the trophic state index in the Narochanskie Lakes and its relation with the major hydroecological parameters. *Water Resources*, **43**(5), 809–817. https://doi.org/10.1134/s009780781605002x
- Adrian, R., O'Reilly, C. M., Zagarese, H., Baines, S. B., Hessen, D. O., Keller, W., Livingstone, D. M., Sommaruga, R., Straile, D., Van Donk, E., Weyhenmeyer, G. A., & Winder, M. (2009). Lakes as sentinels of climate change. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 54(6part2), 2283–2297. https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.2009.54.6 part\_2.2283
- Agstam-Norlin, O., Lannergård, E., Futter, M., & Huser, B. (2020). Optimization of aluminum treatment efficiency to control internal phosphorus loading in eutrophic lakes. *Water Research*, 185, 116150. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116150</u>
- Amirtharajah, A. (1988). Some Theoretical and Conceptual Views of Filtration. Journal -American Water Works Association, 80(12), 36–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1551-8833.1988.tb03147.x</u>
- ASTM D 4491 American Society for Testing and Materials (2009). ASTM D 4491: *Standard Test Methods for Water Permeability of Geotextiles for Permittivity*. Philadelphia.
- ASTM D 4751 American Society for Testing and Materials (2004). ASTM D 4751: *Standard Test Method for Determining Apparent Opening Size of a Geotextile*. Philadelphia.
- Bakker, E. S., van Donk, E., & Immers, A. K. (2015). Lake restoration by in-lake iron addition: a synopsis of iron impact on aquatic organisms and shallow lake ecosystems. *Aquatic Ecology*, 50(1), 121–135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-015-9552-1</u>
- Bartosiewicz, M., Przytulska, A., Deshpande, B. N., Antoniades, D., Cortes, A., MacIntyre, S., Lehmann, M. F., & Laurion, I. (2019). Effects of climate change and episodic heat events on cyanobacteria in a eutrophic polymictic lake. *Science of The Total Environment*, 693, 133414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.07.220</u>
- Beiras, R. (2018). Nonpersistent Inorganic Pollution. *Marine Pollution*, 31–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-813736-9.00003-9
- Bhagowati, B., Talukdar, B., & Ahamad, K. U. (2019). Lake Eutrophication: Causes, Concerns and Remedial Measures. *Emerging Issues in the Water Environment during Anthropocene*, 211–222. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-32-9771-5\_12</u>
- Bierlein, K. A., Rezvani, M., Socolofsky, S. A., Bryant, L. D., Wüest, A., & Little, J. C. (2017). Increased sediment oxygen flux in lakes and reservoirs: The impact of hypolimnetic

oxygenation. *Water Resources Research*, **53**(6), 4876–4890. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2016wr019850</u>

- Björn, L. O., Papageorgiou, G. C., Blankenship, R. E., & Govindjee. (2009). A viewpoint: Why chlorophyll a? *Photosynthesis Research*, **99**(2), 85–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11120-008-</u> 9395-x
- Blackstock, J. C. (1989). The physical chemistry of aqueous systems. *Guide to Biochemistry*, 11–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-7236-1151-6.50008-x</u>
- Bonsdorff, E. (2021). Eutrophication: Early warning signals, ecosystem-level and societal responses, and ways forward. *Ambio*, **50**(4), 753–758. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-020-01432-7</u>
- Bormans, M., Maršálek, B., & Jančula, D. (2015). Controlling internal phosphorus loading in lakes by physical methods to reduce cyanobacterial blooms: a review. *Aquatic Ecology*, **50**(3), 407– 422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-015-9564-x</u>
- Boyd, C. E. (2019). Eutrophication. *Water Quality*, 311–322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-</u>23335-8 15
- Boyd, C.E. (2015) Phosphorus. In: *Water Quality*. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-17446-4\_12</u>
- Braga, G. G., & Becker, V. (2020). Influence of water volume reduction on the phytoplankton dynamics in a semi-arid man-made lake: A comparison of two morphofunctional approaches. *Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências*, **92**(1), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/0001-3765202020181102</u>
- Brandt, M. J., Johnson, K. M., Elphinston, A. J., & Ratnayaka, D. D. (2017). *Water Filtration*. *Twort's Water Supply*, 367–406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08-100025-0.00009-0</u>
- Bratby, J. (2015). Turbidity. *Progress in Filtration and Separation*, 637–657. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-384746-1.00016-1
- Brundtland, G. H., & Khalid, M. (1987). Our common future. Oxford University Press, Oxford, GB. <u>https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/5987our-common-future.pdf</u>
- Burford, M., Carey, C., Hamilton, D., Huisman, J., Paerl, H., Wood, S., & Wulff, A. (2020).
  Perspective: Advancing the research agenda for improving understanding of cyanobacteria in a future of global change. *Harmful Algae*, **91**, 101601.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hal.2019.04.004">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hal.2019.04.004</a>
- Butti, L., Peres, F., & Lops, C. (2018). Legal Framework of Landfilling in Different Areas of the World. *Solid Waste Landfilling*, 41–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-407721-8.00003-6</u>
- Camilleri, M. A. (2019). The circular economy's closed loop and product service systems for sustainable development: A review and appraisal. *Sustainable Development*, 27(3), 530-536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/sd.1909</u>
- Carlson, R. E. (1977). A trophic state index for lakes1. *Limnology and Oceanography*, **22**(2), 361–369. <u>https://doi.org/10.4319/lo.1977.22.2.0361</u>

- Carlson, R. E., & Havens, K. E. (2005). Simple Graphical Methods for the Interpretation of Relationships Between Trophic State Variables. *Lake and Reservoir Management*, 21(1), 107– 118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07438140509354418</u>
- Cashman, S., Korostynska, O., Shaw, A., Lisboa, P., & Conroy, L. (2017). Detecting the Presence and Concentration of Nitrate in Water Using Microwave Spectroscopy. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 17(13), 4092–4099. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/jsen.2017.2705281</u>
- Cavicchioli, R., Ripple, W. J., Timmis, K. N., Azam, F., Bakken, L. R., Baylis, M., Behrenfeld, M. J., Boetius, A., Boyd, P. W., Classen, A. T., Crowther, T. W., Danovaro, R., Foreman, C. M., Huisman, J., Hutchins, D. A., Jansson, J. K., Karl, D. M., Koskella, B., Mark Welch, D. B., . . . Webster, N. S. (2019). Scientists' warning to humanity: microorganisms and climate change. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 17(9), 569–586. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-019-0222-5</u>
- CBD (Convention Biological Diversity) (2008) *Inland Waters Biodiversity* What is It? Retrieved July 11, 2021 from: <u>https://www.cbd.int/waters/inland-waters/</u>
- CCME Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, (2008). Canadian water quality guidelines (CWQG). Retrieved July 11, 2021 from: <u>http://ceqg-</u> rcqe.ccme.ca/en/index.html#void
- CCME Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, (2020). *Summary table*. Retrieved July 11, 2021 from: <u>http://st-ts.ccme.ca/en/index.html</u>.
- Chapman, D. V. (Ed.). (1996). *Water quality assessments: a guide to the use of biota, sediments and water in environmental monitoring*. CRC Press.
- Chapra, S.C. (1997) Surface Water Quality Modeling. McGraw-Hill Publisher, New York.
- Chen, M., Cui, J., Lin, J., Ding, S., Gong, M., Ren, M., & Tsang, D. C. (2018). Successful control of internal phosphorus loading after sediment dredging for 6 years: A field assessment using high-resolution sampling techniques. *Science of The Total Environment*, **616–617**, 927–936. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.10.227</u>
- Chen, X., Yang, L., Xiao, L., Miao, A., & Xi, B. (2012). Nitrogen removal by denitrification during cyanobacterial bloom in Lake Taihu. *Journal of Freshwater Ecology*, 27(2), 243–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02705060.2011.644405</u>
- Chislock, M. F., Doster, E., Zitomer, R. A., & Wilson, A. E. (2013). Eutrophication: causes, consequences, and controls in aquatic ecosystems. *Nature Education Knowledge*, **4**(4), 10.
- Chorus, I., & Welker, M. (2021). Toxic cyanobacteria in water: a guide to their public health consequences, monitoring and management (p. 858). *Taylor & Francis*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1201/9781003081449</u>
- Concepcion II, R. S., Loresco, P. J. M., Bedruz, R. A. R., Dadios, E. P., Lauguico, S. C., & Sybingco, E. (2020). Trophic state assessment using hybrid classification tree-artificial neural network. *International Journal of Advances in Intelligent Informatics*, 6(1), 46. <u>https://doi.org/10.26555/ijain.v6i1.408</u>

- Copetti, D., Finsterle, K., Marziali, L., Stefani, F., Tartari, G., Douglas, G., Reitzel, K., Spears, B. M., Winfield, I. J., Crosa, G., D'Haese, P., Yasseri, S., & Lürling, M. (2016). Eutrophication management in surface waters using lanthanum modified bentonite: A review. *Water Research*, 97, 162–174. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.11.056</u>
- Correll, D. (1999). Phosphorus: a rate limiting nutrient in surface waters. *Poultry Science*, **78**(5), 674–682. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ps/78.5.674</u>
- Coutinho de Paula, E., & Amaral, M. C. S. (2017). Extending the life-cycle of reverse osmosis membranes: A review. Waste Management & Research: The Journal for a Sustainable Circular Economy, 35(5), 456–470. https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242x16684383
- Couture, H.M., Gourlin, B., Gutjjahr, B., Mercier, C. Strategie de protection et de mise en valeur des milieux hummides sur le territoire de la Municipalite de Sainte-Anne-des-Lacs. Université de Sherbrooke (2013). Retrieved from: <u>https://www.sadl.qc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Rapport-final-Strategie milieu-humides2.pdf</u>
- Crittenden, J. C., Trussell, R. R., Hand, D. W., Howe, K., & Tchobanoglous, G. (2012). *MWH's* water treatment: principles and design. John Wiley & Sons.
- Davies, C. E., & Moss, D. (1999). *Inland Surface Water Habitats*. European Environment Agency. https://www.eea.europa.eu/help/glossary/eea-glossary/inland-surface-water-habitats
- de Jong, A. M., & Mellquist, A. C. (2021). The Potential of Plastic Reuse for Manufacturing: A Case Study into Circular Business Models for an On-Line Marketplace. *Sustainability*, **13**(4), 2007. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13042007</u>
- Deacutis, C. F. (2015). Dissolved Oxygen. *Encyclopedia of Estuaries*, 202–203. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-8801-4\_72
- DeLaune, R., & Reddy, K. (2005). REDOX POTENTIAL. Encyclopedia of Soils in the Environment, 366–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/b0-12-348530-4/00212-5
- Devlin, A., Pan, J., & Manjur Shah, M. (Eds.). (2021). Inland Waters Dynamics and Ecology. Preface. Published. <u>https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.87463</u>
- Diatta, J., & Kocialkowski, W. (1998). Adsorption of zinc in some selected soils. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, **7**, 195-200.
- Ding, S., Han, C., Wang, Y., Yao, L., Wang, Y., Xu, D., Sun, Q., Williams, P. N., & Zhang, C. (2015). In situ, high-resolution imaging of labile phosphorus in sediments of a large eutrophic lake. *Water Research*, 74, 100–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.02.008</u>
- Doble, M., & Kumar, A. (2005). Degradation of Dyes. Biotreatment of Industrial Effluents, 111–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-075067838-4/50011-7</u>
- Donaldson Corp (2015) Surface Filtration versus Depth Filtration, Pub code: DFvSF005.EN.01.15 Retrieved July 14, 2021, from <u>http://www.tetratexlatam.com/literatura/filtracionprofunda.pdf</u>
- Dondajewska, R., Kowalczewska-Madura, K., Gołdyn, R., Kozak, A., Messyasz, B., & Cerbin, S. (2019). Long-Term Water Quality Changes as a Result of a Sustainable Restoration—A Case Study of Dimictic Lake Durowskie. *Water*, **11**(3), 616. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w11030616</u>

- Dubey, D., & Dutta, V. (2019). Nutrient Enrichment in Lake Ecosystem and Its Effects on Algae and Macrophytes. *Environmental Concerns and Sustainable Development*, 81–126. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6358-0\_5\_
- Dunalska, J. A. (2021). How the integrated engineering solutions can support the lakes restoration? *Ecohydrology & Hydrobiology*, **21**(1), 36–45. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecohyd.2020.06.004</u>
- E.P.A. (2012). 5.8 Total Solids | Monitoring & Assessment | US EPA. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. <u>https://archive.epa.gov/water/archive/web/html/vms58.html</u>
- Ebnesajjad, S. (2017). Filtration. Expanded PTFE Applications Handbook, 213–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-1-4377-7855-7.00010-9
- Eimers, M. C., Liu, F., & Bontje, J. (2020). Land Use, Land Cover, and Climate Change in Southern Ontario: Implications for Nutrient Delivery to the Lower Great Lakes. *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, 235–249. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/698\_2020\_519</u>
- Environment Quality Act, (2005). Chapter Q-2, r. 19. Regulation Respecting the Landfilling and Incineration of Residual Materials. Retrieved July 11, 2021 from: http://legisquebec.gouv.qc.ca/en/ShowDoc/cr/Q-2,%20r.%2019
- EU (2014). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions: Towards a circular economy: A zero waste programme for Europe <a href="https://ec.europa.eu/transparency/documents-register/detail?ref=COM(2014)398&lang=en">https://ec.europa.eu/transparency/documents-register/detail?ref=COM(2014)398&lang=en</a>
- European Parliament Directive (2008) and Council Directive 2008/98/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council. 19 November 2008 on waste and repealing certain directives (Waste framework) Off. J. Eur. Union (2008), pp. 3-30. Retrieved July 11, 2021 from: <a href="https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:32008L0098&rid=9">https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:32008L0098&rid=9</a>
- Eyvaz, M., Arslan, S., Gürbulak, E., & Yüksel, E. (2017). Textile Materials in Liquid Filtration Practices: Current Status and Perspectives in Water and Wastewater Treatment. *Textiles for Advanced Applications*. Published. <u>https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.69462</u>
- Fawzy, S., Osman, A. I., Doran, J., & Rooney, D. W. (2020). Strategies for mitigation of climate change: a review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, **18**(6), 2069–2094. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-020-01059-w</u>
- Förstner, U. (2004). Traceability of sediment analysis. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, **23**(3), 217-236.
- Freeman, E. C., Creed, I. F., Jones, B., & Bergström, A. (2020). Global changes may be promoting a rise in select cyanobacteria in nutrient - poor northern lakes. *Global Change Biology*, 26(9), 4966 - 4987. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15189</u>
- Garcés-Ayerbe, C., Rivera-Torres, P., Suárez-Perales, I., & Leyva-de La Hiz, D. (2019). Is It Possible to Change from a Linear to a Circular Economy? An Overview of Opportunities and Barriers for European Small and Medium-Sized Enterprise Companies. *International Journal*

of Environmental Research and Public Health, **16**(5), 851. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16050851

- Garcia-Pichel, F. (2009). Cyanobacteria. Encyclopedia of Microbiology, 107–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-012373944-5.00250-9
- Gaysina, L. A., Saraf, A., & Singh, P. (2019). Cyanobacteria in Diverse Habitats. Cyanobacteria, 1–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-814667-5.00001-5</u>
- Ghasri, M. (2019) Improving Surface Water Quality Using a Geotextile Filtration Technique. *Master's thesis*, Concordia University.
- Ghisellini, P., Cialani, C., & Ulgiati, S. (2016). A review on circular economy: the expected transition to a balanced interplay of environmental and economic systems. *Journal of Cleaner* production, **114**, 11-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.09.007</u>
- Gidudu, A., Letaru, L., & Kulabako, R. N. (2021). Empirical modeling of chlorophyll a from MODIS satellite imagery for trophic status monitoring of Lake Victoria in East Africa. *Journal* of Great Lakes Research. Published. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2021.05.005</u>
- Głąb, S., & Hulanicki, A. (2005). pH. Encyclopedia of Analytical Science, 72–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/b0-12-369397-7/00445-3
- Glibert, P. M. (2020). Harmful algae at the complex nexus of eutrophication and climate change. *Harmful Algae*, **91**, 101583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hal.2019.03.001</u>
- Gołdyn, R., Podsiadłowski, S., Dondajewska, R., & Kozak, A. (2014). The sustainable restoration of lakes—towards the challenges of the Water Framework Directive. *Ecohydrology & Hydrobiology*, 14(1), 68–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecohyd.2013.12.001</u>
- Gómez, R., Arce, M. I., Baldwin, D. S., & Dahm, C. N. (2017). Water Physicochemistry in Intermittent Rivers and Ephemeral Streams. *Intermittent Rivers and Ephemeral Streams*, 109– 134. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-803835-2.00005-x</u>
- Guignard, M. S., Leitch, A. R., Acquisti, C., Eizaguirre, C., Elser, J. J., Hessen, D. O., Jeyasingh, P. D., Neiman, M., Richardson, A. E., Soltis, P. S., Soltis, D. E., Stevens, C. J., Trimmer, M., Weider, L. J., Woodward, G., & Leitch, I. J. (2017). Impacts of Nitrogen and Phosphorus: From Genomes to Natural Ecosystems and Agriculture. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 5. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2017.00070</u>
- Hahladakis, J. N., Iacovidou, E., & Gerassimidou, S. (2020). Plastic waste in a circular economy. *Plastic Waste and Recycling*, 481–512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-817880-5.00019-0</u>
- Hannan, M., Begum, R., Al-Shetwi, A. Q., Ker, P., al Mamun, M., Hussain, A., Basri, H., & Mahlia, T. (2020). Waste collection route optimisation model for linking cost saving and emission reduction to achieve sustainable development goals. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 62, 102393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2020.102393</u>
- Hanrahan, G., & Chan, G. (2005). NITROGEN. *Encyclopedia of Analytical Science*, 191–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/b0-12-369397-7/00401-5
- Hartnett, H. E. (2017). Dissolved Organic Matter (DOM). *Encyclopedia of Earth Sciences Series*, 1–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-39193-9\_155-1</u>

- Hayden, B., Harrod, C., Thomas, S. M., Eloranta, A. P., Myllykangas, J., Siwertsson, A., Præbel, K., Knudsen, R., Amundsen, P., & Kahilainen, K. K. (2019). From clear lakes to murky waters
  tracing the functional response of high latitude lake communities to concurrent 'greening' and 'browning.' *Ecology Letters*, 22(5), 807–816. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13238
- Ho, L. T., & Goethals, P. L. M. (2019). Opportunities and Challenges for the Sustainability of Lakes and Reservoirs in Relation to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). *Water*, 11(7), 1462. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w11071462</u>
- Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Jacob, D., Taylor, M., Bindi, M., Brown, S., Camilloni, I., Diedhiou, A., Djalante, R., Ebi, K. L., Engelbrecht, F., Guiot, J., Hijioka, Y., Mehrotra, S., Payne, A., Seneviratne, S. I., Thomas, A., Warren, R. F., Zhou, G., & Tschakert, P. (2018). Impacts of 1.5°C global warming on natural and human systems. In Global Warming of 1.5°C: An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty IPCC. https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/chapter/chapter-3/
- Hood, E., Williams, M. W., & McKnight, D. M. (2005). Sources of dissolved organic matter (DOM) in a Rocky Mountain stream using chemical fractionation and stable isotopes. *Biogeochemistry*, 74(2), 231–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-004-4322-5</u>
- Horodytska O., Cabanes A., Fullana A. (2019) Plastic Waste Management: Current Status and Weaknesses. In: The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/698\_2019\_408</u>
- Hoverman, J. T. & Johnson, P. T.J. (2012). Ponds and Lakes: A Journey Through the Life Aquatic. *Nature Education Knowledge* **3**(6):17 <u>https://www.nature.com/scitable/knowledge/library/ponds-and-lakes-a-journey-through-the-25982495/</u>
- Howarth, R. (2009). Nitrogen. *Encyclopedia of Inland Waters*, 57–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-012370626-3.00098-3
- Howe, K., Hand, D. W., Crittenden, J. C., Trussell, R. R., & Tchobanoglous, G. (2012). *Principles of water treatment*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Hu, Z., & Grasso, D. (2005). WATER ANALYSIS | Chemical Oxygen Demand. Encyclopedia of Analytical Science, 325–330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b0-12-369397-7/00663-4</u>
- Huo, S., He, Z., Ma, C., Zhang, H., Xi, B., Xia, X., Xu, Y., & Wu, F. (2019). Stricter nutrient criteria are required to mitigate the impact of climate change on harmful cyanobacterial blooms. *Journal of Hydrology*, 569, 698–704. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2018.12.030</u>
- Huser, B. J., Egemose, S., Harper, H., Hupfer, M., Jensen, H., Pilgrim, K. M., Reitzel, K., Rydin, E., & Futter, M. (2016). Longevity and effectiveness of aluminum addition to reduce sediment phosphorus release and restore lake water quality. *Water Research*, **97**, 122–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.06.051
- Ingold, T. S. (Ed.). (2013). Geotextiles and geomembranes handbook. Elsevier.

- IPCC, (2018): Summary for Policymakers. In: Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. Retrieved July 11, 2021 from: https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/06/SR15 Full Report High Res.pdf
- Islam, M., Shafi, S., Bandh, S. A., & Shameem, N. (2019). Impact of environmental changes and human activities on bacterial diversity of lakes. *Freshwater Microbiology*, 105–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-817495-1.00003-7
- Ismail, A. F., Khulbe, K. C., & Matsuura, T. (2019). RO Membrane Fouling. Reverse Osmosis, 189–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-811468-1.00008-6
- Istvánovics, V. (2009). Eutrophication of Lakes and Reservoirs. Encyclopedia of Inland Waters, 157–165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-012370626-3.00141-1</u>
- Jeppesen, E., Pierson, D., & Jennings, E. (2021). Effect of Extreme Climate Events on Lake Ecosystems. *Water*, **13**(3), 282. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w13030282</u>
- Jilbert, T., Couture, R. M., Huser, B. J., & Salonen, K. (2020). Preface: Restoration of eutrophic lakes: current practices and future challenges. *Hydrobiologia*, 847(21), 4343–4357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-020-04457-x</u>
- Kadiri, M., Zhang, H., Angeloudis, A., & Piggott, M. D. (2021). Evaluating the eutrophication risk of an artificial tidal lagoon. Ocean & Coastal Management, 203, 105490. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ocecoaman.2020.105490</u>
- Kalmykova, Y., Sadagopan, M., & Rosado, L. (2018). Circular economy From review of theories and practices to development of implementation tools. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, **135**, 190–201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.10.034</u>
- Kamaruddin, M. A., Abdullah, M. M. A., Zawawi, M. H., & Zainol, M. R. R. A. (2017). Potential use of Plastic Waste as Construction Materials: Recent Progress and Future Prospect. IOP *Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, **267**, 012011. <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899x/267/1/012011</u>
- Kamzati, L.L.J., Kaonga, C.C., Mapoma, H.W.T. et al. (2020). Heavy metals in water, sediment, fish and associated risks from an endorheic lake located in Southern Africa. *Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol.* 17, 253–266 <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-019-02464-7</u>
- Kang, J. W., & Chung, I. K. (2017). The effects of eutrophication and acidification on the ecophysiology of Ulva pertusa Kjellman. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 29(5), 2675–2683. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10811-017-1087-5</u>
- Kaur, A., & Misra, A. K. (2014). Management and Recycling Routes in Plastic Waste Management Framework: A World Prospective. Plastic and Polymer Technology, 3, 26-30.

- Keeton J.T. (2017) History of Nitrite and Nitrate in Food. In: Bryan N., Loscalzo J. (eds) Nitrite and Nitrate in Human Health and Disease. Nutrition and Health. Humana Press, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-46189-2\_7\_
- Kiani, M., Tammeorg, P., Niemistö, J., Simojoki, A., & Tammeorg, O. (2020). Internal phosphorus loading in a small shallow Lake: Response after sediment removal. *Science of The Total Environment*, **725**, 138279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138279</u>
- Knoll, L. B., Morgan, A., Vanni, M. J., Leach, T. H., Williamson, T. J., & Brentrup, J. A. (2016). Quantifying pelagic phosphorus regeneration using three methods in lakes of varying productivity. *Inland Waters*, 6(4), 509–522. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/iw-6.4.866</u>
- Köklü, R., & Alkış, A. (2021). A New Statistical Perspective on Trophic Indexes for Shallow Lakes. *Water Resources*, **48**(2), 324–330. <u>https://doi.org/10.1134/s0097807821020123</u>
- Kong, M., Chao, J., Han, W., Ye, C., Li, C. H., & Tian, W. (2019). Degradation Characteristics of Phosphorus in Phytoplankton-Derived Particulate Organic Matter and Its Effects on the Growth of Phosphorus-Deficient Microcystis aeruginosa in Lake Taihu. *International Journal* of Environmental Research and Public Health, 16(12), 2155. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16122155</u>
- Kosten, S., Huszar, V. L. M., Bécares, E., Costa, L. S., Donk, E., Hansson, L. A., Jeppesen, E., Kruk, C., Lacerot, G., Mazzeo, N., Meester, L., Moss, B., Lürling, M., Nõges, T., Romo, S., & Scheffer, M. (2011). Warmer climates boost cyanobacterial dominance in shallow lakes. *Global Change Biology*, 18(1), 118–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02488.x</u>
- Kritzberg, E. S., Hasselquist, E. M., Škerlep, M., Löfgren, S., Olsson, O., Stadmark, J., Valinia, S., Hansson, L. A., & Laudon, H. (2019). Browning of freshwaters: Consequences to ecosystem services, underlying drivers, and potential mitigation measures. *Ambio*, 49(2), 375– 390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-019-01227-5</u>
- Kumar Jally, S., Kumar Mishra, A., & Balabantaray, S. (2019). Estimation of Trophic State Index of Chilika Lake using Landsat-8 OLI and LISS-III satellite data. *Geocarto International*, **35**(7), 759–780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10106049.2018.1533593</u>
- Lamberti, F. M., Román-Ramírez, L. A., & Wood, J. (2020). Recycling of Bioplastics: Routes and Benefits. *Journal of Polymers and the Environment*, 28(10), 2551–2571. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10924-020-01795-8</u>
- Lamberti, G., & Hauer, R. F. (2017). Methods in Stream Ecology: *Volume 2: Ecosystem Function* (3rd ed.). Academic Press.
- Landaburu-Aguirre, J., García-Pacheco, R., Molina, S., Rodríguez-Sáez, L., Rabadán, J., & García-Calvo, E. (2016). Fouling prevention, preparing for re-use and membrane recycling. Towards circular economy in RO desalination. *Desalination*, **393**, 16–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2016.04.002</u>

- Lawler, W., Alvarez-Gaitan, J., Leslie, G., & Le-Clech, P. (2015). Comparative life cycle assessment of end-of-life options for reverse osmosis membranes. *Desalination*, 357, 45–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2014.10.013</u>
- Lawler, W., Bradford-Hartke, Z., Cran, M. J., Duke, M., Leslie, G., Ladewig, B. P., & Le-Clech, P. (2012). Towards new opportunities for reuse, recycling and disposal of used reverse osmosis membranes. *Desalination*, **299**, 103–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2012.05.030</u>
- Le Moal, M., Gascuel-Odoux, C., Ménesguen, A., Souchon, Y., Étrillard, C., Levain, A., Moatar, F., Pannard, A., Souchu, P., Lefebvre, A., & Pinay, G. (2019). Eutrophication: A new wine in an old bottle? *Science of The Total Environment*, **651**, 1–11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.09.139</u>
- Leal Filho, W., Tripathi, S. K., Andrade Guerra, J. B. S. O. D., Giné-Garriga, R., Orlovic Lovren, V., & Willats, J. (2018). Using the sustainable development goals towards a better understanding of sustainability challenges. *International Journal of Sustainable Development* & World Ecology, 26(2), 179–190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504509.2018.1505674</u>
- Liu, B., Liu, L., & Li, W. (2020). Effective removal of phosphorus from eutrophic water by using cement. *Environmental Research*, 183, 109218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2020.109218</u>
- Lovley, D. R. (1991). Dissimilatory Fe (III) and Mn (IV) reduction. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 55(2), 259-287.
- Luo, C., Li, Z., Liu, H., Li, H., Wan, R., Pan, J., & Chen, X. (2020). Differences in the responses of flow and nutrient load to isolated and coupled future climate and land use changes. *Journal* of Environmental Management, 256, 109918. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.109918</u>
- Lürling, M., & Mucci, M. (2020). Mitigating eutrophication nuisance: in-lake measures are becoming inevitable in eutrophic waters in the Netherlands. *Hydrobiologia*, 847(21), 4447– 4467. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-020-04297-9</u>
- Lürling, M., Mackay, E., Reitzel, K., & Spears, B. M. (2016). Editorial A critical perspective on geo-engineering for eutrophication management in lakes. *Water Research*, 97, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2016.03.035</u>
- Maberly, S. C., Pitt, J. A., Davies, P. S., & Carvalho, L. (2020). Nitrogen and phosphorus limitation and the management of small productive lakes. *Inland Waters*, **10**(2), 159–172. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/20442041.2020.1714384</u>
- Małecki, J. J., Kadzikiewicz-Schoeneich, M., & Szostakiewicz-Hołownia, M. (2016). Concentration and mobility of copper and zinc in the hypergenic zone of a highly urbanized area. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 75(1), 24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-015-4789-5
- Mao, N. (2016). Nonwoven fabric filters. Advances in Technical Nonwovens, 273–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-100575-0.00010-3
- MDDEP- Ministère du Développement durable, de l'Environnement et des Parcs, 2012. Portrait de la qualité des eaux de surface au Québec 1999 2008, Québec, Direction du suivi de l'état

de l'environnement. Retrieved : July 11, 2021, from: <u>http://www.environnement.gouv.qc.ca/eau/portrait/eaux-surface1999-2008/intro.pdf</u>

- MDDEPQ (1999) Politique de protection des sols et de réhabilitation des terrains contaminés. Ministère du Développement Durable de l'Environnement et des Parcs du Québec (MDDEPQ), Gouvernement du Québec, Québec, p 132
- MELCC Ministère de l'Environnement et de la Lutte contre les changements climatiques, 2018. Réseau de surveillance volontaire des lacs - Lac Caron (0387A) - Suivi de la qualité de l'eau 2020. Retrieved July 11, 2021 from: <u>https://www.environnement.gouv.qc.ca/eau/rsvl/relais/fiches-</u> <u>bilans/2020/Caron,%20Lac 0387A 2020 SA SU.html</u>
- Meyer-Jacob, C., Michelutti, N., Paterson, A. M., Cumming, B. F., Keller, W. B., & Smol, J. P. (2019). The browning and re-browning of lakes: Divergent lake-water organic carbon trends linked to acid deposition and climate change. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 16676. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-52912-0
- Miller, B. G. (2011). Emissions Control Strategies for Power Plants. Clean Coal Engineering Technology, 375–481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-1-85617-710-8.00009-1</u>
- Monchamp, M. E., Spaak, P., Domaizon, I., Dubois, N., Bouffard, D., & Pomati, F. (2017). Homogenization of lake cyanobacterial communities over a century of climate change and eutrophication. *Nature Ecology & Evolution*, 2(2), 317–324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0407-0</u>
- Moore, B. A., & Allard, G. (2011). Abiotic disturbances and their influence on forest health: a review. *Forest health and biosecurity working paper*, (35E). <u>http://www.fao.org/3/am664e/am664e.pdf</u>
- Moradi, M. R., Pihlajamäki, A., Hesampour, M., Ahlgren, J., & Mänttäri, M. (2019). End-of-life RO membranes recycling: Reuse as NF membranes by polyelectrolyte layer-by-layer deposition. *Journal of Membrane Science*, **584**, 300–308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2019.04.060</u>
- Mulligan, C. N., Davarpanah, N., Fukue, M., & Inoue, T. (2009). Filtration of contaminated suspended solids for the treatment of surface water. *Chemosphere*, 74(6), 779–786. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2008.10.055
- Myers, D. N. (2019). Innovations in Monitoring With Water-Quality Sensors With Case Studies on Floods, Hurricanes, and Harmful Algal Blooms. *Separation Science and Technology*, 219– 283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-815730-5.00010-7</u>
- Naghash, A., & Nezamzadeh-Ejhieh, A. (2015). Comparison of the efficiency of modified clinoptilolite with HDTMA and HDP surfactants for the removal of phosphate in aqueous solutions. *Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry*, **31**, 185–191. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiec.2015.06.022</u>

- Najjar, R. G., Pyke, C. R., Adams, M. B., Breitburg, D., Hershner, C., Kemp, M., Howarth, R., Mulholland, M. R., Paolisso, M., Secor, D., Sellner, K., Wardrop, D., & Wood, R. (2010). Potential climate-change impacts on the Chesapeake Bay. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf *Science*, 86(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2009.09.026
- Nazari-Sharabian, M., Ahmad, S., Karakouzian, M. (2018). Climate Change and Eutrophication: A Short Review. *Engineering, Technology and Applied Science Research*, **8**(6), 3668-3672. <u>https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/fac\_articles/562b</u>
- NCBI National Center for Biotechnology Information (2021). PubChem Compound Summary for CID 16667503, Chlorophyll. Retrieved July 11, 2021 from https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Chlorophyll.
- Netherer, S., & Schopf, A. (2010). Potential effects of climate change on insect herbivores in European forests—General aspects and the pine processionary moth as specific example. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 259(4), 831–838. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2009.07.034
- Niemistö, J., Silvonen, S., & Horppila, J. (2019). Effects of hypolimnetic aeration on the quantity and quality of settling material in a eutrophied dimictic lake. *Hydrobiologia*, **847**(21), 4525–4537. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-019-04160-6</u>
- Nvs, B., & Saranya, P. (2020). Water pollutants monitoring based on Internet of Things. *Inorganic Pollutants in Water*, 371–397. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-818965-8.00018-4</u>
- Oldenborg, K. A., & Steinman, A. D. (2019). Impact of sediment dredging on sediment phosphorus flux in a restored riparian wetland. *Science of The Total Environment*, 650, 1969– 1979. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.09.298</u>
- Oram, P. B. G. (2012). Stream Water Quality Importance of Temperature. Copyright (C), Mr. Brian Oram. Retrieved July 14, 2021, from: <u>https://water-research.net/index.php/stream-water-quality-importance-of-temperature</u>
- Owusu-Nimo, F., Oduro-Kwarteng, S., Essandoh, H., Wayo, F., & Shamudeen, M. (2019). Characteristics and management of landfill solid waste in Kumasi, Ghana. *Scientific African*, 3, e00052. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sciaf.2019.e00052</u>
- Paerl, H. (2018). Mitigating Toxic Planktonic Cyanobacterial Blooms in Aquatic Ecosystems Facing Increasing Anthropogenic and Climatic Pressures. *Toxins*, 10(2), 76. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/toxins10020076</u>
- Paerl, H. W., Havens, K. E., Xu, H., Zhu, G., McCarthy, M. J., Newell, S. E., Scott, J. T., Hall, N. S., Otten, T. G., & Qin, B. (2019). Mitigating eutrophication and toxic cyanobacterial blooms in large lakes: The evolution of a dual nutrient (N and P) reduction paradigm. *Hydrobiologia*, 847(21), 4359–4375. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-019-04087-y</u>
- Paerl, H. W., Havens, K. E., Hall, N. S., Otten, T. G., Zhu, M., Xu, H., Zhu, G., & Qin, B. (2020). Mitigating a global expansion of toxic cyanobacterial blooms: confounding effects and challenges posed by climate change. *Marine and Freshwater Research*, **71**(5), 579. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/mf18392</u>

- Pal, P. (2017). Sustainable Water-Treatment Technology. Industrial Water Treatment Process Technology, 565–571. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-810391-3.00010-2</u>
- Palakkeel Veetil, D., Arriagada, E. C., Mulligan, C. N., & Bhat, S. (2021). Filtration for improving surface water quality of a eutrophic lake. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 279, 111766. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111766</u>
- Palakkeel Veetil, D., Mulligan, C. N., & Bhat, S. (2018). In-Situ Removal Of Algae And Suspended Solids From A Eutrophic Lake Using Non-Woven Geotextiles. In 2018 CSCE Annual Conference (pp. 1-8).
- Palmeira, E. M., Melo, D. L., & Moraes-Filho, I. P. (2019). Geotextile filtration opening size under tension and confinement. *Geotextiles and Geomembranes*, 47(4), 566–576. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geotexmem.2019.02.004</u>
- Pant, H.K. (2020). Estimation of Internal Loading of Phosphorus in Freshwater Wetlands. Curr Pollution Rep 6, 28–35 <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40726-020-00136-6</u>
- Pärn, J., Pinay, G., & Mander, L. (2012). Indicators of nutrients transport from agricultural catchments under temperate climate: A review. *Ecological Indicators*, 22, 4–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.10.002</u>
- Patel, H., & Vashi, R. (2015). Use of Naturally Prepared Coagulants for the Treatment of Wastewater from Dyeing Mills. *Characterization and Treatment of Textile Wastewater*, 147– 158. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-802326-6.00006-x</u>
- Paul, P., & Tota-Maharaj, K. (2015). Laboratory Studies on Granular Filters and Their Relationship to Geotextiles for Stormwater Pollutant Reduction. *Water*, 7(12), 1595–1609. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/w7041595</u>
- Payne, J., McKeown, P., & Jones, M. D. (2019). A circular economy approach to plastic waste. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, **165**, 170–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2019.05.014</u>
- Paytan, A., & McLaughlin, K. (2007). The Oceanic Phosphorus Cycle. *Chemical Reviews*, **107**(2), 563–576. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/cr0503613</u>
- Pearce, A. R., Rizzo, D. M., Watzin, M. C., & Druschel, G. K. (2013). Unraveling associations between cyanobacteria blooms and in-lake environmental conditions in Missisquoi Bay, Lake Champlain, USA, using a modified self-organizing map. *Environmental science & technology*, 47(24), 14267-14274. https://doi.org/10.1021/es403490g
- Pepper, I. L., & Gentry, T. J. (2015). Earth Environments. *Environmental Microbiology*, 59–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-394626-3.00004-1
- Pereira, A.C., Veetil, D.P., Mulligan, C.N. and Bhat, S., (2020). On-site non-woven geotextile filtration method for remediation of lake water. In 2020 CSCE Annual Conference. https://www.titanenviro.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/CSCE-Paper-May-2020.pdf
- Popek, E. (2018). Practical Approach to Sampling. Sampling and Analysis of Environmental *Chemical Pollutants*, 145–225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-803202-2.00004-5</u>

- Prambauer, M., Wendeler, C., Weitzenböck, J., & Burgstaller, C. (2019). Biodegradable geotextiles – An overview of existing and potential materials. *Geotextiles and Geomembranes*, 47(1), 48–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geotexmem.2018.09.006
- Rader, K. J., Carbonaro, R. F., van Hullebusch, E. D., Baken, S., & Delbeke, K. (2019). The Fate of Copper Added to Surface Water: Field, Laboratory, and Modeling Studies. *Environmental toxicology and chemistry*, **38**(7), 1386-1399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.4440</u>
- Ragaert, K., Delva, L., & van Geem, K. (2017). Mechanical and chemical recycling of solid plastic waste. *Waste Management*, 69, 24–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2017.07.044</u>
- Rajendran, K., Lin, R., Wall, D. M., & Murphy, J. D. (2019). Influential Aspects in Waste Management Practices. Sustainable Resource Recovery and Zero Waste Approaches, 65–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-64200-4.00005-0</u>
- Reynolds, R. A., Stramski, D., Wright, V. M., & Woźniak, S. B. (2010). Measurements and characterization of particle size distributions in coastal waters. *Journal of Geophysical Research*, 115(C8). <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2009jc005930</u>
- Riemersma, S., Little, J., Ontkean, G., & Moskal-Hébert, T. (2006). Phosphorus sources and sinks in watersheds: A review. 82 pp. *Alberta soil phosphorus limits project*, 5. <u>https://www1.agric.gov.ab.ca/\$department/deptdocs.nsf/all/sag11864/\$FILE/vol-5-</u> <u>watershed-review.pdf</u>
- Rinke, K., Keller, P. S., Kong, X., Borchardt, D., & Weitere, M. (2019). Ecosystem Services from Inland Waters and Their Aquatic Ecosystems. *Atlas of Ecosystem Services*, 191–195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-96229-0\_30</u>
- Rivani, A., & Wicaksono, P. (2018). Water Trophic Status Mapping of Tecto-Volcanic Maninjau Lake during Algae Bloom using Landsat 8 OLI Satellite Imagery. 2018 IEEE International Conference on Aerospace Electronics and Remote Sensing Technology (ICARES). Published. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/icares.2018.8547055</u>
- Rosińska, J., Kozak, A., Dondajewska, R., Kowalczewska-Madura, K., & Gołdyn, R. (2018). Water quality response to sustainable restoration measures – Case study of urban Swarzędzkie Lake. *Ecological Indicators*, 84, 437–449. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.09.009</u>
- Ruuhijärvi, J., Malinen, T., Kuoppamäki, K., Ala-Opas, P., & Vinni, M. (2020). Responses of food web to hypolimnetic aeration in Lake Vesijärvi. *Hydrobiologia*, 847(21), 4503–4523. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-020-04319-6</u>
- Ryskie, S., Neculita, C., Rosa, E., Coudert, L., & Couture, P. (2021). Active Treatment of Contaminants of Emerging Concern in Cold Mine Water Using Advanced Oxidation and Membrane-Related Processes: A Review. *Minerals*, **11**(3), 259. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/min11030259</u>
- Sadoff, C. W., Borgomeo, E., & Uhlenbrook, S. (2020). Rethinking water for SDG 6. *Nature* Sustainability, **3**(5), 346–347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-020-0530-9</u>

- Saifuddin, M., Bae, J., & Kim, K. S. (2019). Role of Fe, Na and Al in Fe-Zeolite-A for adsorption and desorption of phosphate from aqueous solution. *Water Research*, 158, 246–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.03.045
- Sandström, S., Futter, M. N., Kyllmar, K., Bishop, K., O'Connell, D. W., & Djodjic, F. (2020). Particulate phosphorus and suspended solids losses from small agricultural catchments: Links to stream and catchment characteristics. *Science of The Total Environment*, **711**, 134616. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134616</u>
- Sarma, S. (2016) Removal of nutrients and suspended solids from a eutrophic lake. Master's thesis, Concordia University.
- Schlesinger, W. H., & Bernhardt, E. S. (2020). Inland Waters. *Biogeochemistry*, 293–360. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-814608-8.00008-6
- Scholz, M. (2016). Constructed Wetlands. Wetlands for Water Pollution Control, 137–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-444-63607-2.00020-4
- Scholz, M. (2019). Dye Wastewater Treatment by Vertical-Flow Constructed Wetlands. Sustainable Water Treatment, 191–213. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-816246-0.00008-2</u>
- Schütz, J., Rydin, E., & Huser, B. J. (2017). A newly developed injection method for aluminum treatment in eutrophic lakes: Effects on water quality and phosphorus binding efficiency. *Lake* and Reservoir Management, 33(2), 152–162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10402381.2017.1318418</u>
- Senar, O. E., Creed, I. F., & Trick, C. G. (2021). Lake browning may fuel phytoplankton biomass and trigger shifts in phytoplankton communities in temperate lakes. *Aquatic Sciences*, 83(2), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-021-00780-0</u>
- Sengupta, S. (2014). Overview Wastewater Treatment and Reuse. Comprehensive Water Quality and Purification, 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-382182-9.00042-6</u>
- Senthil Kumar, P., & Yaashikaa, P. (2019). Introduction—Water. Water in Textiles and Fashion, 1–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08-102633-5.00001-4</u>
- Shah, T., & Rawal, A. (2016). Textiles in filtration. Handbook of Technical Textiles, 57–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-1-78242-465-9.00003-3
- Shahnawaz, M., Sangale, M. K., & Ade, A. B. (2019). Plastic Waste Disposal and Reuse of Plastic Waste. Bioremediation Technology for Plastic Waste, 21–30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-7492-0\_3</u>
- Shrimali, M., & Singh, K. (2001). New methods of nitrate removal from water. *Environmental Pollution*, **112**(3), 351–359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0269-7491(00)00147-0</u>
- Sinha, E., Michalak, A. M., & Balaji, V. (2017). Eutrophication will increase during the 21st century as a result of precipitation changes. *Science*, **357**(6349), 405–408. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aan2409
- Sivonen, K. (2009). Cyanobacterial Toxins. *Encyclopedia of Microbiology*, 290–307. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-012373944-5.00005-5

- Siwila, S., & Brink, I. C. (2018). Low cost drinking water treatment using nonwoven engineered and woven cloth fabrics. *Journal of Water and Health*, **17**(1), 98–112. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2018.226
- SMWW (2020) Particle counting and size Distribution. "2560 PARTICLE COUNTING AND SIZE DISTRIBUTION", in: Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/SMWW.2882.032</u>
- SMWW (2020a) -Temperature. "2550 TEMPERATURE", in: Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/SMWW.2882.031</u>
- Søndergaard, M., Jeppesen, E., Lauridsen, T. L., Skov, C., Van Nes, E. H., Roijackers, R., Lammens, E., & Portielje, R. (2007). Lake restoration: successes, failures and long-term effects. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 44(6), 1095–1105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2007.01363.x</u>
- Spears, B. M., Lürling, M., Yasseri, S., Castro-Castellon, A. T., Gibbs, M., Meis, S., McDonald, C., McIntosh, J., Sleep, D., & van Oosterhout, F. (2013). Lake responses following lanthanummodified bentonite clay (Phoslock®) application: An analysis of water column lanthanum data from 16 case study lakes. *Water Research*, 47(15), 5930–5942. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.07.016</u>
- Spellman, F. R. (2003). Handbook of water and wastewater treatment plant operations. CRC press.
- Spencer, D. J. (2001). Technical textiles. *Knitting Technology*, 370–379. <u>https://doi.org/10.1533/9781855737556.370</u>
- Steinman, A. D., & Duhamel, S. (2017). Phosphorus Limitation, Uptake, and Turnover in Benthic Stream Algae. *Methods in Stream Ecology*, 197–218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-813047-6.00011-5</u>
- Stockwell, J. D., Doubek, J. P., Adrian, R., Anneville, O., Carey, C. C., Carvalho, L., De Senerpont Domis, L. N., Dur, G., Frassl, M. A., Grossart, H., Ibelings, B. W., Lajeunesse, M. J., Lewandowska, A. M., Llames, M. E., Matsuzaki, S. S., Nodine, E. R., Nõges, P., Patil, V. P., Pomati, F., . . . Wilson, H. L. (2020). Storm impacts on phytoplankton community dynamics in lakes. *Global Change Biology*, 26(5), 2756–2784. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15033</u>
- Sutherland, K. (2008). Filtration overview: A closer look at depth filtration. *Filtration & Separation*, **45**(8), 25–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0015-1882(08)70296-9</u>
- Suthersan, S.S. (2001). Natural and Enhanced Remediation Systems (1st ed.). CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781420033069
- Tammeorg, O., Nürnberg, G., Niemistö, J., Haldna, M., & Horppila, J. (2020). Internal phosphorus loading due to sediment anoxia in shallow areas: implications for lake aeration treatments. *Aquatic Sciences*, 82(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-020-00724-0</u>
- Tanaka, A., Ito, H., Tanaka, R., Tanaka, N. K., Yoshida, K., & Okada, K. (1998). Chlorophyll a oxygenase (CAO) is involved in chlorophyll b formation from chlorophyll a. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 95(21), 12719–12723. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.21.12719</u>

- Tranvik, L. J., Cole, J. J., & Prairie, Y. T. (2018). The study of carbon in inland waters-from isolated ecosystems to players in the global carbon cycle. *Limnology and Oceanography Letters*, 3(3), 41–48. https://doi.org/10.1002/lol2.10068
- Troitsch, J., 1990. International Plastics Flammability Handbook. Hanser Publishers, Munich
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) (2006). "National Recommended Water Quality Criteria" Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology (4304T),
- US EPA, (1996). EPA Method 3050B: acid digestion of sediments, sludges, and soils. revision 2, Washington DC. https://www.epa.gov/esam/epa-method-3050b-acid-digestion-sediments-sludges-and-soils. (Accessed 1 November 2020).
- USGS (2019). pH and Water. USGS. Retrieved July 14, 2021, from: <u>https://www.usgs.gov/special-topic/water-science-school/science/ph-and-water?qt-</u> science center objects=0#qt-science center objects
- van den Berg, L., & Ashmore, M. (2008). Nitrogen. Encyclopedia of Ecology, 2518–2526. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-008045405-4.00409-2
- Waajen, G., van Oosterhout, F., & Lürling, M. (2017). Bio-accumulation of lanthanum from lanthanum modified bentonite treatments in lake restoration. *Environmental Pollution*, 230, 911–918. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.07.046</u>
- Wagner, K. J. (2019). Preface: advances in hypolimnetic oxygenation. Lake and Reservoir Management, 35(3), 225–228. https://doi.org/10.1080/10402381.2019.1660437
- Wagner, K. J., Meringolo, D., Mitchell, D. F., Moran, E., & Smith, S. (2017). Aluminum treatments to control internal phosphorus loading in lakes on Cape Cod, Massachusetts. *Lake* and Reservoir Management, 33(2), 171–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10402381.2017.1308449</u>
- Wang, C., & Jiang, H. L. (2016). Chemicals used for in situ immobilization to reduce the internal phosphorus loading from lake sediments for eutrophication control. Critical Reviews in *Environmental Science and Technology*, 46(10), 947–997. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389.2016.1200330</u>
- Wang, Q., Liao, Z., Yao, D., Yang, Z., Wu, Y., & Tang, C. (2021). Phosphorus immobilization in water and sediment using iron-based materials: A review. *Science of The Total Environment*, 767, 144246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144246</u>
- Ward, M. H., & Brender, J. D. (2019). Drinking Water Nitrate and Human Health. *Encyclopedia* of Environmental Health, 173–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-409548-9.11245-x</u>
- Weber, S. J., Mishra, D. R., Wilde, S. B., & Kramer, E. (2020). Risks for cyanobacterial harmful algal blooms due to land management and climate interactions. *Science of The Total Environment*, **703**, 134608. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134608</u>
- Weiner, E. R. (2008). Applications of environmental aquatic chemistry: a practical guide. CRC Press.
- WHO (2007) pH in drinking-water. Background document for preparation of WHO Guidelines for drinking-water quality. Geneva, World Health Organization

(WHO/SDE/WSH/07.01/1). Retrieved July 11, 2021 from: https://www.who.int/water\_sanitation\_health/dwq/chemicals/ph\_revised\_2007\_clean\_ver\_sion.pdf

- Wiewel, B. V., & Lamoree, M. (2016). Geotextile composition, application and ecotoxicology— A review. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 317, 640–655. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.04.060</u>
- Wilkinson, G. M. (2017). Eutrophication of freshwater and coastal ecosystems. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-409548-9.10160-5
- Williamson, C. E., Madronich, S., Lal, A., Zepp, R. G., Lucas, R. M., Overholt, E. P., Rose, K. C., Schladow, S. G., & Lee-Taylor, J. (2017). Climate change-induced increases in precipitation are reducing the potential for solar ultraviolet radiation to inactivate pathogens in surface waters. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-13392-2</u>
- Woese, C. R., Kandler, O., & Wheelis, M. L. (1990). Towards a natural system of organisms: proposal for the domains Archaea, Bacteria, and Eucarya. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 87(12), 4576–4579. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.87.12.4576</u>
- Woodard & Curran, Inc. (2006). Waste Characterization. *Industrial Waste Treatment Handbook*, 83–126. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-075067963-3/50007-2</u>
- Woolway, R. I., & Merchant, C. J. (2019). Worldwide alteration of lake mixing regimes in response to climate change. *Nature Geoscience*, **12**(4), 271–276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-019-0322-x</u>
- Wu, H., Yao, C., Li, C., Miao, M., Zhong, Y., Lu, Y., & Liu, T. (2020). Review of Application and Innovation of Geotextiles in Geotechnical Engineering. *Materials*, 13(7), 1774. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ma13071774</u>
- Wurtsbaugh, W. A., Paerl, H. W., & Dodds, W. K. (2019). Nutrients, eutrophication and harmful algal blooms along the freshwater to marine continuum. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water*, 6(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1373</u>
- Xu, F. L. (2008). Trophic Classification for Lakes. *Encyclopedia of Ecology*, 3594–3601. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-008045405-4.00136-1
- Yan, X., Xu, X., Wang, M., Wang, G., Wu, S., Li, Z., Sun, H., Shi, A., & Yang, Y. (2017). Climate warming and cyanobacteria blooms: Looks at their relationships from a new perspective. *Water Research*, 125, 449–457. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.09.008c</u>
- Yin, H., Yang, C., Yang, P., Kaksonen, A. H., & Douglas, G. B. (2021). Contrasting effects and mode of dredging and in situ adsorbent amendment for the control of sediment internal phosphorus loading in eutrophic lakes. *Water Research*, **189**, 116644. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116644</u>
- Yindong, T., Xiwen, X., Miao, Q., Jingjing, S., Yiyan, Z., Wei, Z., Mengzhu, W., Xuejun, W., & Yang, Z. (2021). Lake warming intensifies the seasonal pattern of internal nutrient cycling in the eutrophic lake and potential impacts on algal blooms. *Water Research*, **188**, 116570. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116570</u>

- Yu, J., Ding, S., Zhong, J., Fan, C., Chen, Q., Yin, H., Zhang, L., & Zhang, Y. (2017). Evaluation of simulated dredging to control internal phosphorus release from sediments: Focused on phosphorus transfer and resupply across the sediment-water interface. *Science of The Total Environment*, **592**, 662–673. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.02.219</u>
- Yu, Z., Groom, J., Zheng, Y., Chistoserdova, L., & Huang, J. (2019). Synthetic Methane-Consuming Communities from a Natural Lake Sediment. *MBio*, 10(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mbio.01072-19</u>
- Yusuf, A., Sodiq, A., Giwa, A., Eke, J., Pikuda, O., de Luca, G., di Salvo, J. L., & Chakraborty, S. (2020). A review of emerging trends in membrane science and technology for sustainable water treatment. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, **266**, 121867. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.121867
- Zamparas, M., & Zacharias, I. (2014). Restoration of eutrophic freshwater by managing internal nutrient loads. A review. Science of The Total Environment, 496, 551–562. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.07.076</u>
- Zerin, I., & Datta, E. (2018). A Review Article on Applications of Filter Cloth. Int. J. Cloth. Sci, 5, 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/10.5923/j.clothing.20180501.01</u>
- Zhang, C., Feng, W., Chen, H., Zhu, Y., Wu, F., Giesy, J. P., He, Z., Wang, H., & Sun, F. (2018a). Characterization and sources of dissolved and particulate phosphorus in 10 freshwater lakes with different trophic statuses in China by solution 31 P nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Ecological Research*, 34(1), 106–118. https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1703.1006
- Zhang, S., Wang, W., Zhang, K., Xu, P., & Lu, Y. (2018b). Phosphorus release from cyanobacterial blooms during their decline period in eutrophic Dianchi Lake, China. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 25(14), 13579–13588. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-018-1517-1</u>
- Zhang, Y., Liang, J., Zeng, G., Tang, W., Lu, Y., Luo, Y., Xing, W., Tang, N., Ye, S., Li, X., & Huang, W. (2020). How climate change and eutrophication interact with microplastic pollution and sediment resuspension in shallow lakes: A review. *Science of The Total Environment*, **705**, 135979. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135979</u>
- Zhang, Y., Luo, P., Zhao, S., Kang, S., Wang, P., Zhou, M., & Lyu, J. (2020). Control and remediation methods for eutrophic lakes in the past 30 years. *Water Science and Technology*, 81(6), 1099–1113. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2020.218</u>
- Zhang, Y., Zhou, L., Zhou, Y., Zhang, L., Yao, X., Shi, K., Jeppesen, E., Yu, Q., & Zhu, W. (2021). Chromophoric dissolved organic matter in inland waters: Present knowledge and future challenges. *Science of The Total Environment*, **759**, 143550. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143550</u>
- Zhang, Y., Zhou, Y., Shi, K., Qin, B., Yao, X., & Zhang, Y. (2018). Optical properties and composition changes in chromophoric dissolved organic matter along trophic gradients: Implications for monitoring and assessing lake eutrophication. *Water Research*, **131**, 255–263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.12.051</u>

Zielina, M. (2007) Monitoring of the processes in water treatment plant. Retrieved July 14, 2021 from : <u>https://iwra.org/member/congress/resource/abs778\_article.pdf</u>